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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
 

☒☒ QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934.
 

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2016.
 

OR
 

☐☐ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

For the transition period from             to             
 

Commission file number 001-08895
 

 

HCP, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

 

Maryland  33-0091377
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)  
(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)
 

1920 Main Street, Suite 1200
Irvine, CA 92614

(Address of principal executive offices)
 

(949) 407-0700
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

 

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)
 

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has
been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  YES ☒ NO ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12
months (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).  YES ☒ NO ☐
 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.
 

Large Accelerated Filer ☒  Accelerated Filer ☐
   

Non-accelerated Filer ☐  Smaller Reporting Company ☐
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)   

 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act)  YES ☐ NO ☒
 

As of October 28, 2016, there were 467,971,166 shares of the registrant’s $1.00 par value common stock outstanding.
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HCP, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
  September 30,  December 31,  
  2016  2015  

ASSETS        
Real estate:        

Buildings and improvements  $ 12,534,471  $ 12,198,704  
Development costs and construction in progress   395,349   388,576  
Land   1,971,601   1,948,757  
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (2,799,969)  (2,541,334) 

Net real estate   12,101,452   11,994,703  
Net investment in direct financing leases   5,860,401   5,905,009  
Loans receivable, net   682,994   768,743  
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated joint ventures   592,097   605,244  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $4,704 and $3,261, respectively   41,371   48,929  
Cash and cash equivalents   132,891   346,500  
Restricted cash   71,727   60,616  
Intangible assets, net   538,631   603,706  
Real estate and related assets held for sale, net   372,968   314,126  
Other assets, net   794,013   802,273  

Total assets  $ 21,188,545  $ 21,449,849  
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY        

Bank line of credit  $ 1,372,032  $ 397,432  
Term loans   462,181   524,807  
Senior unsecured notes   8,229,731   9,120,107  
Mortgage debt   762,715   932,212  
Other debt   93,876   94,445  
Intangible liabilities, net   46,135   56,147  
Intangible and other liabilities related to assets held for sale, net   23,002   19,126  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   487,033   436,239  
Deferred revenue   136,406   123,017  

Total liabilities   11,613,111   11,703,532  
Commitments and contingencies        
Common stock, $1.00 par value: 750,000,000 shares authorized; 467,820,181 and 465,488,492 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively   467,820   465,488  
Additional paid-in capital   11,720,552   11,647,039  
Cumulative dividends in excess of earnings   (2,975,096)  (2,738,414) 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (30,164)  (30,470) 

Total stockholders’ equity   9,183,112   9,343,643  
Joint venture partners   212,807   217,066  
Non-managing member unitholders   179,515   185,608  

Total noncontrolling interests   392,322   402,674  
Total equity   9,575,434   9,746,317  

Total liabilities and equity  $ 21,188,545  $ 21,449,849  

(1) HCP, Inc.’s consolidated total assets and total liabilities at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 include certain assets of variable interest entities
(“VIEs”) that can only be used to settle the liabilities of the related VIE. The VIE creditors do not have recourse to HCP, Inc. Total assets at September 30,
2016 include VIE assets as follows: buildings and improvements $3.4 billion; development costs $23 million; land $324 million; accumulated depreciation
and amortization $629 million; investments in unconsolidated joint ventures $14 million; accounts receivable $19 million; cash $59 million; restricted cash
$27 million; intangible assets, net $177 million; and other assets, net $68 million. Total assets at December 31, 2015 include VIE assets as follows: buildings
and improvements $3.4 billion; development costs $54 million; land $327 million; accumulated depreciation and amortization $537 million; investments in
unconsolidated joint ventures $14 million; accounts receivable $19 million; cash $61 million; restricted cash $21 million; intangible assets, net $204 million;
and other assets, net $63 million. Total liabilities at September 30, 2016 include VIE liabilities as follows: mortgage debt $568 million; intangible liabilities,
net $9 million; accounts payable and accrued liabilities $127 million and deferred revenue $26 million. Total liabilities at December 31, 2015 include VIE
liabilities as follows: mortgage debt $589 million; intangible liabilities, net $10 million; accounts payable and accrued liabilities $107 million and deferred
revenue $19 million. See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.

 

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCP, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
     2016     2015     2016     2015  
Revenues:              

Rental and related revenues  $ 297,178  $ 293,566  $ 893,448  $ 845,382  
Tenant recoveries   35,195   33,084   100,862   94,356  
Resident fees and services   170,752   155,290   500,717   367,141  
Income from direct financing leases   130,663   155,717   390,731   478,976  
Interest income   20,482   19,842   71,298   89,049  

Total revenues   654,270   657,499   1,957,056   1,874,904  
Costs and expenses:              

Interest expense   117,860   122,157   361,255   357,569  
Depreciation and amortization   142,874   134,704   425,582   369,629  
Operating   188,747   173,515   545,827   441,888  
General and administrative   34,787   20,534   83,079   74,152  
Acquisition and pursuit costs   17,568   1,553   34,570   23,350  
Impairments    —   69,622    —   592,921  

Total costs and expenses   501,836   522,085   1,450,313   1,859,509  
Other income (expense):              

(Loss) gain on sales of real estate   (9)  52   119,605   6,377  
Other income (expense), net   1,454   (572)  5,128   13,125  

Total other income (expense), net   1,445   (520)  124,733   19,502  
Income before income taxes and equity (loss) income from and
impairment of unconsolidated joint ventures   153,879   134,894   631,476   34,897  

Income tax benefit (expense)   2,213   1,980   (48,822)  6,620  
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated joint ventures   (2,053)  8,314   (4,028)  33,916  
Impairment of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures    —   (27,234)   —   (27,234) 

Net income   154,039   117,954   578,626   48,199  
Noncontrolling interests’ share in earnings   (2,789)  (2,592)  (9,540)  (8,566) 

Net income attributable to HCP, Inc.   151,250   115,362   569,086   39,633  
Participating securities’ share in earnings   (326)  (316)  (977)  (1,020) 

Net income applicable to common shares  $ 150,924  $ 115,046  $ 568,109  $ 38,613  
              
Earnings per common share:              

Basic  $ 0.32  $ 0.25  $ 1.22  $ 0.08  
Diluted  $ 0.32  $ 0.25  $ 1.22  $ 0.08  

              
Weighted average shares used to calculate earnings per
common share:              

Basic   467,628   463,337   466,931   462,039  
Diluted   467,835   463,586   467,132   462,302  

Dividends declared per common share  $ 0.575  $ 0.565  $ 1.725  $ 1.695  
 
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCP, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
   2016   2015   2016   2015  
Net income  $ 154,039  $ 117,954  $ 578,626  $ 48,199  
              
Other comprehensive income (loss):              

Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on securities   4   (361)  (1)  (358) 
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges:              

Unrealized gains (losses)   1,184   (87)  1,532   (289) 
Reclassification adjustment realized in net income   154   (367)  494   (19) 

Change in Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan
obligation   70   70   211   208  
Foreign currency translation adjustment   (838)  410   (1,930)  (8,097) 

Total other comprehensive income (loss)   574   (335)  306   (8,555) 
              
Total comprehensive income   154,613   117,619   578,932   39,644  
Total comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling
interests   (2,789)  (2,592)  (9,540)  (8,566) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to HCP, Inc.  $ 151,824  $ 115,027  $ 569,392  $ 31,078  
 
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCP, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
(In thousands, except per share data)
(Unaudited)

 
          Cumulative  Accumulated           
       Additional  Dividends  Other  Total  Total     
  Common Stock  Paid-In  In Excess  Comprehensive  Stockholders’  Noncontrolling  Total  
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Of Earnings  Loss  Equity  Interests  Equity  
January 1, 2016  465,488  $ 465,488  $ 11,647,039  $ (2,738,414) $ (30,470) $ 9,343,643  $ 402,674  $ 9,746,317  
Net income   —    —    —   569,086    —   569,086   9,540   578,626  
Other comprehensive income   —    —    —    —   306   306    —   306  
Issuance of common stock, net  2,290   2,290   53,421    —    —   55,711    —   55,711  
Conversion of DownREIT units to
common stock  145   145   5,948    —    —   6,093   (6,093)   —  
Repurchase of common stock  (236)  (236)  (8,431)   —    —   (8,667)   —   (8,667) 
Exercise of stock options  133   133   3,340    —    —   3,473    —   3,473  
Amortization of deferred compensation   —    —   19,307    —    —   19,307    —   19,307  
Common dividends ($1.725 per share)   —    —    —   (806,243)   —   (806,243)   —   (806,243) 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests   —    —   (36)   —    —   (36)  (18,651)  (18,687) 
Issuance of noncontrolling interests   —    —    —    —    —    —   4,785   4,785  
Deconsolidation of noncontrolling
interests   —    —   (36)  475    —   439   67   506  
September 30, 2016  467,820  $ 467,820  $ 11,720,552  $ (2,975,096) $ (30,164) $ 9,183,112  $ 392,322  $ 9,575,434  
 
          Cumulative  Accumulated           
       Additional  Dividends  Other  Total  Total     
  Common Stock  Paid-In  In Excess  Comprehensive  Stockholders’  Noncontrolling  Total  
  Shares  Amount  Capital  Of Earnings  Loss  Equity  Interests  Equity  
January 1, 2015  459,746  $ 459,746  $ 11,431,987  $ (1,132,541) $ (23,895) $ 10,735,297  $ 261,802  $ 10,997,099  
Net income   —    —    —   39,633    —   39,633   8,566   48,199  
Other comprehensive loss   —    —    —    —   (8,555)  (8,555)   —   (8,555) 
Issuance of common stock, net  4,054   4,054   140,591    —    —   144,645   (2,659)  141,986  
Repurchase of common stock  (178)  (178)  (7,828)   —    —   (8,006)   —   (8,006) 
Exercise of stock options  820   820   26,691    —    —   27,511    —   27,511  
Amortization of deferred compensation   —    —   21,068    —    —   21,068    —   21,068  
Common dividends ($1.695 per share)   —    —    —   (783,578)   —   (783,578)   —   (783,578) 
Distributions to noncontrolling interests   —    —   (263)   —    —   (263)  (13,444)  (13,707) 
Issuance of noncontrolling interests   —    —    —    —    —    —   38,440   38,440  
September 30, 2015  464,442  $ 464,442  $ 11,612,246  $ (1,876,486) $ (32,450) $ 10,167,752  $ 292,705  $ 10,460,457  
 
See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCP, Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

 

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
   2016     2015  
Cash flows from operating activities:        
Net income  $ 578,626  $ 48,199  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:        

Depreciation and amortization   425,582   369,629  
Amortization of market lease intangibles, net   (1,393)  (980) 
Amortization of deferred compensation   19,307   21,068  
Amortization of deferred financing costs   15,598   14,950  
Straight-line rents   (14,412)  (24,817) 
Loan and direct financing lease non-cash interest   385   (71,243) 
Deferred rental revenues   (1,027)  (1,496) 
Equity loss (income) from unconsolidated joint ventures   4,028   (33,916) 
Distributions of earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures   5,919   4,587  
Lease termination income, net    —   (1,103) 
Gain on sales of real estate   (119,605)  (6,377) 
Deferred income tax expense   47,195    —  
Foreign exchange and other gains, net   (127)  (7,103) 
Impairments    —   620,155  

Changes in:        
Accounts receivable, net   7,558   (10,634) 
Other assets, net   (9,674)  (1,186) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   40,672   (52,073) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   998,632   867,660  
Cash flows from investing activities:        
Acquisitions of real estate   (257,242)  (1,200,661) 
Development of real estate   (304,818)  (190,082) 
Leasing costs and tenant and capital improvements   (64,501)  (52,371) 
Proceeds from sales of real estate, net   211,810   19,555  
Contributions to unconsolidated joint ventures   (10,169)  (43,242) 
Distributions in excess of earnings from unconsolidated joint ventures   14,458   16,086  
Proceeds from the sales of marketable securities    —   782  
Principal repayments on loans receivable, direct financing leases and other   221,179   51,491  
Investments in loans receivable and other   (129,335)  (283,252) 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash   4,459   (3,891) 

Net cash used in investing activities   (314,159)  (1,685,585) 
Cash flows from financing activities:        
Net borrowings under bank line of credit   1,157,897   282,099  
Repayments under bank line of credit   (135,000)  (102,063) 
Borrowings under term loan    —   333,014  
Issuance of senior unsecured notes    —   1,338,555  
Repayments of senior unsecured notes   (900,000)  (400,000) 
Repayments of mortgage and other debt   (249,540)  (50,187) 
Deferred financing costs   (1,057)  (14,556) 
Issuance of common stock and exercise of options   59,184   169,497  
Repurchase of common stock   (8,667)  (8,006) 
Dividends paid on common stock   (806,243)  (783,578) 
Issuance of noncontrolling interests   4,785   4,812  
Distributions to noncontrolling interests   (18,687)  (13,707) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (897,328)  755,880  
Effect of foreign exchange on cash and cash equivalents   (754)  (1,267) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (213,609)  (63,312) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period   346,500   183,810  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period  $ 132,891  $ 120,498  

See accompanying Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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HCP, Inc.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
 

NOTE 1.  Business

HCP, Inc., a Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 500 company, together with its consolidated entities (collectively, “HCP” or the
“Company”), invests primarily in real estate serving the healthcare industry in the United States (“U.S.”). The Company is a
Maryland corporation organized in 1985 and qualifies as a self-administered real estate investment trust (“REIT”). The
Company is headquartered in Irvine, California, with offices in Nashville, Los Angeles, San Francisco and London. The
Company acquires, develops, leases, manages and disposes of healthcare real estate, and provides financing to healthcare
providers. The Company’s diverse portfolio is comprised of investments in the following reportable healthcare segments:
(i) senior housing triple-net (“SH NNN”), (ii) senior housing operating portfolio (“SHOP”), (iii) life science, (iv) medical
office and (v) QCP (defined below).
 
On October 31, 2016, the Company completed its previously announced spin-off (the “Spin-Off”) of its subsidiary, Quality
Care Properties, Inc. (“QCP”) (NYSE:QCP). QCP’s assets include 338 properties, primarily comprised of the HCR ManorCare,
Inc. (“HCRMC”) direct financing lease (“DFL”) investments and an equity investment in HCRMC. Following the
completion of the Spin-Off on October 31, 2016, QCP is an independent, publicly-traded, self-managed and self-
administrated REIT.
 
On October 17, 2016, subsidiaries of QCP issued $750 million in aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes due
2023 (the “QCP Notes”), the gross proceeds of which were deposited in escrow until they were released in connection with
the consummation of the Spin-Off on October 31, 2016. The QCP Notes bear interest at a rate of 8.125% per annum, payable
semiannually. From October 17, 2016 until the completion of the Spin-Off, QCP (a then wholly owned subsidiary of HCP)
incurred $2 million in interest expense. In addition, immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Spin-Off, subsidiaries of
QCP received $1.0 billion of proceeds from their borrowings under a senior secured term loan, bearing interest at a rate at
QCP’s option of either: (i) LIBOR plus 5.25%, subject to a 1% floor or (ii) a base rate specified in the first lien credit and
guaranty agreement plus 4.25%,  bringing the total gross proceeds raised by QCP and its subsidiaries under those financings
to $1.75 billion. In connection with the consummation of the Spin-Off, QCP and its subsidiaries transferred $1.69 billion in
cash and approximately 94 million shares of QCP common stock to HCP and certain of its other subsidiaries, and HCP and its
applicable subsidiaries transferred the assets comprising the QCP portfolio to QCP and its subsidiaries. HCP then distributed
substantially all of the outstanding shares of QCP common stock to its stockholders, based on the distribution ratio of one
share of QCP common stock for every five shares of HCP common stock held by HCP stockholders as of the October 24, 2016
record date for the distribution. The Company will record the distribution of the assets and liabilities of QCP from its
consolidated balance sheet on a historical cost basis as a dividend from stockholders’ equity, and no gain or loss will be
recorded. The Company will use the $1.69 billion proceeds of the cash distribution it received from QCP upon
consummation of the Spin-Off to pay down certain of the Company’s existing debt obligations.
 
Because QCP is presented as part of the Company’s continuing operations as of September 30, 2016, the consolidated
financial information presented herein includes QCP for all periods presented. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2016, the
historical financial results of QCP will be reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements as discontinued
operations for all periods presented.
 
The Company entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement (the “Separation and Distribution Agreement”) with
QCP in connection with the Spin-Off. The Separation and Distribution Agreement divides and allocates the assets and
liabilities of the Company prior to the Spin-Off between QCP and HCP, governs the rights and obligations of the parties
regarding the Spin-Off, and contains other key provisions relating to the separation of QCP’s business from HCP.
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In connection with the Spin-Off, the Company has entered into a Transition Services Agreement ("TSA") with QCP. Per the
terms of the TSA, the Company has agreed to provide certain administrative and support services to QCP on a transitional
basis for established fees. The TSA provides that QCP generally has the right to terminate a transition service upon thirty
days notice to the Company. The TSA contains provisions under which the Company will, subject to certain limitations, be
obligated to indemnify QCP for losses incurred by QCP resulting from the Company’s breach of the TSA.
 
Following completion of the Spin-Off, which occurred on October 31, 2016, HCP is the sole lender to QCP of a $100 million
unsecured revolving credit facility maturing in 2018 (the "Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility"). Commitments under the
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility will automatically and permanently decrease each calendar month by an amount equal
to 50% of QCP's and its restricted subsidiaries’ retained cash flow for the prior calendar month. All borrowings under the
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility will be subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including (i) QCP’s senior
secured revolving credit facility being unavailable, (ii) the failure of HCRMC to pay rent and (iii) other customary
conditions, including the absence of a default and the accuracy of representations and warranties. QCP may only draw on the
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility prior to the one-year anniversary of the completion of the Spin-Off. Borrowings under
the Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR, subject to a 1.00% floor, plus an applicable
margin of 6.25%. In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility,
QCP will be required to pay a facility fee equal to 0.50% per annum of the unused capacity under the Unsecured Revolving
Credit Facility to HCP, payable quarterly.

 
NOTE 2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) for interim financial information. Management is required to make estimates and
assumptions in the preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from management’s estimates.
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of HCP, Inc., its wholly-owned subsidiaries, joint ventures
(“JVs”) and VIEs that it controls through voting rights or other means. Intercompany transactions and balances have been
eliminated upon consolidation. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments)
necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows have been included.
Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 are not necessarily indicative of the results that
may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2016. The accompanying unaudited interim financial information should
be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2015
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
 
Segment Reporting
The Company reports its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 280,
Segment Reporting (“ASC 280”). The Company’s reportable segments, based on how it evaluates its business and allocates
resources in accordance with ASC 280, are as follows: (i) SH NNN, (ii) SHOP, (iii) life science, (iv) medical office and (v)
QCP.
 
Prior to the third quarter of 2016, the Company operated through five reportable segments: (i) senior housing, (ii) post-
acute/skilled nursing, (iii) life science, (iv) medical office and (v) hospital. During the third quarter of 2016, primarily as a
result of the planned spin-off of QCP, the Company revised its operating analysis structure. The Company believes the
change to its reportable segments is appropriate and consistent with how its chief operating decision makers review the
Company’s operating results and determine resource allocations. Accordingly, all prior period segment information has been
reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In October 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
No. 2016‑16,  Intra-Entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory (“ASU 2016-16”). The amendments in ASU 2016-
16 require an entity to recognize the income tax consequences of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory at the
time that the transfer occurs. Current guidance does not require recognition of tax consequences until the asset is eventually
sold to a third party. ASU 2016-16 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15,
2017. Early adoption is permitted as of the first interim period presented in a year. The Company is evaluating the impact of
the adoption of ASU 2016‑16 on January 1, 2018 to its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016‑15, Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU
2016-15”). The amendments in ASU 2016-15 are intended to clarify current guidance on the classification of certain cash
receipts and cash payments in the statement of cash flows. ASU 2016-15 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods
within, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact of the
adoption of ASU 2016‑15 on January 1, 2018 to its consolidated statements of cash flows.
 
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016‑13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”).
ASU 2016-13 is intended to improve financial reporting by requiring timelier recognition of credit losses on loans and other
financial instruments held by financial institutions and other organizations. ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years, and
interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for fiscal years, and interim periods
within, beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016‑13 on
January 1, 2020 to its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients (“ASU 2016-12”).
The amendments in ASU 2016-12 do not change the core principles of the guidance in the new revenue standard described in
ASU No. 2014-09 below. The amendments in ASU 2016-12 provide practical expedients and improvements on the
previously narrow scope of the standard. ASU 2016-12 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after
December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted at the original effective date of the new revenue standard (January 1, 2017).
The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-12 on January 1, 2018 to its consolidated financial
position or results of operations.
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting (“ASU
2016-09”). ASU 2016-09 is intended to simplify accounting for share-based payment transactions. The areas for
simplification in this update involve several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including income
tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities and classification on the statements of cash flows.
ASU 2016-09 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-09 on January 1, 2017 to its consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
 
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus
Net) (“ASU 2016-08”). ASU 2016-08 is intended to improve the operability and understandability of the implementation
guidance on principal versus agent considerations. ASU 2016-08 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within,
beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted at the original effective date of the new revenue standard
described in ASU No. 2014-09 below (January 1, 2017). The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU
2016-08 on January 1, 2018 to its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASU 2016-02”). ASU 2016-02 amends the current accounting
for leases to (i) require lessees to put most leases on their balance sheets, but continue recognizing expenses on their income
statements in a manner similar to requirements under current accounting guidance, (ii) eliminate current real estate specific
lease provisions and (iii) modify the classification criteria and accounting for sales-type leases for lessors. ASU 2016-02 is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2018. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-02 on January 1, 2019 to its consolidated financial position
or results of operations.
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In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities (“ASU 2016-01”). ASU 2016-01 requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method
of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in net income. This update also simplifies the impairment assessment of equity investments without readily
determinable fair values by requiring a qualitative assessment to identify impairment at each reporting period. ASU 2016-01
is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted only
for updates to certain disclosure requirements. The Company is evaluating the impact of the adoption of ASU 2016-01 on
January 1, 2018 to its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments
(“ASU 2015-16”). ASU 2015-16 simplifies the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a
business combination by requiring the acquirer to (i) recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during
the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amount is determined, (ii) record, in the same period,
the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the
provisional amounts, calculated as if the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date and (iii) present separately
or disclose the portion of the amount recorded in current-period earnings by line item that would have been recorded in
previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the acquisition date. ASU
2015-16 is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2015-16 on January 1, 2016; the adoption of which did not have a material impact on
its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02, Amendments to the Consolidation Analysis (“ASU 2015-02”). ASU
2015-02 requires amendments to both the VIE and voting consolidation accounting models. The amendments (i) rescind the
indefinite deferral of certain aspects of accounting standards relating to consolidations and provide a permanent scope
exception for registered money market funds and similar unregistered money market funds, (ii) modify (a) the identification
of variable interests (fees paid to a decision maker or service provider), (b) the VIE characteristics for a limited partnership or
similar entity and (c) the primary beneficiary determination under the VIE model and (iii) eliminate the presumption within
the current voting model that a general partner controls a limited partnership or similar entity. ASU 2015-02 is effective for
fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2015. Early adoption is permitted. A reporting entity
may apply the amendments in ASU 2015-02 using either a modified retrospective or retrospective approach by recording a
cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The Company adopted ASU 2015-
02 on January 1, 2016; the adoption of which did not have a material impact to its consolidated financial position or results
of operations (see Note 16).
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”). This update
changes the requirements for recognizing revenue. ASU 2014-09 provides guidance for revenue recognition to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective Date  (“ASU 2015-14”). ASU 2015-14 defers the effective
date of ASU 2014-09 by one year to fiscal years, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early
adoption is permitted for annual periods, and interim periods within, beginning after December 15, 2016. A reporting entity
may apply the amendments in ASU 2014-09 using either a modified retrospective or retrospective approach by recording a
cumulative-effect adjustment to equity as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The Company is evaluating the
impact of the adoption of ASU 2014-09 on January 1, 2018 to its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
 
Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the Company’s consolidated financial statements have been reclassified for prior periods to conform to
the current period presentation. Real estate and related assets held for sale, net and intangible liabilities related to assets held
for sale, net have been reclassified on the consolidated balance sheets (see Note 4). See Segment Reporting above for
additional reclassifications.
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NOTE 3.  Real Estate Property Investments

2016 Acquisitions
The following table summarizes the Company’s real estate acquisitions for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 (in
thousands):
 
  Consideration  Assets Acquired  

    
Mortgage and

Other     Net  
Segment  Cash Paid  Liabilities Assumed  Real Estate  Intangibles  
SH NNN  $ 76,362  $ 1,200  $ 71,875  $ 5,687  
SHOP   113,971   76,931   177,551   13,351  
Life Science   49,000    —   47,400   1,600  
Other   17,909    —   16,596   1,313  
  $ 257,242  $ 78,131  $ 313,422  $ 21,951  

(1) The purchase price allocations are preliminary and may be subject to change. Revenues and earnings since the acquisition dates, as well as
the supplementary pro forma information, assuming these acquisitions occurred as of the beginning of the prior periods, were not material.

 
2015 Acquisitions
Acquisition of Private Pay Senior Housing Portfolio (“RIDEA III”).  On June 30, 2015, the Company and Brookdale Senior
Living, Inc. (“Brookdale”) acquired a portfolio of 35 private pay senior housing communities from Chartwell Retirement
Residences, including two leasehold interests, representing 5,025 units (reported within the Company’s SHOP segment). The
portfolio was acquired under a RIDEA structure which is permitted by the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008
(commonly referred to as “RIDEA”), with Brookdale owning a 10% noncontrolling interest. Brookdale has operated these
communities since 2011 and continues to manage the communities under a long-term management agreement, which is
cancellable under certain conditions (subject to a fee if terminated within seven years from the acquisition date). The
Company paid $770 million in cash consideration, net of cash assumed, and assumed $32 million of net liabilities and $29
million of noncontrolling interests to acquire: (i) real estate with a fair value of $776 million, (ii) lease-up intangible assets
with a fair value of $48 million and (iii) working capital of $7 million. As a result of the acquisition, the Company
recognized a net termination fee of $8 million in rental and related revenues, which represents the termination value of the
two leasehold interests. The lease-up intangible assets recognized were attributable to the value of the acquired underlying
operating resident leases of the senior housing communities that were stabilized or nearly stabilized (i.e., resident occupancy
above 80%).
 
Pro Forma Results of Operations.  The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations assume that the
RIDEA III acquisition was completed as of January 1, 2014 (in thousands, except per share data):
    
     Nine Months Ended     
     September 30, 2015     
Revenues  $ 1,963,402  
Net income   56,009  
Net income applicable to HCP, Inc.   46,662  
Basic earnings per common share   0.10  
Diluted earnings per common share   0.10  
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2015 Other Acquisitions.  The following table summarizes the Company’s real estate acquisitions for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015 (in thousands):
 
  Consideration  Assets Acquired  
  Cash Paid/  Liabilities  Noncontrolling     Net  
Segment  Debt Settled  Assumed  Interest  Real Estate  Intangibles  
SH NNN  $ 208  $  —  $  —  $ 208  $  —  
SHOP   103,296   1,373   3,885   102,579   5,975  
Medical office   377,351    12,849    —   349,649   40,551  
Other   296,226  6,854    —   257,960   45,120  
  $ 777,081  $ 21,076  $ 3,885  $ 710,396  $ 91,646  

(1) Revenues and earnings since the acquisition dates, as well as the supplementary pro forma information, assuming these acquisitions occurred
as of the beginning of the prior periods, were not material.

(2) Includes $225 million for a medical office building (“MOB”) portfolio acquisition completed in June 2015 and placed in HCP Ventures V,
of which, in October 2015, the Company issued a 49% noncontrolling interest for $110 million (see Note 12).

(3) Includes £174 million ($254 million) of the Company’s HC-One Facility (see Note 6) converted to fee ownership in a portfolio of 36 care
homes located throughout the United Kingdom (“U.K.”).

 
Construction, Tenant and Other Capital Improvements
The following table summarizes the Company’s funding for construction, tenant and other capital improvements (in
thousands):

  Nine Months Ended September 30,
Segment  2016  2015
SH NNN  $ 35,687  $ 27,289
SHOP   55,795   49,351
Life science   152,739   80,871
Medical office   88,523   93,012
Other   6,840   3,406
  $ 339,584  $ 253,929
 
 
NOTE 4.  Dispositions of Real Estate

Held for Sale
At September 30, 2016, eight life science facilities and two SHOP facilities were classified as held for sale, with an aggregate
carrying value of $373 million. At December 31, 2015, four life science facilities were classified as held for sale, with an
aggregate carrying value of $314 million.
 
2016 Dispositions
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company sold five post-acute/skilled nursing facilities and two SH
NNN facilities for $130 million, a life science facility for $74 million, three medical office buildings for $20 million and a
SHOP facility for $6 million and recognized total gain on sales of $120 million.
 
2015 Dispositions
During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company sold the following: (i) nine SH NNN facilities for
$60 million, resulting from Brookdale’s exercise of its purchase option received as part of a transaction with Brookdale in
2014, (ii) a parcel of land in its life science segment for $11 million and (iii) a MOB for $400,000.
 
Pending Dispositions
In October 2016, the Company entered into definitive agreements to sell 64 assets, currently under triple-net leases with
Brookdale, for $1.125 billion to affiliates of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII L.P.  The closing of this transaction is
expected to occur in the first quarter of 2017 and remains subject to regulatory and third party approvals and other
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customary closing conditions. Additionally, in October 2016, the Company entered into definitive agreements for a multi-
element transaction with Brookdale to: (i) sell or transition 25 assets currently triple-net leased to Brookdale, for which
Brookdale will receive a $10.5 million annualized rent reduction upon sale or transition, (ii) re-allocate annual rent of $9.6
million from those 25 assets to the remaining Brookdale triple-net lease portfolio and (iii) transition eight triple-net leased
assets into RIDEA structures. The closing of these transactions is expected to occur during the fourth quarter of 2016 and
throughout 2017 and remain subject to regulatory and third party approvals and other customary closing conditions.
 
In July 2016, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell four life science facilities in Salt Lake City, Utah for
$76 million (classified as held for sale as of September 30, 2016). The transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of
2017.
 
In June 2016 and September 2016, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to sell two SHOP facilities out of RIDEA
III for $22 million (sold in October 2016) and $13 million, respectively (both classified as held for sale as of September 30,
2016). The remaining SHOP facility is expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2016.
 
In May 2016, the Company entered into a master contribution agreement with Brookdale to contribute its ownership interest
in RIDEA II to an unconsolidated JV owned by HCP and an investor group led by Columbia Pacific Advisors,  LLC
(“CPA”) (the “HCP/CPA JV”). The members have also agreed to recapitalize RIDEA II with an estimated $630 million of
debt, of which an estimated $365 million will be provided by a third-party and an estimated $265 million will be provided
by HCP. In return, the Company will receive an estimated $470 million in cash proceeds from the HCP/CPA JV and an
estimated $265 million in note receivables and retain an approximately 40% beneficial interest in RIDEA II (the note
receivable and 40% beneficial interest are herein referred to as the “RIDEA II Investments”). The Company’s RIDEA II
Investments will be recognized and accounted for as equity method investments. This transaction, upon completion, would
result in the Company deconsolidating the net assets of RIDEA II because it will not direct the activities that most
significantly impact the venture. The closing of these transactions is expected to occur in the fourth quarter of 2016 and
remains subject to regulatory and third party approvals and other customary closing conditions.
 
In January 2016, the Company entered into a definitive agreement for purchase options that were exercised on eight life
science facilities in South San Francisco, California, to be sold in two tranches for $311 million (classified as held for sale as
of September 30, 2016) and $269 million, respectively. These transactions are expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2016
for the first tranche and in 2018 for the second tranche.
 
Subsequent Events
In October 2016, the Company sold seven SH NNN facilities for $88 million. As part of the sale transaction the Company
provided a $10 million mezzanine loan with a five year term which accrues interest at 9%. Concurrently, the Company
modified the in-place NNN master lease to transition the operations of the remaining three properties to a new regional
operator.
 
NOTE 5.  Net Investment in Direct Financing Leases

Net investment in DFLs consisted of the following (dollars in thousands):
 
  September 30,  December 31,  
     2016     2015  
Minimum lease payments receivable  $ 25,799,416  $ 26,283,392  
Estimated residual values   3,934,795   3,900,679  
Less unearned income   (23,056,770)  (23,462,022) 
Net investment in direct financing leases before allowance   6,677,441   6,722,049  
Allowance for DFL losses   (817,040)  (817,040) 

Net investment in direct financing leases  $ 5,860,401  $ 5,905,009  
Properties subject to direct financing leases   340   348  
 

14

 

Source: HCP, INC., 10-Q, November 01, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Table of Contents

HCR ManorCare, Inc.
The Company acquired 334 post-acute, skilled nursing and assisted living facilities in its 2011 transaction with HCRMC and
entered into a triple-net Master Lease and Security Agreement (the “Master Lease”) with a subsidiary (“Lessee”) of HCRMC.
The Master Lease, as amended by the “HCRMC Lease Amendment” described below, is referred to herein as the “Amended
Master Lease.”
 
As part of the Company’s fourth quarter 2015 review process, including its internal rating evaluation, it assessed the
collectibility of all contractual rent payments under the Amended Master Lease, as discussed below. The Company’s
evaluation included, but was not limited to, consideration of: (i) the continued decline in HCRMC’s operating performance
and fixed charge coverage ratio during the second half of 2015, with the most significant deterioration occurring during the
fourth quarter, (ii) the reduced growth outlook for the post-acute/skilled nursing business and (iii) HCRMC’s 2015 audited
financial statements. The Company determined that the timing and amounts owed under the Amended Master Lease were no
longer reasonably assured and assigned an internal rating of “Watch List” as of December 31, 2015. Further, the Company
placed the HCRMC DFL investments on nonaccrual status and began utilizing a cash basis method of accounting in
accordance with its policies.
 
As a result of assigning an internal rating of “Watch List” to its HCRMC DFL investments during the quarterly review
process, the Company further evaluated the carrying amount of its HCRMC DFL investments. As a result of the significant
decline in HCRMC’s fixed charge coverage ratio in the fourth quarter of 2015, combined with a lower growth outlook for the
post-acute/skilled nursing business, the Company determined that it was probable that its HCRMC DFL investments were
impaired and the amount of the loss could be reasonably estimated. In the fourth quarter of 2015, the Company recorded an
allowance for DFL losses (impairment charge) of $817 million, reducing the carrying amount of its HCRMC DFL
investments from $6.0 billion to $5.2 billion at December 31, 2015.
 
In December 2015, the Company reduced the carrying amount of its equity investment in HCRMC to zero and, beginning in
January 2016, income is recognized only if cash distributions are received from HCRMC. As a result, the Company no longer
recharacterizes (eliminates) its proportional ownership share of income from DFLs to equity income from unconsolidated JVs
(see Note 7).
 
During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company and HCRMC agreed to market for sale the real estate and
operations associated with 50 non-strategic facilities under the Master Lease. HCRMC will receive an annual rent reduction
under the Master Lease based on 7.75% of the net sales proceeds received by HCP. During the year ended December 31,
2015, the Company completed sales of 22 non-strategic HCRMC facilities for $219 million. During the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, the Company sold an additional 11 facilities for $62 million, bringing the total facilities sold through
October 31, 2016 to 33. Of the 17 remaining non-strategic facilities, seven are expected to close by the end of 2016 and 10
are expected to be sold in the first quarter of 2017,  for an aggregate amount of $62 million.
 
On March 29, 2015, certain subsidiaries of the Company entered into an amendment to the Master Lease (the “HCRMC
Lease Amendment”) effective April 1, 2015. The HCRMC Lease Amendment reduced initial annual rent by a net $68 million
from $541 million to $473 million. Commencing on April 1, 2016, the minimum rent escalation was reset to 3.0% for each
lease year through the expiration of the initial term of each applicable pool of facilities. Prior to the HCRMC Lease
Amendment, rent payments would have increased 3.5% on April 1, 2015 and 2016 and 3.0% annually thereafter. The initial
term was extended five years to an average of 16 years, and the extension options’ aggregate terms remained the same.
 
As consideration for the rent reduction, the Company received a deferred rent obligation (“DRO”) from the Lessee equal to an
aggregate amount of $525 million, which was allocated into two tranches: (i) a Tranche A DRO of $275 million and (ii) a
Tranche B DRO of $250 million. The Lessee made rental payments equal to 6.9% of the outstanding amount (representing
$19 million) for the initial lease year until the entire Tranche A DRO was paid in full in March 2016 in connection with the
nine facility purchases discussed below. Commencing on April 1, 2016, until the Tranche B DRO is paid in full, the
outstanding principal balance of the Tranche B DRO will be increased annually by (i) 3.0% initially, (ii) 4.0% commencing
on April 1, 2019, (iii) 5.0% commencing on April 1, 2020, and (iv) 6.0% commencing on April 1, 2021 and annually for the
remainder of its term. The DRO is due and payable on the earlier of (i) certain capital or liquidity events of HCRMC,
including an initial public offering or sale, or (ii) March 31, 2029, which is not subject to any
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extensions. The HCRMC Lease Amendment also imposes certain restrictions on the Lessee and HCRMC until the DRO is
paid in full, including with respect to the payment of dividends and the transfer of interest in HCRMC.
 
Additionally, HCRMC agreed to sell, and HCP agreed to purchase, nine post-acute facilities for an aggregate purchase price
of $275 million. Through December 31, 2015, HCRMC and HCP completed seven of the nine facility purchases for $183
million. Through March 31, 2016, HCRMC and HCP completed the remaining two facility purchases for $92 million,
bringing the nine facility purchases to an aggregate $275 million, the proceeds of which were used to settle the Tranche A
DRO discussed above. Following the purchase of a facility, the Lessee leases such facility from the Company pursuant to the
Amended Master Lease. The nine facilities initially contribute an aggregate of $19 million of annual rent (subject to
escalation) under the Amended Master Lease.
 
In March 2015, the Company recorded a net impairment charge of $478 million related to its HCRMC DFL investments. The
impairment charge reduced the carrying value of the HCRMC DFL investments from $6.6 billion to $6.1 billion, based on
the present value of the future lease payments effective April 1, 2015 under the Amended Master Lease discounted at the
original DFL investments’ effective lease rate.
 
During the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized DFL income of $116 million and
$141 million, respectively, and received cash payments of $116 million and $118 million, respectively, from the HCRMC
DFL investments. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized DFL income of $346 million
and $433 million, respectively, and received cash payments of $346 million and $367 million, respectively, from the
HCRMC DFL investments. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, the Company recognized a total of
$23 million and $66 million, respectively, of net accretion related to its HCRMC DFL investments. No accretion related to
its HCRMC DFL investments has been recognized in 2016 due to the Company utilizing a cash basis method of accounting
beginning January 1, 2016. The carrying value of the HCRMC DFL investments was $5.1 billion and $5.2 billion at
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
 
The Company acquired the HCRMC DFL investments in 2011 through an acquisition of a C-Corporation, which was subject
to federal and state built-in gain tax of up to $2 billion, if all the assets were sold within 10 years. At the time of acquisition,
the Company intended to hold the assets for at least 10 years, at which time the assets would no longer be subject to the
built-in gain tax.
 
In December 2015, the U.S. Federal Government passed legislation which permanently reduced the holding period, for
federal tax purposes, to five years. The Company satisfied the five year holding period requirement in April 2016. In June
2016, the U.S. Department of the Treasury issued proposed regulations that would change the holding period back to 10
years, but effective only for conversion transactions after August 8, 2016. As currently proposed, these regulations will not
impact the properties in the HCRMC DFL as the HCRMC conversion transaction occurred on April 7, 2011. However, certain
states still require a 10-year holding period and, as such, the assets are still subject to state built-in gain tax.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company determined that it may sell assets during the next five years
and, therefore, recorded a deferred tax liability of $47 million representing its estimated exposure to state built-in gain tax.
 
On April 20, 2015, the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) unsealed a previously filed complaint in the U.S. District Court for
the Eastern District of Virginia against HCRMC and certain of its affiliates in three consolidated cases following a civil
investigation arising out of three lawsuits filed by former employees of HCRMC under the qui tam provisions of the federal
False Claims Act. The DOJ’s complaint in intervention is captioned United States of America, ex rel. Ribik, Carson, and
Slough v. HCR ManorCare, Inc., ManorCare Inc., HCR ManorCare Services, LLC and Heartland Employment Services, LLC
(Civil Action Numbers: 1:09cv13; 1:11cv1054; 1:14cv1228 (CMH/TCB)). The complaint alleges that HCRMC submitted
claims to Medicare for therapy services that were not covered by the skilled nursing facility benefit, were not medically
reasonable and necessary, and were not skilled in nature, and therefore not entitled to Medicare reimbursement. The DOJ is
seeking treble damages (in an unspecified amount); civil penalties (in an unspecified amount); compensation for alleged
unjust enrichment; recovery of certain payments the government made to HCRMC; and costs, pre-judgment interest, and
expenses. In June 2016, the court approved the parties’ joint discovery plan, which provides for discovery to be completed
by February 2017. The court has not yet issued a scheduling order setting forth dates for summary judgment
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motions, other pre-trial motions or a trial date. While this litigation is at an early stage and HCRMC has indicated that it
believes the claims are unjust and it will vigorously defend against them,  the ultimate outcome is uncertain and could,
among other things, cause HCRMC to: (i) incur substantial additional time and costs to respond to and defend HCRMC's
actions in the litigation with the DOJ and any other third-party payors, (ii) refund or adjust amounts previously paid for
services under governmental programs and to change business operations going forward in a manner that negatively impacts
future revenue, (iii) pay substantial fines and penalties and incur other administrative sanctions, including having to conduct
future business operations pursuant to a corporate integrity agreement, which may be with the Office of Inspector General of
the Department of Health and Human Services, (iv) lose the right to participate in the Medicare or Medicaid programs, and
(v) suffer damage to HCRMC's reputation. In addition, any settlement in the DOJ litigation, with or without an admission of
wrongdoing, may include a substantial monetary component that could have a material  adverse effect on HCRMC’s
liquidity and financial condition.  
 
See Notes 1, 7, 11 and 17 for additional discussion of HCRMC.
 
DFL Internal Ratings
The following table summarizes the Company’s internal ratings for DFLs at September 30, 2016 (dollars in thousands):
 
  Carrying  Percentage of  Internal Ratings  
Segment     Amount     DFL Portfolio     Performing DFLs     Watch List DFLs     Workout DFLs  
SH NNN  $ 629,330  11  $ 267,326  $ 362,004  $  —  
QCP   5,107,180  87    —   5,107,180    —  
Other   123,891   2   123,891    —    —  
  $ 5,860,401  100  $ 391,217  $ 5,469,184  $  —  
 
Beginning September 30, 2013, the Company placed a 14-property senior housing triple-net DFL (the “DFL Portfolio”) on
nonaccrual status and assigned an internal rating of “Watch List.” The Company determined that the collection of all rental
payments was and continues to be no longer reasonably assured; therefore, rental revenue from the DFL Portfolio is
recognized when cash is received utilizing a cash basis method of accounting in accordance with its policies. During the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized DFL income of $4 million and $3 million,
respectively, and received cash payments of $5 million from the DFL Portfolio. During the nine months ended September 30,
2016 and 2015, the Company recognized DFL income of $11 million and $12 million, respectively, and received cash
payments of $15 million and $16 million, respectively, from the DFL Portfolio. The carrying value of the DFL Portfolio was
$362 million and $366 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
 
NOTE 6.  Loans Receivable

The following table summarizes the Company’s loans receivable (in thousands):
 
  September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015  
   Real Estate   Other       Real Estate   Other      
  Secured  Secured  Total  Secured  Secured  Total  
Mezzanine   $  —  $ 622,671  $ 622,671  $  —  $ 660,138  $ 660,138  
Other    64,057    —   64,057   114,322    —   114,322  
Unamortized discounts, fees and

costs   539   (4,273)  (3,734)  961   (6,678)  (5,717) 
  $ 64,596  $ 618,398  $ 682,994  $ 115,283  $ 653,460  $ 768,743  

(1) At September 30, 2016, included £281 million ($365 million) outstanding and £3 million ($3 million) of associated unamortized discounts,
fees and costs. At December 31, 2015, included £273 million ($403 million) outstanding and £4 million ($5 million) of associated
unamortized discounts, fees and costs.

(2) At September 30, 2016, the Company had £37 million ($49 million) remaining under its commitments to fund development projects and
capital expenditures under its U.K. development projects.

(3) At September 30, 2016, the Company had $0.5 million remaining of commitments to fund development projects and capital expenditures
under its senior housing development loan program.
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Loans Receivable Internal Ratings
The following table summarizes the Company’s internal ratings for loans receivable at September 30, 2016 (dollars in
thousands):

 
  Carrying  Percentage of  Internal Ratings  

Investment Type   Amount   Loan Portfolio   Performing Loans   
Watch List

Loans   Workout Loans  
Real estate secured  $ 64,596  9  $ 64,596  $  —  $  —  
Other secured   618,398  91   362,041   256,357    —  
  $ 682,994  100  $ 426,637  $ 256,357  $  —  
 
Real Estate Secured Loans
Four Seasons Health Care.  In December 2015, the Company purchased £28 million ($42 million) of Four Seasons Health
Care’s (“Four Seasons”) £40 million senior secured term loan. The loan is secured by, among other things, the real estate
assets of Four Seasons, and represents the most senior debt tranche. The loan bears interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 6.0% per
annum and matures in December 2017.

Other Secured Loans
HC-One Facility.  In November 2014, the Company was the lead investor in the financing for Formation Capital and
Safanad’s acquisition of NHP, a company that, at closing, owned 273 nursing and residential care homes representing over
12,500 beds in the U.K. principally operated by HC-One. The Company provided a loan facility (the “HC-One Facility”),
secured by substantially all of NHP’s assets, totaling £395 million, with £363 million ($574 million) drawn at closing and
has a five-year term. In February 2015, the Company increased the HC-One Facility by £108 million ($164 million) to £502
million ($795 million), in conjunction with HC-One’s acquisition of Meridian Healthcare. In April 2015, the Company
converted £174 million of the HC-One Facility into a sale-leaseback transaction for 36 nursing and residential care homes
located throughout the U.K. In September 2015, the Company amended and increased its commitment under the HC-One
Facility by £11 million primarily for the funding of capital expenditures and a development project. As part of the
amendments, the Company shortened the non-call period by 17 months and provided consent for (i) the paydown of £34
million from disposition proceeds without a prepayment premium and (ii) the spin-off of 36 properties into a separate JV. In
return, the Company retained security over the spin-off properties for a period of two years. During the year ended December
31, 2015, the Company received paydowns of £34 million ($52 million). At September 30, 2016, the HC-One Facility had an
outstanding balance of $362 million.
 
Tandem Health Care Loan. On July 31, 2012, the Company closed a mezzanine loan facility to lend up to $205 million to
Tandem Health Care (“Tandem”) as part of the recapitalization of a post-acute/skilled nursing portfolio. The Company
funded $100 million (the “First Tranche”) at closing and funded an additional $102 million (the “Second Tranche”) in
June 2013. In May 2015, the Company increased and extended the mezzanine loan facility with Tandem to: (i) fund $50
million (the “Third Tranche”) and $5 million (the “Fourth Tranche”), which proceeds were used to repay a portion of
Tandem’s existing senior and mortgage debt, respectively, (ii) extend its maturity to October 2018 and (iii) extend the
prepayment penalty period to January 2017. The loans bear interest at fixed rates of 12%,  14%, 6% and 6% per annum for
the First, Second, Third and Fourth Tranches, respectively.
 
Based on the recent decline in Tandem’s operating performance, as of September 30, 2016, the Company assigned an internal
rating of “Watch List” to its Tandem Health Care Loan. Although Tandem continues to remain current on its contractual
obligations, the collection and timing of all future amounts owed is no longer reasonably assured. During the three months
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized interest income and received cash payments of $8 million
from Tandem. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Company recognized interest income of $23
million and $22 million, respectively, and received cash payments of $23 million and $21 million, respectively, from
Tandem. At September 30, 2016, the facility had an outstanding balance of $256 million at an 11.5% blended interest rate
and was subordinate to $377 million of senior mortgage debt.
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NOTE 7.  Investments in and Advances to Unconsolidated Joint Ventures

The Company owns interests in the following entities that are accounted for under the equity method at September 30, 2016
(dollars in thousands):
 

Entity     Segment     
Carrying
Amount     Ownership%  

CCRC JV  SHOP  $ 450,188   49   
HCRMC  QCP    —   9   
MBK JV  SHOP   39,876   50   
HCP Ventures III, LLC  Medical office   9,492   30   
HCP Ventures IV, LLC  Medical office   7,220   20   
HCP Life Science   Life science   68,251  50 – 63  
Vintage Park Development JV  SHOP   8,088   85   
MBK Development JV  SHOP   2,464   50   
Suburban Properties, LLC  Medical office   4,667   67   
K&Y  Other   1,324   80   
Advances to unconsolidated JVs, net and other     527      
    $ 592,097      

(1) These entities are not consolidated because the Company does not control, through voting rights or other means, the JVs.
(2) Includes two unconsolidated JVs in a RIDEA structure (CCRC PropCo and CCRC OpCo).
(3) Includes two unconsolidated JVs in a RIDEA structure.
(4) Includes the following unconsolidated partnerships (and the Company’s ownership percentage): (i) Torrey Pines Science Center, LP (50%);

(ii) Britannia Biotech Gateway, LP (55%); and (iii) LASDK, LP (63%).
(5) Includes three unconsolidated JVs.

 
The following tables summarize combined financial information for the Company’s equity method investments (in
thousands):
 
     September 30,  December 31,  
  2016 2015  
Real estate, net  $ 4,434,643  $ 4,470,249  
Goodwill and other assets, net   4,945,250   4,935,343  
Assets held for sale   67,817   94,866  

Total assets  $ 9,447,710  $ 9,500,458  
        
Capital lease obligations and mortgage debt  $ 6,419,016  $ 6,575,531  
Accounts payable   1,314,659   1,111,350  
Liabilities and mortgage debt held for sale   1,593   6,318  
Other partners’ capital   1,078,758   1,163,501  
HCP’s capital   633,684   643,758  

Total liabilities and partners’ capital  $ 9,447,710  $ 9,500,458  

(1) The combined basis difference of the Company’s investments in these JVs of $42 million, as of September 30, 2016, is attributable to
goodwill, real estate, capital lease obligations, deferred tax assets and lease-related net intangibles.
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  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
     2016 2015 2016  2015  
Total revenues  $ 1,057,213  $ 1,106,667  $ 3,210,868  $ 3,375,747  
Income (loss) from discontinued operations   904   (1,794)  3,476   (15,696) 
Net loss   (43,248)  (65,819)  (81,214)  (77,529) 
HCP’s share of earnings   (2,053)  8,314   (4,028)  33,916  
Fees earned by HCP   76   454   248   1,372  
Distributions received by HCP   10,754   16,186   20,377   20,673  

(1) The Company’s JV interest in HCRMC is accounted for using the equity method and results in an elimination of DFL income proportional to
HCP’s ownership in HCRMC. The elimination of the respective proportional lease expense at the HCRMC level in substance resulted in $14
million and $44 million of DFL income that was recharacterized to the Company’s share of earnings from HCRMC (equity income from
unconsolidated JVs) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015. Beginning in January 2016, income will be recognized only
if cash distributions are received from HCRMC; as a result, the Company no longer recharacterizes (eliminates) its proportional ownership
share of income from DFLs to equity income (loss) from unconsolidated JVs.

 
HCRMC.  The Company concluded that its equity investment in HCRMC was other-than-temporarily impaired as of
December 2014, September 2015 and December 2015 and recorded impairment charges of $36 million, $27 million and $19
million, respectively. Beginning in January 2016, equity income is recognized only if cash distributions are received from
HCRMC (see Note 5). In determining the fair value of the Company’s equity investment in HCRMC, the fair value was based
on a discounted cash flow valuation model and inputs were considered to be Level 3 measurements within the fair value
hierarchy. Inputs to this valuation model include earnings multiples, discount rate and industry growth rates of revenue,
operating expenses and facility occupancy, some of which influence the Company’s expectation of future cash flows from its
investment in HCRMC and, accordingly, the fair value of its investment.
 
MBK JVs.  On March 30, 2015, the Company and MBK Senior Living (“MBK”), a subsidiary of Mitsui & Co. Ltd., formed a
new RIDEA JV (“MBK JV”) that owns three senior housing facilities with the Company and MBK each owning a 50% equity
interest. MBK manages these communities on behalf of the JV and receives cash payments. The Company contributed $27
million of cash and MBK contributed the three senior housing facilities with a fair value of $126 million, which were
encumbered by $78 million of mortgage debt at closing.
 
On September 25, 2015, the Company and MBK formed a new RIDEA JV (“MBK Development JV”), which acquired a $3
million parcel of land for the purpose of developing a 74-unit class A senior housing facility in Santa Rosa, California. The
parcel of land is located adjacent to the Oakmont Gardens independent living facility currently owned and operated by the
MBK JV. 
 
NOTE 8.  Intangibles

At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, gross intangible lease assets, comprised of lease-up intangibles, above
market tenant lease intangibles and below market ground lease intangibles, were $978 million and $984 million,
respectively. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the accumulated amortization of intangible assets was
$439 million and $380 million, respectively.
 
At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, gross intangible lease liabilities, comprised of below market tenant lease
intangibles and above market ground lease intangibles, were $154 million and $156 million, respectively. At September 30,
2016 and December 31, 2015, the accumulated amortization of intangible liabilities was $108 million and $100 million,
respectively.
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NOTE 9.  Other Assets

The following table summarizes the Company’s other assets (in thousands):
 
  September 30,  December 31,  
     2016     2015  
Straight-line rent receivables, net of allowance of $30,776 and $33,648,

respectively  $ 380,178  $ 370,296  
Marketable debt securities, net   82,081   102,958  
Leasing costs and inducements, net   155,889   158,708  
Goodwill   50,346   50,346  
Other   125,519   119,965  

Total other assets  $ 794,013  $ 802,273  
 
Four Seasons Health Care Senior Notes
Marketable debt securities, net are classified as held-to-maturity debt securities and primarily represent senior notes issued by
Elli Investments Limited (“Elli”), a company beneficially owned by funds or limited partnerships managed by Terra Firma, as
part of the financing for Elli’s acquisition of Four Seasons Health Care (the “Four Seasons Notes”). The Four Seasons Notes
mature in June 2020, were non-callable through June 2016 and bear interest on their par value at a fixed rate of 12.25% per
annum. The Company purchased an aggregate par value of £138.5 million of the Four Seasons Notes at a discount for £136.8
million ($215 million) in June 2012, representing 79% of the total £175 million issued and outstanding Four Seasons Notes.
In June 2015 and September 2015, the Company determined that the Four Seasons Notes were other-than-temporarily
impaired and recorded impairment charges of $42 million and $70 million, respectively, reducing the carrying value to $174
million (£111 million) and $100 million (£66 million), respectively. The fair value was based on quoted prices; however as
the Four Seasons Notes are not actively traded, these prices were considered to be Level 2 measurements within the fair value
hierarchy.
 
Elli remains obligated to repay the aggregate par value at maturity and interest payments due June 15 and December 15 each
year. When the remaining semi-annual interest payments are received, the Company expects to continue to reduce the
carrying value of the Four Seasons Notes during the related period. Accordingly, the Company applied the contractual
interest payments received in both December 2015 (£8 million or $13 million) and June 2016 (£8 million or  $13 million)
against the principal balance. This treatment reduced the carrying value of the Four Seasons Notes to £58 million ($85
million) and £49 million ($64 million) at December 31, 2015 and September 30, 2016, respectively.
 
NOTE 10.  Debt

Bank Line of Credit and Term Loans
The Company’s $2.0 billion unsecured revolving line of credit facility (the “Facility”) matures on March 31, 2018 and
contains a one-year extension option. Borrowings under the Facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus a margin that depends on
the Company’s credit ratings. The Company pays a facility fee on the entire revolving commitment that depends on its credit
ratings. Based on the Company’s credit ratings at September 30, 2016, the margin on the Facility was 1.05%, and the facility
fee was 0.20%. The Facility also includes a feature that allows the Company to increase the borrowing capacity by an
aggregate amount of up to $500 million, subject to securing additional commitments from existing lenders or new lending
institutions. At September 30, 2016, the Company had $1.4 billion, including £275 million ($357 million), outstanding
under the Facility with a weighted average effective interest rate of 1.85%.
 
In July 2016, the Company exercised a one-year extension option on its £137 million ($178 million at September 30, 2016),
four-year unsecured term loan that it entered into on July 30, 2012 (the “2012 Term Loan”). Based on the Company’s credit
ratings at September 30, 2016, the 2012 Term Loan accrues interest at a rate of GBP LIBOR plus 1.40%. The Company also
has a £220 million ($286 million at September 30, 2016) four-year unsecured term loan that accrues interest at a rate of GBP
LIBOR plus 1.15%, subject to adjustments based on the Company’s credit ratings.
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The Facility and term loans contain certain financial restrictions and other customary requirements, including cross-default
provisions to other indebtedness. Among other things, these covenants, using terms defined in the agreements, (i) limit the
ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated Total Asset Value to 60%, (ii) limit the ratio of Secured Debt to
Consolidated Total Asset Value to 30%, (iii) limit the ratio of Unsecured Debt to Consolidated Unencumbered Asset Value to
60% and (iv) require a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of 1.5x. The Facility and term loans also require a Minimum
Consolidated Tangible Net Worth of $9.5 billion at September 30, 2016, which requirement was subsequently reduced, via
an amendment to the Facility, to $6.5 billion effective upon the completion of the Spin-Off of QCP on October 31, 2016. At
September 30, 2016, the Company was in compliance with each of these restrictions and requirements.
 
Senior Unsecured Notes
At September 30, 2016, the Company had senior unsecured notes outstanding with an aggregate principal balance of $8.3
billion. The senior unsecured notes contain certain covenants including limitations on debt, maintenance of unencumbered
assets, cross-acceleration provisions and other customary terms. The Company believes it was in compliance with these
covenants at September 30, 2016.
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s senior unsecured notes issuances for the periods presented (dollars in
thousands):
 
  Issuance        
Period     Amount     Coupon Rate     Maturity Date     Net Proceeds
Year ended December 31, 2015:          
January 21, 2015  $ 600,000   3.400 %  2025  $ 591,000
May 20, 2015  $ 750,000   4.000 %  2025  $ 739,000
December 1, 2015  $ 600,000   4.000 %  2022  $ 594,000
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s senior unsecured notes payoffs for the periods presented (dollars in
thousands):
 
Period     Amount     Coupon Rate     
Nine months ended September 30, 2016:        
February 1, 2016  $ 500,000   3.750 %
September 15, 2016  $ 400,000   6.300 %
Year ended December 31, 2015:     
March 1, 2015  $ 200,000   6.000 %
June 8, 2015  $ 200,000   7.072 %
 
Mortgage Debt
At September 30, 2016, the Company had mortgage debt outstanding with an aggregate principal balance of $758 million,
which is secured by 46 healthcare facilities (including redevelopment properties) with a carrying value of $1.1 billion.
 
Mortgage debt generally requires monthly principal and interest payments, is collateralized by real estate assets and is
generally non-recourse. Mortgage debt typically restricts transfer of the encumbered assets, prohibits additional liens,
restricts prepayment, requires payment of real estate taxes, requires maintenance of the assets in good condition, requires
maintenance of insurance on the assets and includes conditions to obtain lender consent to enter into or terminate material
leases. Some of the mortgage debt is also cross-collateralized by multiple assets and may require tenants or operators to
maintain compliance with the applicable leases or operating agreements of such real estate assets.
 

22

 

Source: HCP, INC., 10-Q, November 01, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Table of Contents

Debt Maturities
The following table summarizes the Company’s stated debt maturities and scheduled principal repayments at September 30,
2016 (in thousands):
 
        Senior        
  Bank Line of     Unsecured  Mortgage     
Year  Credit     Term Loans     Notes     Debt     Total  
2016 (three months)  $  —  $  —  $  —  $ 30,626  $ 30,626  
2017    —   177,867   750,000   583,541   1,511,408  
2018   1,372,032    —   600,000   8,290   1,980,322  
2019    —   285,626   450,000   3,839   739,465  
2020    —    —   800,000   3,907   803,907  
Thereafter    —    —   5,700,000   127,758   5,827,758  
   1,372,032   463,493   8,300,000   757,961   10,893,486  
(Discounts), premiums and debt costs, net    —   (1,312)  (70,269)  4,754   (66,827) 
  $ 1,372,032  $ 462,181  $ 8,229,731  $ 762,715  $ 10,826,659  

(1) Includes £275 million ($357 million) translated into U.S. dollars (“USD”).
(2) Represents £357 million translated into USD.
(3) Effective interest rates on senior unsecured notes ranged from 2.79% to 6.88% with a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.63% and a

weighted average maturity of six years.
(4) Effective interest rates on the mortgage debt ranged from 3.05% to 8.20% with a weighted average effective interest rate of 5.79% and a

weighted average maturity of five years.
(5) Excludes $94 million of other debt that represents Life Care Bonds and Demand Notes (each as defined below) that have no scheduled

maturities.
 
Other Debt
At September 30, 2016, the Company had $66 million of non-interest bearing life care bonds at two of its CCRCs and non-
interest bearing occupancy fee deposits at three of its senior housing facilities, all of which are payable to certain residents of
the facilities (collectively, “Life Care Bonds”). The Life Care Bonds are generally refundable to the residents upon the
termination of the contract or upon the successful resale of the unit.
 
At September 30, 2016, the Company had $28 million of on-demand notes (“Demand Notes”) from the CCRC JV. The
Demand Notes bear interest at a rate of 4.5%.  
 
NOTE 11.  Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Proceedings 
From time to time, the Company is a party to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims that arise in the ordinary course of
the Company’s business. Except as described below, the Company is not aware of any other legal proceedings or claims that
it believes may have, individually or taken together, a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows. The Company’s policy is to expense legal costs as they are incurred.
 
On May 9, 2016, a purported stockholder of the Company filed a putative class action complaint, Boynton Beach
Firefighters’ Pension Fund v. HCP, Inc., et al. , Case No. 3:16-cv-01106-JJH, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern
District of Ohio against the Company, certain of its officers, HCRMC, and certain of its officers, asserting violations of the
federal securities laws. The suit asserts claims under sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and
alleges that the Company made certain false or misleading statements relating to the value of and risks concerning its
investment in HCRMC by allegedly failing to disclose that HCRMC had engaged in billing fraud, as alleged by the DOJ in a
pending suit against HCRMC arising from the False Claims Act. The plaintiff in the suit demands compensatory damages (in
an unspecified amount), costs and expenses (including attorneys’ fees and expert fees), and equitable, injunctive, or other
relief as the Court deems just and proper. The DOJ lawsuit against HCRMC is described in greater detail in Note 5. As the
Boynton Beach action is in its early stages and a lead plaintiff has not yet been named, the defendants have not yet
responded to the complaint. The Company believes the suit to be without merit and intends to vigorously defend against it.
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On June 16, 2016 and July 5, 2016, purported stockholders of the Company filed two derivative actions, respectively
Subodh v. HCR ManorCare Inc., et al., Case No. 30-2016-00858497-CU-PT-CXC and  Stearns v. HCR ManorCare, Inc., et
al., Case No. 30-2016-00861646-CU-MC-CJC, in the Superior Court of California, County of Orange, against certain of the
Company’s current and former directors and officers and HCRMC. The Stearns action was subsequently consolidated by the
Court with the Subodh action. The Company is named as a nominal defendant. The consolidated derivative action alleges
that the defendants engaged in various acts of wrongdoing, including, among other things, breaching fiduciary duties by
publicly making false or misleading statements of fact regarding HCRMC’s finances and prospects, and failing to maintain
adequate internal controls. The plaintiffs demand damages (in an unspecified amount), pre-judgment and post-judgment
interest, a directive that the Company and the individual defendants improve the Company's corporate governance and
internal procedures (including putting resolutions to amend the bylaws or charter to a stockholder vote), restitution from the
individual defendants, costs (including attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, costs, and expenses), and further relief as the Court
deems just and proper. As the Subodh action is in the early stages, the defendants are in the process of evaluating the suit and
have not yet responded to the complaint.
 
On June 9, 2016, and on August 25, 2016, the Company received letters from a private law firm, acting on behalf of its
clients, purported stockholders of the Company, each asserting substantially the same allegations made in the Subodh and
Stearns matters discussed above. Each letter demands that the Company’s Board of Directors take action to assert the
Company’s rights. The Board of Directors is in the process of evaluating the demand letters.
 
The Company is unable to estimate the ultimate individual or aggregate amount of monetary liability or financial impact
with respect to matters discussed above as of September  30, 2016.
 
Commitments for Capital Additions
Under the terms of the Amended Master Lease with HCRMC, the Company is required through April 1, 2019, upon the
Lessee’s request, to provide the Lessee an amount to fund Capital Additions Costs (as defined in the Amended Master Lease)
approved by the Company, in the Company’s reasonable discretion, such amount not to exceed $100 million in the
aggregate (“Capital Addition Financing”), but the Company is not obligated to advance more than $50 million in Capital
Addition Financing in any single lease year. In connection with any Capital Addition Financing, the minimum rent allocated
to the applicable property will be increased by an amount equal to the product of: (i) the amount disbursed on account of the
Capital Addition Financing for the applicable property times (ii) at the time of any such disbursement, the greater of (a)
7.75% and (b) 500 basis points in excess of the then current 10-year Treasury Rate. Any such Capital Addition Financing
shall be structured in a REIT tax-compliant fashion. Through September 30, 2016, approximately $1.2 million in Capital
Addition Financing has been funded by the Company.
 
NOTE 12.  Equity

Common Stock
The following table summarizes the Company’s common stock cash dividends declared in 2016:
 
    Amount  Dividend  
Declaration Date     Record Date     Per Share     Payable Date  
January 28  February 8  $ 0.575  February 23  
April 27  May 9   0.575  May 24  
July 28  August 8   0.575  August 23  
October 31  November 10   0.370  November 25  
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The following table summarizes the Company’s other common stock activities (shares in thousands):
 
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
     2016     2015  
Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan  1,763  2,345  
Conversion of DownREIT units  145  75  
Exercise of stock options  133  820  
Vesting of restricted stock units  527  382  
Repurchase of common stock  236  178  

(1) Non-managing member limited liability company (“LLC”) units.
 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table summarizes the Company’s accumulated other comprehensive loss (in thousands):
 
  September 30,  December 31,  
     2016     2015  
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment  $ (21,415) $ (19,485) 
Unrealized losses on cash flow hedges, net   (5,556)  (7,582) 
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan minimum liability   (3,200)  (3,411) 
Unrealized gains on available for sale securities   7   8  

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss  $ (30,164) $ (30,470) 
 
Noncontrolling Interests
At September 30, 2016, non-managing members held an aggregate of 4 million units in five limited liability companies
(“DownREITs”), for which the Company is the managing member. At September 30, 2016, the carrying and fair values of
these DownREIT units were $180 million and $221 million, respectively.
 
On October 7, 2015, the Company issued a 49% noncontrolling interest in HCP Ventures V to an institutional capital
investor for $110 million (see Note 3).
 
See Note 15 for the supplemental schedule of non-cash financing activities.

 
NOTE 13.  Segment Disclosures

The Company evaluates its business and allocates resources based on its five reportable business segments: (i) SH NNN, (ii)
SHOP, (iii) life science, (iv) medical office and (v) QCP. Under the medical office segment, the Company invests through the
acquisition and development of medical office buildings (“MOBs”), which generally require a greater level of property
management. Otherwise, the Company primarily invests, through the acquisition and development of real estate, in single
tenant and operator properties. The Company has non-reportable segments that are comprised primarily of the Company’s
debt investments, hospital properties and U.K. care homes. The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those in
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC, as
amended by Note 2 herein. In August 2016, six SH NNN facilities were transitioned to a RIDEA structure (reported in our
SHOP segment). There were no intersegment sales or transfers during the nine months ended September 30, 2015. The
Company evaluates performance based upon: (i) property net operating income from continuing operations (“NOI”) and (ii)
adjusted NOI (cash NOI) of the combined consolidated and unconsolidated investments in each segment.
 
Non-segment assets consist primarily of corporate assets, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts
receivable, net, marketable equity securities and, if any, real estate and related assets held for sale. Interest expense,
depreciation and amortization, and non-property specific revenues and expenses are not allocated to individual segments in
evaluating the Company’s segment-level performance. See Note 17 for other information regarding concentrations of credit
risk.
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The following tables summarize information for the reportable segments (in thousands):
 
For the three months ended September 30, 2016:
                           
       Life  Medical    Other  Corporate     

    SH NNN   SHOP   Science   Office   QCP   
Non-

reportable   Non-segment  Total    
 Rental revenues  $ 104,249  $  —  $ 90,847  $ 113,653  $ 123,716  $ 30,571  $  —  $ 463,036   

 
Resident fees and

services   13   170,739    —    —    —    —    —   170,752   

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV revenues    —   50,973   1,929   502    —   410    —   53,814   

 Less:                         —   
 Operating expenses  (1,794)  (121,502)  (18,487)  (44,738)  (1,036)  (1,190)   —   (188,747)  

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV operating
expenses    —   (42,463)  (406)  (148)   —   (20)   —   (43,037)  

 NOI   102,468   57,747   73,883   69,269   122,680   29,771    —   455,818   

 

Non-cash
adjustments to
NOI   (1,003)   4,608   (314)   (814)   172   (1,140)    —   1,509   

 
Adjusted (cash)
NOI   101,465   62,355   73,569   68,455   122,852   28,631    —   457,327   

 
Addback non-cash

adjustments   1,003   (4,608)   314   814   (172)   1,140    —   (1,509)  
 Interest income    —    —    —    —    —   20,482    —   20,482   
 Interest expense   (644)  (8,130)  (634)  (1,608)   —   (2,260)  (104,584)  (117,860)  

 
Depreciation and

amortization   (34,030)  (26,837)  (31,967)  (41,111)  (1,467)  (7,462)   —   (142,874)  

 

General and
administrative
expenses    —    —    —    —    —    —   (34,787)  (34,787)  

 
Acquisition and

pursuit costs    —    —    —    —    —    —   (17,568)  (17,568)  

 
Loss on sales of

real estate, net    —    —    —   (9)   —    —    —   (9)  
 Other income, net    —    —    —    —    —    —   1,454   1,454   
 Income tax benefit    —    —    —    —    —    —   2,213   2,213   

 

Less: HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV NOI    —   (8,510)  (1,523)  (354)   —   (390)   —   (10,777)  

 

Equity (loss)
income in
unconsolidated
JVs    —   (3,517)  778   462    —   224    —   (2,053)  

 
Net income
(loss)  $ 67,794  $ 10,753  $ 40,537  $ 26,649  $ 121,213  $ 40,365  $ (153,272) $ 154,039   
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For the three months ended September 30, 2015:
                           
       Life  Medical    Other  Corporate     

    SH NNN   SHOP   Science   Office   QCP   
Non-

reportable   Non-segment  Total    
 Rental revenues  $ 105,405  $ 182  $ 86,140  $ 108,898  $ 148,599  $ 33,143  $  —  $ 482,367   

 
Resident fees and

services    —   155,290    —    —    —    —    —   155,290   

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated JV
revenues    —   45,891   1,840   464    —   400    —   48,595   

 Less:                         —   
 Operating expenses   (871)  (110,254)  (17,785)  (43,008)  (1,008)  (589)   —   (173,515)  

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated JV
operating expenses    —   (39,226)  (425)  (150)   —   (19)   —   (39,820)  

 NOI   104,534   51,883   69,770   66,204   147,591   32,935    —   472,917   

 
Non-cash adjustments

to NOI   (2,312)  6,984   (2,673)  (1,342)  (23,158)  (770)   —   (23,271)  

 
Adjusted (cash)

NOI   102,222   58,867   67,097   64,862   124,433   32,165    —   449,646   

 
Addback non-cash

adjustments   2,312   (6,984)   2,673   1,342   23,158   770    —   23,271   
 Interest income    —    —    —    —    —   19,842    —   19,842   
 Interest expense   (4,239)  (8,026)  (701)  (2,540)   —   (2,521)  (104,130)  (122,157)  

 
Depreciation and

amortization   (31,527)  (24,398)  (32,013)  (37,151)  (1,470)  (8,145)   —   (134,704)  

 

General and
administrative
expenses    —    —    —    —    —    —   (20,534)  (20,534)  

 
Acquisition and

pursuit costs    —    —    —    —    —    —   (1,553)  (1,553)  
 Impairments    —    —    —    —    —   (69,622)   —   (69,622)  

 
Gain on sales of real

estate, net    —    —    —   52    —    —    —   52   
 Other expense, net    —    —    —    —    —    —   (572)  (572)  
 Income tax benefit    —    —    —    —    —    —   1,980   1,980   

 

Less: HCP share of
unconsolidated JV
NOI    —   (6,665)  (1,415)  (314)   —   (381)   —   (8,775)  

 

Equity (loss) income
in unconsolidated
JVs    —   (3,291)  706   (586)  11,485    —    —   8,314   

 

Impairment of
investments in
unconsolidated JVs    —    —    —    —   (27,234)   —    —   (27,234)  

 Net income (loss)  $ 68,768  $ 9,503  $ 36,347  $ 25,665  $ 130,372  $ (27,892) $ (124,809) $ 117,954   
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2016:
                           
       Life  Medical    Other  Corporate     

    SH NNN   SHOP   Science   Office   QCP   
Non-

reportable   Non-segment  Total    
 Rental revenues  $ 319,976  $  —  $ 269,994  $ 331,881  $ 367,714  $ 95,476  $  —  $ 1,385,041   

 
Resident fees and

services   13   500,704    —    —    —    —    —   500,717   

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV revenues    —   152,424   5,628   1,503    —   1,224    —   160,779   

 Less:                         —   

 
Operating

expenses   (5,521)  (350,949)  (53,191)  (129,715)  (3,068)  (3,383)   —   (545,827)  

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV operating
expenses    —   (125,244)  (1,173)  (452)   —   (30)   —   (126,899)  

 NOI   314,468   176,935   221,258   203,217   364,646   93,287    —   1,373,811   

 

Non-cash
adjustments to
NOI   (8,464)   15,175   (1,545)   (2,361)   375   (1,926)    —   1,254   

 
Adjusted (cash)

NOI   306,004   192,110   219,713   200,856   365,021   91,361    —   1,375,065   

 

Addback non-
cash
adjustments   8,464   (15,175)   1,545   2,361   (375)   1,926    —   (1,254)  

 Interest income    —    —    —    —    —   71,298    —   71,298   
 Interest expense   (8,859)  (23,818)  (1,904)  (4,899)   —   (7,067)  (314,708)  (361,255)  

 
Depreciation and

amortization   (101,737)  (78,124)  (97,640)  (120,432)  (4,402)  (23,247)   —   (425,582)  

 

General and
administrative
expenses    —    —    —    —    —    —   (83,079)  (83,079)  

 
Acquisition and

pursuit costs    —    —    —    —    —    —   (34,570)  (34,570)  

 
Gain on sales of

real estate, net   23,940    —   29,428   8,333    —   57,904    —   119,605   
 Other income, net    —    —    —    —    —    —   5,128   5,128   

 
Income tax

expense    —    —    —    —    —    —   (48,822)  (48,822)  

 

Less: HCP share
of
unconsolidated
JV NOI    —   (27,180)  (4,455)  (1,051)   —   (1,194)   —   (33,880)  

 

Equity (loss)
income in
unconsolidated
JVs    —   (8,477)  2,263   1,541    —   645    —   (4,028)  

 
Net income

(loss)  $ 227,812  $ 39,336  $ 148,950  $ 86,709  $ 360,244  $ 191,626  $ (476,051) $ 578,626   
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For the nine months ended September 30, 2015:
                           
       Life  Medical    Other  Corporate     

    SH NNN   SHOP   Science   Office   QCP   
Non-

reportable   Non-segment  Total    
 Rental revenues  $ 317,520  $ (7,127)  $ 255,100  $ 307,881  $ 454,740  $ 90,600  $  —  $ 1,418,714   

 
Resident fees and

services   12   367,129    —    —    —    —    —   367,141   

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV revenues    —   134,047   5,257   1,395    —   1,193    —   141,892   

 Less:                           

 
Operating

expenses   (2,655)  (260,393)  (51,718)  (121,330)  (2,898)  (2,894)   —   (441,888)  

 

HCP share of
unconsolidated
JV operating
expenses    —   (112,395)   (1,173)   (467)    —   (54)    —   (114,089)  

 NOI   314,877   121,261   207,466   187,479   451,842   88,845    —   1,371,770   

 

Non-cash
adjustments to
NOI   (8,853)   26,620   (8,635)   (4,326)   (65,807)   (1,633)    —   (62,634)  

 
Adjusted (cash)

NOI   306,024   147,881   198,831   183,153   386,035   87,212    —   1,309,136   

 
Addback non-cash

adjustments   8,853   (26,620)   8,635   4,326   65,807   1,633    —   62,634   
 Interest income    —    —    —    —    —   89,049    —   89,049   
 Interest expense   (12,677)  (23,895)  (2,229)  (7,458)   —   (7,270)  (304,040)  (357,569)  

 
Depreciation and

amortization   (93,260)  (55,627)  (92,503)  (102,748)  (4,410)  (21,081)   —   (369,629)  

 

General and
administrative
expenses    —    —    —    —    —    —   (74,152)  (74,152)  

 
Acquisition and

pursuit costs    —    —    —    —    —    —   (23,350)  (23,350)  
 Impairments    —    —    —   (2,948)  (478,464)  (111,509)   —   (592,921)  

 
Gain on sales of

real estate, net   6,325    —    —   52    —    —    —   6,377   
 Other income, net    —    —    —    —    —    —   13,125   13,125   
 Income tax benefit    —    —    —    —    —    —   6,620   6,620   

 

Less: HCP share
of
unconsolidated
JV NOI    —   (21,652)  (4,084)  (928)   —   (1,139)   —   (27,803)  

 

Equity (loss)
income in
unconsolidated
JVs    —   (5,917)  2,123   (1,761)  39,471    —    —   33,916   

 

Impairment of
investments in
unconsolidated
JVs    —    —    —    —   (27,234)   —    —   (27,234)  
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Net income

(loss)  $ 215,265  $ 14,170  $ 110,773  $ 71,688  $ (18,795)  $ 36,895  $ (381,797) $ 48,199   

(1) Represents rental and related revenues, tenant recoveries and income from DFLs.
(2) Represents straight-line rents, DFL non-cash interest, amortization of market lease intangibles and lease termination fees.
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s revenues by segment (in thousands):
 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
Segment     2016 2015 2016  2015
SH NNN  $ 104,262  $ 105,405  $ 319,989  $ 317,532
SHOP   170,739   155,472   500,704   360,002
Life science   90,847   86,140   269,994   255,100
Medical office   113,653   108,898   331,881   307,881
QCP   123,716   148,599   367,714   454,740
Other non-reportable segment   51,053   52,985   166,774   179,649

Total revenues  $ 654,270  $ 657,499  $ 1,957,056  $ 1,874,904
 
The following table summarizes the Company’s assets by segment (in thousands):
 
  September 30,  December 31,  
Segment     2016     2015  
SH NNN  $ 5,097,301  $ 5,092,443  
SHOP   3,476,136   3,195,384  
Life science   3,983,929   3,905,137  
Medical office   3,481,174   3,436,884  
QCP   5,335,708   5,382,843  

Gross reportable segment assets   21,374,248   21,012,691  
Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (3,064,520)  (2,769,744) 

Net reportable segment assets   18,309,728   18,242,947  
Other non-reportable segment assets   1,598,092   1,787,579  
Real estate and related assets held for sale, net   372,968   314,126  
Other non-segment assets   907,757   1,105,197  

Total assets  $ 21,188,545  $ 21,449,849  
 
As a result of a change in operating and reporting segments, the Company allocated goodwill to the new reporting units
using a relative fair value approach. In addition, the Company completed a goodwill impairment assessment for all reporting
units immediately prior to the reallocation and determined that no impairment existed. At both September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, goodwill of $50 million was reallocated to segment assets as follows: (i) SH NNN—$21 million,
(ii) SHOP—$9 million, (iii) medical office—$11 million, (iv) QCP—$3 million and (v) other—$6 million.  
 
Subsequent Event.
 
The Spin-Off, completed on October 31, 2016, resulted in the Company disposing of its entire QCP segment, including its
allocated goodwill (see Note 1).
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NOTE 14.  Earnings Per Common Share

The following table illustrates the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands, except per share
amounts):
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016  2015   2016   2015  
Numerator - Basic and Dilutive              
Net income  $ 154,039  $ 117,954  $ 578,626  $ 48,199  
Noncontrolling interests’ share in earnings   (2,789)  (2,592)  (9,540)  (8,566) 

Net income attributable to HCP, Inc.   151,250   115,362   569,086   39,633  
Participating securities’ share in earnings   (326)  (316)  (977)  (1,020) 

Net income applicable to common shares  $ 150,924  $ 115,046  $ 568,109  $ 38,613  
              
Denominator              
Basic weighted average common shares   467,628   463,337   466,931   462,039  
Dilutive potential common shares - equity awards   207   249   201   263  

Diluted weighted average common shares   467,835   463,586   467,132   462,302  
              
Earnings per common share              
Basic  $ 0.32  $ 0.25  $ 1.22  $ 0.08  
Diluted  $ 0.32  $ 0.25  $ 1.22  $ 0.08  
 
Restricted stock and certain of the Company’s performance restricted stock units are considered participating securities,
because dividend payments are not forfeited even if the underlying award does not vest, which requires the use of the two-
class method when computing basic and diluted earnings per share. Options to purchase approximately 1.0 million and 1.2
million shares of common stock that had an exercise price (including deferred compensation expense) in excess of the
average closing market price of the Company’s common stock during the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, were not included in the Company’s earnings per share calculations because they are anti-dilutive. Restricted
stock and performance restricted stock units representing 0.1 million and 0.3 million shares of common stock during the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were not included because they are anti-dilutive. Additionally, during the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, 6 million shares issuable upon conversion of 4 million DownREIT units
were not included because they are anti-dilutive.
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NOTE 15.  Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table provides supplemental cash flow information (in thousands):
 

  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
     2016     2015  
Supplemental cash flow information:        

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest  $ 401,628  $ 393,095  
Income taxes paid   5,734   4,808  
Capitalized interest   8,490   5,995  

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:        
Accrued construction costs   60,897   46,104  
Non-cash acquisitions and dispositions settled with receivables and restricted cash
held in connection with Section 1031 transactions   15,570   346,745  
Tenant funded tenant improvements owned by HCP   21,085   17,552  
Vesting of restricted stock units   527   382  
Conversion of non-managing member units into common stock   6,093   2,454  
Noncontrolling interest and other liabilities, net assumed in connection with the
RIDEA III acquisition    —   61,219  
Noncontrolling interest issued in connection with real estate acquisitions    —   3,885  
Mortgage debt and other liabilities assumed with real estate acquisitions   78,131   21,076  
Unrealized gains (losses) on available-for-sale securities and derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges, net   1,531   (647) 

 
NOTE 16.  Variable Interest Entities

On January 1, 2016, the Company adopted ASU 2015-02 using the modified retrospective method as permitted by the ASU.
As a result of the adoption, the Company identified additional assets and liabilities of certain VIEs in its consolidated total
assets and total liabilities at December 31, 2015 of $543 million and $651 million, respectively. Refer to the specific VIE
descriptions below for detail on which entities were classified as consolidated VIEs subsequent to the adoption of ASU 2015-
02. Additionally, the Company deconsolidated three JVs and recognized $0.5 million as a cumulative-effect adjustment to
cumulative dividends in excess of earnings.
 
Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities
At September 30, 2016, the Company had investments in: (i) four unconsolidated VIE JVs, (ii) 358 properties leased to VIE
tenants, (iii) marketable debt securities of a VIE and (iv) a loan to a VIE borrower. The Company has determined that it is not
the primary beneficiary of and therefore does not consolidate these VIEs because it does not have the ability to control the
activities that most significantly impact their economic performance. Except for the Company’s equity interest in the
unconsolidated JVs (HCRMC, CCRC OpCo, Vintage Park Development JV and the LLC investment discussed below), it has
no formal involvement in these VIEs beyond its investments.
 
Until the completion of the Spin-Off of QCP on October 31, 2016, the Company leased 310 properties to, and had an
approximately 9% ownership interest in, HCRMC that was identified as a VIE upon a reconsideration event in the fourth
quarter of 2015. HCRMC has experienced continued operational declines and is a “thinly capitalized” entity that relies on
the operating cash flows generated from its senior housing and post-acute facilities to fund operating expenses, including the
rent obligations under the Amended Master Lease (see Notes 1, 5 and 7).
 
The Company holds a 49% ownership interest in CCRC OpCo, which operates senior housing properties in a RIDEA
structure and has been identified as a VIE (see Note 7). The equity members of CCRC OpCo “lack power” because they share
certain operating rights with Brookdale, as manager of the CCRCs. The assets of CCRC OpCo primarily consist of the
CCRCs that it owns and leases, resident fees receivable, notes receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations
primarily consist of operating lease obligations to CCRC PropCo, debt service payments and capital expenditures for the
properties, and accounts payable and expense accruals associated with the cost of its CCRCs’ operations. Assets generated by
the CCRC operations (primarily rents from CCRC residents) of CCRC OpCo may only be used to settle its contractual
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obligations (primarily from debt service payments, capital expenditures, and rental costs and operating expenses incurred to
manage such facilities).
 
The Company holds an 85% ownership interest in Vintage Park Development JV (see Note 7), which has been identified as a
VIE as power is shared with a member that does not have a substantive equity investment at risk. The assets of Vintage Park
Development JV primarily consist of an in-progress independent living facility development project that it owns and cash
and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of accounts payable and expense accruals associated with the cost of
its development obligations. Any assets generated by Vintage Park Development JV may only be used to settle its
contractual obligations (primarily development expenses and debt service payments).
 
The Company holds a limited partner ownership interest in an unconsolidated LLC that has been identified as a VIE. The
Company’s involvement in the entity is limited to its equity investment as a limited partner, and it does not have any
substantive participating rights or kick-out rights over the managing member. The assets and liabilities of the entity
primarily consist of those associated with its senior housing real estate and development activities. Any assets generated by
the entity may only be used to settle its contractual obligations (primarily development expenses and debt service
payments).
 
In addition to the properties leased to HCRMC, the Company leases 48 properties to a total of seven tenants that have also
been identified as VIEs (“VIE tenants”). These VIE tenants are “thinly capitalized” entities that rely on the operating cash
flows generated from the senior housing facilities to pay operating expenses, including the rent obligations under their
leases.
 
The Company holds commercial mortgage-backed securities (“CMBS”) issued by Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
(commonly referred to as Freddie MAC) through a special purpose entity that has been identified as a VIE because it is
“thinly capitalized.” The CMBS issued by the VIE are backed by mortgage debt obligations on real estate assets.
 
The Company holds Four Seasons Notes (see Note 9) and a portion of Four Seasons’ senior secured term loan (see Note 6). In
the second quarter of 2015, upon the occurrence of a reconsideration event, it was determined that the issuer of the Four
Seasons Notes is a VIE because this entity is “thinly capitalized.”
 
The classification of the related assets and liabilities and the maximum loss exposure as a result of the Company’s
involvement with these VIEs at September 30, 2016 are as follows (in thousands):
 
  Maximum Loss    Carrying  
VIE Type   Exposure   Asset/Liability Type   Amount  

HCRMC  $ 5,107,180  
Net investment in DFLs and investments in

unconsolidated JVs  $ 5,107,180  
VIE tenants—DFLs   601,799  Net investment in DFLs   601,799  
VIE tenants—operating leases   8,403  Lease intangibles, net and straight-line rent receivables   8,403  
CCRC OpCo   224,171  Investments in unconsolidated JVs   224,171  
Four Seasons   100,870  Loans and marketable debt securities   100,870  
Vintage Park Development JV   8,088  Investments in unconsolidated JVs   8,088  
CMBS and LLC investment   33,166  Marketable debt and cost method investment   33,166  

(1) The Company’s maximum loss exposure represents the aggregate carrying amount of such investments (including accrued interest).
(2) The Company’s maximum loss exposure may be mitigated by re-leasing the underlying properties to new tenants upon an event of default.
 
As of September 30, 2016, the Company has not provided, and is not required to provide, financial support through a
liquidity arrangement or otherwise, to its unconsolidated VIEs, including circumstances in which it could be exposed to
further losses (e.g., cash shortfalls). See Notes 5, 6, 7 and 9 for additional descriptions of the nature, purpose and operating
activities of the Company’s unconsolidated VIEs and interests therein.
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Consolidated Variable Interest Entities
RIDEA I.  The Company holds a 90% ownership interest in JV entities formed in September 2011 that own and operate senior
housing properties in a RIDEA structure (“RIDEA I”). The Company has historically classified RIDEA I OpCo as a VIE and,
as a result of the adoption of ASU 2015-02, also classifies RIDEA I PropCo as a VIE due to the non-managing member
lacking substantive participation rights in the management of RIDEA I PropCo or kick-out rights over the managing member.
The Company consolidates RIDEA I PropCo and RIDEA I OpCo as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to
control the activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic performance. The assets of RIDEA I PropCo
primarily consist of leased properties (net real estate), rents receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations
primarily consist of notes payable to a non-VIE consolidated subsidiary of the Company. The assets of RIDEA I OpCo
primarily consist of leasehold interests in senior housing facilities (operating leases), resident fees receivable, and cash and
cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of lease payments to RIDEA I PropCo and operating expenses of its senior
housing facilities (accounts payable and accrued expenses). Assets generated by the senior housing operations (primarily
from senior housing resident rents) of the RIDEA I structure may only be used to settle its contractual obligations (primarily
from the rental costs, operating expenses incurred to manage such facilities and debt costs).
 
RIDEA II.  The Company holds an 80% ownership interest in JV entities formed in August 2014 that own and operate senior
housing properties in a RIDEA structure (“RIDEA II”). The Company consolidates RIDEA II (“SH PropCo” and “SH OpCo”)
as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control the activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’
economic performance. The assets of SH PropCo primarily consist of leased properties (net real estate), rents receivable, and
cash and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of a note payable to a non-VIE consolidated subsidiary of the
Company. The assets of SH OpCo primarily consist of leasehold interests in senior housing facilities (operating leases),
resident fees receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of lease payments to SH PropCo and
operating expenses of its senior housing facilities (accounts payable and accrued expenses). Assets generated by the senior
housing operations (primarily from senior housing resident rents) of the RIDEA II structure may only be used to settle its
contractual obligations (primarily from the rental costs, operating expenses incurred to manage such facilities and debt
costs). See Note 4 for additional discussion of pending RIDEA II transactions.
 
RIDEA III.  The Company holds a 90% ownership interest in JV entities formed in June 2015 that own and operate senior
housing properties in a RIDEA structure. The Company has historically classified RIDEA III OpCo as a VIE and, as a result of
the adoption of ASU 2015-02, also classifies RIDEA III PropCo as a VIE due to the non-managing member lacking
substantive participation rights in the management of RIDEA III PropCo or kick-out rights over the managing member. The
Company consolidates RIDEA III PropCo and RIDEA III OpCo as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control
the activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic performance. The assets of RIDEA III PropCo primarily
consist of leased properties (net real estate), rents receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist
of a note payable to a non-VIE consolidated subsidiary of the Company. The assets of RIDEA III OpCo primarily consist of
leasehold interests in senior housing facilities (operating leases), resident fees receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its
obligations primarily consist of lease payments to RIDEA III PropCo and operating expenses of its senior housing facilities
(accounts payable and accrued expenses). Assets generated by the senior housing operations (primarily from senior housing
resident rents) of the RIDEA III structure may only be used to settle its contractual obligations (primarily from the rental
costs, operating expenses incurred to manage such facilities and debt costs).
 
HCP Ventures V, LLC .  The Company holds a 51% ownership interest in and is the managing member of a JV entity formed
in October 2015 that owns and leases MOBs (“HCP Ventures V, LLC”). Upon adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company
classified HCP Ventures V, LLC as a VIE due to the non-managing member lacking substantive participation rights in the
management of HCP Ventures V, LLC or kick-out rights over the managing member. The Company consolidates HCP
Ventures V, LLC as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control the activities that most significantly impact
the VIE’s economic performance. The assets of HCP Ventures V, LLC primarily consist of leased properties (net real estate),
rents receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of capital expenditures for the properties.
Assets generated by HCP Ventures V, LLC may only be used to settle its contractual obligations (primarily from capital
expenditures).
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Vintage Park JV .  The Company holds a 90% ownership interest in a JV entity formed in January 2015 that owns an 85%
interest in an unconsolidated development VIE (“Vintage Park JV”). Upon adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company
classified Vintage Park JV as a VIE due to the non-managing member lacking substantive participation rights in the
management of the Vintage Park JV or kick-out rights over the managing member. The Company consolidates Vintage Park
JV as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s
economic performance. The assets of Vintage Park JV primarily consist of an investment in the Vintage Park Development JV
and cash and cash equivalents; its obligations primarily consist of funding the ongoing development of the Vintage Park
Development JV. Assets generated by the Vintage Park JV may only be used to settle its contractual obligations (primarily
from the funding of the Vintage Park Development JV).
 
DownREITs.  The Company holds a controlling ownership interest in and is the managing member of five DownREITs (see
Note 12). Upon adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company classified the DownREITs as VIEs due to the non-managing
members lacking substantive participation rights in the management of the DownREITs or kick-out rights over the managing
member. The Company consolidates the DownREITs as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability to control the
activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic performance. The assets of the DownREITs primarily consist
of leased properties (net real estate), rents receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; their obligations primarily consist of
debt service payments and capital expenditures for the properties. Assets generated by the DownREITs (primarily from
resident rents) may only be used to settle their contractual obligations (primarily from debt service and capital expenditures).
 
Other Consolidated Real Estate Partnerships.  The Company holds a controlling ownership interest in and is the general
partner (or managing member) of multiple partnerships that own and lease real estate assets (the “Partnerships”). Upon
adoption of ASU 2015-02, the Company classified the Partnerships as VIEs due to the limited partners (non-managing
members) lacking substantive participation rights in the management of the Partnerships or kick-out rights over the general
partner (managing member). The Company consolidates the Partnerships as the primary beneficiary because it has the ability
to control the activities that most significantly impact these VIEs’ economic performance. The assets of the Partnerships
primarily consist of leased properties (net real estate), rents receivable, and cash and cash equivalents; their obligations
primarily consist of debt service payments and capital expenditures for the properties. Assets generated by the Partnerships
(primarily from resident rents) may only be used to settle their contractual obligations (primarily from debt service and
capital expenditures).
 
Other consolidated VIEs.  The Company made a loan to an entity that entered into a tax credit structure (“Tax Credit
Subsidiary”) and a loan to an entity that made an investment in a development JV (“Development JV”) both of which are
considered VIEs. The Company consolidates the Tax Credit Subsidiary and Development JV as the primary beneficiary
because it has the ability to control the activities that most significantly impact the VIEs’ economic performance. The assets
and liabilities of the Tax Credit Subsidiary and Development JV substantially consist of a development in progress, notes
receivable, prepaid expenses, notes payable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities generated from their operating
activities. Any assets generated by the operating activities of the Tax Credit Subsidiary and Development JV may only be
used to settle their contractual obligations.
 
NOTE 17.  Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise when one or more tenants, operators or obligors related to the Company’s investments are
engaged in similar business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that
would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations, including those to the Company, to be similarly affected by
changes in economic conditions. The Company regularly monitors various segments of its portfolio to assess potential
concentrations of credit risks. The Company does not have significant foreign operations.
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The following tables provide information regarding the Company’s concentrations with respect to certain tenants:
 
  Percentage of  Percentage of  
  SH NNN Gross Assets  SH NNN Revenues  
  September 30,  December 31, Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
Tenant         2016            2015            2016            2015            2016            2015     
Brookdale  54 % 53 % 60 % 59 % 59 % 58 %
 
  Percentage of  Percentage of  
  QCP Gross Assets  QCP Revenues  
  September 30,  December 31, Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
Tenant         2016            2015            2016            2015            2016            2015     
HCRMC  96 % 96 % 94 % 95 % 94 % 95 %
 
  Percentage of  Percentage of  
  Total Company Gross Assets  Total Company Revenues  
  September 30,  December 31, Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
Tenant         2016            2015            2016            2015            2016            2015     
HCRMC  24 % 24 % 18 % 21 % 18 % 23 %
Brookdale  13 % 13 % 10 % 9 % 10 % 10 %

(1) Subsequent to the Spin-Off on October 31, 2016, the Company’s concentration in HCRMC was reduced to less than 10 percent.
(2) Excludes senior housing facilities operated by Brookdale in the Company’s SHOP segment, as discussed below.

 
As of September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, Brookdale managed or operated approximately 13% and 13%,
respectively, of the Company’s real estate investments based on gross assets. Because an operator manages the Company’s
facilities in exchange for the receipt of a management fee, the Company is not directly exposed to the credit risk of its
operators in the same manner or to the same extent as its triple-net tenants. As of September 30, 2016, Brookdale provided
comprehensive facility management and accounting services with respect to 107 of the Company’s senior housing facilities
and 15 CCRCs owned by the CCRC JV, for which the Company or JV pay annual management fees pursuant to long-term
management agreements. Most of the management agreements have terms ranging from 10 to 15 years, with three to four 5-
year renewal periods. The base management fees are 4.5% to 5.0% of gross revenues (as defined) generated by the RIDEA
facilities. In addition, there are incentive management fees payable to Brookdale if operating results of the RIDEA properties
exceed pre-established EBITDAR (as defined) thresholds.
 
Brookdale is subject to the registration and reporting requirements of the SEC and is required to file annual reports
containing audited financial information and quarterly reports containing unaudited financial information with the SEC. The
information related to Brookdale contained or referred to in this report has been derived from SEC filings made by Brookdale
or other publicly available information, or was provided to the Company by Brookdale, and the Company has not verified
this information through an independent investigation or otherwise. The Company has no reason to believe that this
information is inaccurate in any material respect, but the Company cannot assure the reader of its accuracy. The Company is
providing this data for informational purposes only, and encourages the reader to obtain Brookdale’s publicly available
filings, which can be found on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
 
To mitigate the credit risk of leasing properties to certain operators, leases with operators are often combined into portfolios
that contain cross-default terms, so that if a tenant of any of the properties in a portfolio defaults on its obligations under its
lease, the Company may pursue its remedies under the lease with respect to any of the properties in the portfolio. Certain
portfolios also contain terms whereby the net operating profits of the properties are combined for the purpose of securing the
funding of rental payments due under each lease.
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NOTE 18.  Fair Value Measurements

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
 
The following table illustrates the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis at
September 30, 2016 in the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands):
 
Financial Instrument     Fair Value     Level 1     Level 2     Level 3  
Marketable equity securities  $ 37  $ 37  $  —  $  —  
Interest-rate swap liabilities   6,558    —   6,558    —  
Currency swap asset   2,901    —   2,901    —  
Warrants   18    —    —   18  
 
Recognized gains and losses are recorded in other income (loss), net on the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, there were no transfers of financial assets or liabilities within
the fair value hierarchy.
 
Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, net, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities – The
carrying values are reasonable estimates of fair value because of the short-term maturities of these instruments.
Loans receivable, net and mortgage debt – The fair values are based on discounting future cash flows utilizing current
market rates for loans and debt of the same type and remaining maturity.
Marketable debt securities – The fair value is based on quoted prices from inactive markets.
Marketable equity securities and senior unsecured notes – The fair values are based on quoted prices in active markets.
Warrants – The fair value is based on significant unobservable market inputs utilizing standardized derivative pricing
models.
Bank line of credit, term loans and other debt – The carrying values are reasonable estimates of fair value because the
borrowings are primarily based on market interest rates and the Company’s current credit ratings.
Interest-rate swaps – The fair value is based on observable inputs utilizing standardized pricing models that consider forward
yield curves and discount rates which are observable in active and inactive markets.
Currency swaps – The fair value is based on observable inputs utilizing standardized pricing models that consider the future
value of the currency exchange rates, comprised of current spot and traded forward points, and calculating a present value of
the net amount using discount rates based on observable traded interest rates.
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The following table summarizes the carrying values and fair values of the Company’s financial instruments (in thousands):
 
  September 30, 2016  December 31, 2015  
  Carrying     Carrying     
  Value   Fair Value   Value   Fair Value  
Loans receivable, net  $ 682,994  $ 688,804  $ 768,743  $ 770,052  
Marketable debt securities   82,081   82,081   102,958   102,958  
Marketable equity securities    37   37   39   39  
Warrants       18   18   55   55  
Bank line of credit   1,372,032   1,372,032   397,432   397,432  
Term loans   462,181   462,181   524,807   524,807  
Senior unsecured notes   8,229,731   8,737,688   9,120,107   9,390,668  
Mortgage debt   762,715   813,236   932,212   963,786  
Other debt    93,876   93,876   94,445   94,445  
Interest-rate swap assets     —    —   196   196  
Interest-rate swap liabilities   6,558   6,558   6,251   6,251  
Currency swap asset   2,901   2,901   1,551   1,551  

(1) Level 1: Fair value calculated based on quoted prices in active markets.
(2) Level 2: Fair value based on quoted prices for similar or identical instruments in active or inactive markets, respectively, or calculated

utilizing standardized pricing models in which significant inputs or value drivers are observable in active markets.
(3) Level 3: Fair value determined based on significant unobservable market inputs using standardized derivative pricing models.
 
 
NOTE 19.  Derivative Financial Instruments

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding interest-rate and foreign currency swap contracts as of
September 30, 2016 (dollars and British pound sterling (“GBP”) in thousands):
 
      Fixed          
    Hedge  Rate/Buy  Floating/Exchange  Notional/    
Date Entered  Maturity Date  Designation  Amount   Rate Index  Sell Amount  Fair Value  
Interest rate:                 
July 2005   July 2020  Cash Flow   3.82 % BMA Swap Index  $ 44,700  $ (4,643) 
November 2008  October 2016  Cash Flow   5.95 % 1 Month LIBOR+1.50%  $ 24,600  $ (35) 
January 2015  October 2017  Cash Flow   1.79 % 1 Month GBP LIBOR+0.975%  £ 220,000  $ (1,880) 
Foreign currency:               
January 2015  October 2017  Cash Flow  $ 20,700  Buy USD/Sell GBP  £ 13,700  $ 2,901  

(1) Derivative assets are recorded in other assets, net and derivative liabilities are recorded in accounts payable and accrued liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets.

(2) Represents three interest-rate swap contracts, which hedge fluctuations in interest payments on variable-rate secured debt due to overall
changes in hedged cash flows.

(3) Represents an interest-rate swap contract, which hedges fluctuations in interest payments on variable-rate secured debt due to overall changes
in hedged cash flows.

(4) Hedges fluctuations in interest payments on variable-rate unsecured debt due to fluctuations in the underlying benchmark interest rate.
(5) Currency swap contract (buy USD/sell GBP) hedges the foreign currency exchange risk related to the Company’s forecasted GBP

denominated interest receipts on its HC-One Facility. Represents a currency swap to sell approximately £1.0 million monthly at a rate of
1.5149 through October 2017.

 
The Company uses derivative instruments to mitigate the effects of interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations on specific
forecasted transactions as well as recognized financial obligations or assets. Utilizing derivative instruments allows the
Company to manage the risk of fluctuations in interest and foreign currency rates related to the potential impact these
changes could have on future earnings and forecasted cash flows. The Company does not use derivative instruments for
speculative or trading purposes.
 
The primary risks associated with derivative instruments are market and credit risk. Market risk is defined as the potential for
loss in value of a derivative instrument due to adverse changes in market prices. Credit risk is the risk that one of the
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parties to a derivative contract fails to perform or meet its financial obligation. The Company does not obtain collateral
associated with its derivative contracts, but monitors the credit standing of its counterparties on a regular basis. Should a
counterparty fail to perform, the Company would incur a financial loss to the extent that the associated derivative contract
was in an asset position. At September 30, 2016, the Company does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties to
its outstanding derivative contracts.
 
As of September 30, 2016, the Company has £268 million of its GBP-denominated borrowings under the Facility and 2012
Term Loan designated as a hedge of a portion of the Company’s net investments in GBP-functional subsidiaries to mitigate
its exposure to fluctuations in the GBP to USD exchange rate. For instruments that are designated and qualify as net
investment hedges, the variability in the foreign currency to USD exchange rate of the instrument is recorded as part of the
cumulative translation adjustment component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Accordingly, the
remeasurement value of the designated £268 million GBP-denominated borrowings due to fluctuations in the GBP to USD
exchange rate are reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as the hedging relationship is considered to be
effective. The cumulative balance of the remeasurement value will be reclassified to earnings when the hedged investment is
sold or substantially liquidated.
 
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company determined a portion of a cash flow hedge was
ineffective and reclassified $0.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, of unrealized gains related to this interest-rate swap
contract into other income (loss), net during each of the respective periods. The Company expects that the hedged forecasted
transactions for each of the outstanding qualifying cash flow hedging relationships at September 30, 2016 remain probable
of occurring and, as a result, no additional gains or losses recorded to accumulated other comprehensive loss are expected to
be reclassified to earnings for any other outstanding hedges.
 
To illustrate the effect of movements in interest rates and foreign currency markets, the Company performed a market
sensitivity analysis on its outstanding derivative financial instruments. The Company applied various basis point spreads to
the underlying interest rate curves and foreign currency exchange rates of the derivative portfolio in order to determine the
instruments’ change in fair value. The following table summarizes the results of the analysis performed (dollars in
thousands):
 
    Effects of Change in Interest and Foreign Currency Rates  
    +50 Basis  -50 Basis  +100 Basis  -100 Basis  
Date Entered     Maturity Date     Points     Points     Points     Points  
Interest rate:                
July 2005  July 2020  $ 884  $ (722) $ 1,686  $ (1,524) 
November 2008  October 2016   2   (7)  7   (12) 
January 2015  October 2017   1,566   (1,524)  3,110   (3,069) 
Foreign currency:                
January 2015  October 2017   (28)  149   (117)  238  
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 Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
All references in this report to “HCP,” “we,” “us” or “our” mean HCP, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries.
 
Cautionary Language Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
 
Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that are not historical factual statements are “forward-looking statements.”
We intend to have our forward-looking statements covered by the safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and include this statement for purposes of complying with those provisions. Forward-looking statements
include, among other things, statements regarding our and our officers’ intent, belief or expectation as identified by the use
of words such as “may,” “will,” “project,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “seek,” “forecast,” “plan,” “potential,”
“estimate,” “could,” “would,” “should” and other comparable and derivative terms or the negatives thereof. Forward-looking
statements reflect our current expectations and views about future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could
significantly affect our future financial condition and results of operations. While forward-looking statements reflect our
good faith belief and reasonable assumptions based upon current information, we can give no assurance that our expectations
or forecasts will be attained. Further, we cannot guarantee the accuracy of any such forward-looking statement contained in
this Quarterly Report, and such forward-looking statements are subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties that
are difficult to predict. As more fully set forth under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 and Part II, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2016, risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results to differ materially from the
expectations contained in the forward-looking statements include, among other things:

 
· our reliance on a concentration of a small number of tenants and operators for a significant portion of our revenues, with

our concentration in Brookdale increasing as a result of the consummation of the Spin-Off of QCP on October 31, 2016;

· the financial condition of our existing and future tenants, operators and borrowers, including potential bankruptcies and
downturns in their businesses, and their legal and regulatory proceedings, which results in uncertainties regarding our
ability to continue to realize the full benefit of such tenants’ and operators’ leases and borrowers’ loans;

· the ability of our existing and future tenants, operators and borrowers to conduct their respective businesses in a manner
sufficient to maintain or increase their revenues and to generate sufficient income to make rent and loan payments to us
and our ability to recover investments made, if applicable, in their operations;

· competition for tenants and operators, including with respect to new leases and mortgages and the renewal or rollover of
existing leases;

· competition for skilled management and other key personnel;

· availability of suitable properties to acquire at favorable prices and the competition for the acquisition and financing of
those properties;

· our ability to negotiate the same or better terms with new tenants or operators if existing leases are not renewed or we
exercise our right to replace an existing tenant or operator upon default;

· the risks associated with our investments in joint ventures and unconsolidated entities, including our lack of sole
decision making authority and our reliance on our partners’ financial condition and continued cooperation;

· our ability to achieve the benefits of investments within expected time frames or at all, or within expected cost
projections;

· the potential impact on us, our tenants, operators and borrowers from current and future litigation matters, including the
possibility of larger than expected litigation costs, adverse results and related developments;

· the effect on our tenants and operators of legislation and other legal requirements, including licensure, certification and
inspection requirements, and laws addressing entitlement programs and related services, including Medicare and
Medicaid, which may result in future reductions in reimbursements;
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· changes in federal, state or local laws and regulations, including those affecting the healthcare industry that affect our
costs of compliance or increase the costs, or otherwise affect the operations, of our tenants and operators;

· volatility or uncertainty in the capital markets, the availability and cost of capital as impacted by interest rates, changes
in our credit ratings, and the value of our common stock, and other conditions that may adversely impact our ability to
fund our obligations or consummate transactions, or reduce the earnings from potential transactions;

· changes in global, national and local economic conditions, and currency exchange rates;

· our ability to manage our indebtedness level and changes in the terms of such indebtedness; and

· our ability to maintain our qualification as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”).

 
Except as required by law, we do not undertake, and hereby disclaim, any obligation to update any forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of the date on which they are made.
 
The information set forth in this Item 2 is intended to provide readers with an understanding of our financial condition,
changes in financial condition and results of operations. We will discuss and provide our analysis in the following order:

 
· Executive Summary

· 2016 Transaction Overview

· Dividends

· Results of Operations

· Liquidity and Capital Resources

· Contractual Obligations

· Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

· Inflation

· Non-GAAP Financial Measures Reconciliations

· Critical Accounting Policies

· Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
Executive Summary
 
HCP, Inc., a Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) 500 company, invests primarily in real estate serving the healthcare industry in the
United States. We are a Maryland corporation organized in 1985 and qualify as a self-administered REIT. We acquire,
develop, lease, manage and dispose of healthcare real estate, and provide financing to healthcare providers. At September 30,
2016, our portfolio of investments, including properties in our unconsolidated joint ventures (“JVs”), consisted of interests in
1,198 properties.
 
We invest and manage our real estate portfolio for the long-term to maximize the benefit to our stockholders and support the
growth of our dividends. The core elements of our strategy are: (i) to acquire, develop, lease, own and manage a diversified
portfolio of quality healthcare properties across multiple business segments and geographic locations (including Europe), (ii)
to align ourselves with leading healthcare companies, operators and service providers, which over the long-term should result
in higher relative rental rates, net operating cash flows and appreciation of property values, (iii) to allocate capital targeting a
balanced portfolio between longer-term escalating triple-net leases with high-quality tenants, and operating businesses with
shorter-term leases in our medical office and life science segments, (iv) to maintain adequate liquidity with long-term fixed
rate debt financing with staggered maturities, which supports the longer-term nature of our investments, while reducing our
exposure to interest rate volatility and refinancing risk at any point in the interest rate or credit cycles and (v) to continue to
manage our balance sheet with a targeted financial leverage of 40% relative to our assets.
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We believe that our longer-term escalating triple-net leases with larger tenants and operators having scale enhance the
quality, stability and growth of our rental income. Further, we believe many of our existing properties hold the potential for
increased future cash flows as they are well maintained and in desirable locations within markets where the creation of new
supply is limited by the lack of available sites and the difficulty of obtaining the necessary licensing, other approvals and/or
financing. Our strategy for maximizing the benefits from these opportunities is to: (i) work with new or existing tenants and
operators to address their space and capital needs, and (ii) provide high-quality property management services in order to
motivate tenants to renew, expand or relocate into our properties.
 
The delivery of healthcare services requires real estate and, as a result, tenants and operators depend on real estate, in part, to
maintain and grow their businesses. We believe that the healthcare real estate market provides investment opportunities due
to the: (i) compelling long-term demographics driving the demand for healthcare services, (ii) specialized nature of
healthcare real estate investing and (iii) ongoing consolidation of the fragmented healthcare real estate sector.
 
While we emphasize healthcare real estate ownership, we may also provide real estate secured financing to, or invest in
equity or debt securities of, healthcare operators or other entities engaged in healthcare real estate ownership. We may also
acquire all or substantially all of the securities or assets of other REITs, operating companies or similar entities where such
investments would be consistent with our investment strategies. We may co-invest alongside institutional or development
investors through partnerships or limited liability companies.
 
We monitor, but do not limit, our investments based on the percentage of our total assets that may be invested in any one
property type, investment vehicle or geographic location, the number of properties that may be leased to a single tenant or
operator, or loans that may be made to a single borrower. In allocating capital to our multiple segments, we target
opportunities with the most attractive risk/reward profile for our portfolio as a whole. We may take additional measures to
mitigate risk, including diversifying our investments (by sector, geography, tenant or operator), structuring transactions as
master leases, requiring tenant or operator insurance and indemnifications, and obtaining credit enhancements in the form of
guarantees, letters of credit or security deposits.
 
Our REIT qualification requires us to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (excluding net capital gains);
therefore, we do not retain capital. As a result, we regularly access the public equity and debt markets to raise the funds
necessary to finance acquisitions and debt investments, develop and redevelop properties, and refinance maturing debt.
 
We maintain a disciplined balance sheet by actively managing our debt to equity levels and maintaining multiple sources of
liquidity, such as our revolving line of credit facility, access to capital markets and secured debt lenders, relationships with
current and prospective institutional JV partners, and our ability to divest assets. Our debt obligations are primarily long-term
fixed rate with staggered maturities, which reduces the impact of rising interest rates on our operations.
 
We finance our investments based on our evaluation of available sources of funding. For short-term purposes, we may utilize
our revolving line of credit facility or arrange for other short-term borrowings from banks or other sources. We arrange for
longer-term financing by offering debt and equity securities, placing mortgage debt and obtaining capital from institutional
lenders and JV partners.
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2016 Transaction Overview
 
HCR ManorCare, Inc. 
Spin-Off of Real Estate Portfolio
On October 31, 2016, we completed our previously announced spin-off (the “Spin-Off”) of our subsidiary, Quality Care
Properties, Inc. (“QCP”) (NYSE:QCP). QCP’s assets include 338 properties, primarily comprised of the HCR ManorCare, Inc.
(“HCRMC”) direct financing lease (“DFL”) investments and an equity investment in HCRMC. Following the completion of
the Spin-Off on October 31, 2016, QCP is an independent, publicly-traded, self-managed and self-administrated REIT.
 
We entered into a Separation and Distribution Agreement (the “Separation and Distribution Agreement”) with QCP in
connection with the Spin-Off. The Separation and Distribution Agreement divides and allocates the assets and liabilities of
HCP prior to the Spin-Off between QCP and HCP, governs the rights and obligations of the parties regarding the Spin-Off,
and contains other key provisions relating to the separation of QCP’s business from HCP.
 
In connection with the Spin-Off, we have entered into a Transition Services Agreement ("TSA") with QCP. Per the terms of the
TSA, we have agreed to provide certain administrative and support services to QCP on a transitional basis for established
fees, which are expected to approximate the actual cost incurred by us in providing the transition services to QCP for the
relevant period. The TSA provides that QCP generally has the right to terminate a transition service upon thirty days' notice
to us. The TSA contains provisions under which we will, subject to certain limitations, be obligated to indemnify QCP for
losses incurred by QCP resulting from our breach of the TSA.
 
See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Spin-Off.
 
Third Quarter Operating Performance 
For the third quarter of 2016, HCRMC reported normalized EBITDAR (defined as earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization, and rent) of $119 million, bringing the year-to-date total to $382 million. On a year-over-year
basis, normalized EBITDAR decreased $8 million, or 6% for the quarter, and decreased $38 million or 9% year-to-date,
primarily due to a weaker flu season, continued pressure from payor mix shift and shorter lengths of stay. HCRMC’s
normalized fixed charge coverage ratio for the trailing twelve months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.02x and for the
trailing three months ended September 30, 2016 was 0.98x.
HCRMC ended the quarter with $164 million of cash and cash equivalents and continues to be current on its obligations
under the amended master lease we entered into with HCRMC in March 2015.
 
Second Quarter Operating Performance
For the second quarter of 2016, HCRMC reported normalized EBITDAR of $132 million, bringing the year-to-date total to
$263 million. On a year-over-year basis, normalized EBITDAR decreased $14 million, or 10% for the quarter, and decreased
$41 million or 13% year-to-date, primarily due to a weaker flu season, continued pressure from payor mix shift and shorter
lengths of stay. HCRMC’s normalized fixed charge coverage ratio for the trailing twelve months ended June 30, 2016 was
1.03x and for the trailing three months ended June 30, 2016 was 1.08x.
 
First Quarter Operating Performance
For the first quarter of 2016, HCRMC reported normalized EBITDAR of $131 million, which was up $22 million, or 20%
sequentially, driven by a 110 basis point increase in core post-acute/skilled nursing occupancy. On a year-over-year basis,
normalized EBITDAR decreased $27 million, or 17%, primarily due to a weaker flu season, continued pressure from payor
mix shift, and shorter lengths of stay, as well as transaction costs and operational disruption from the non-strategic asset sales.
HCRMC’s normalized fixed charge coverage ratio for the trailing twelve months ended March 31, 2016 was 1.06x and for
the trailing three months ended March 31, 2016 was 1.11x.
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Transaction Activity
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we completed 11 of our planned 50 non-strategic asset sales, generating
proceeds of $62 million, bringing total anticipated sales proceeds from all 50 assets to $350 million, including our sales of
22 non-strategic asset in 2015.  Of the 17 remaining non-strategic facilities, seven are expected to close by the end of 2016
and 10 are expected to be sold in the first quarter of 2017, for an aggregate amount of $62 million. In addition, we completed
the final transfer of the nine assets that were part of the HCRMC master lease amendment representing $275 million of value
received in the fee ownership of these recently built post-acute assets, by acquiring the remaining two assets for $92 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2016.
 
In February 2016, we acquired a new 64-bed memory care facility in Easton, Pennsylvania for $15 million that opened in
January 2016, which is located adjacent to our existing post-acute asset. The facility was developed by HCRMC and was
added to its master lease with a term of 16 years.
 
Accounting and Income Tax Update
We acquired the HCRMC DFL investments in 2011 through an acquisition of a C-Corporation, which was subject to federal
and state built-in gain tax, if all the assets were sold within 10 years, of up to $2 billion. At the time of the acquisition, we
intended to hold the assets for at least 10 years, at which time the assets would no longer be subject to the built-in gain tax.
 
In December 2015, the U.S. Federal Government passed legislation which permanently reduced the holding period, for
federal tax purposes, to five years. We satisfied the five year holding period requirement in April 2016. In June 2016, the U.S.
Department of the Treasury issued proposed regulations that would change the holding period back to 10 years, but effective
only for conversion transactions after August 8, 2016. As currently proposed, these regulations will not impact our properties
in the HCRMC DFL, as the HCRMC conversion transaction occurred on April 7, 2011. However, certain states still require a
10-year holding period and, as such, the assets are still subject to state built-in gain tax.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, the Company determined that it may sell assets during the next five years
and, therefore, recorded a deferred tax liability of $47 million representing its estimated exposure to state built-in gain tax.  
 
See Notes 1, 5, 6, 7, 10, 11 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of HCRMC, which
information is incorporated by reference herein.
 
Investment Transactions  
In January 2016, we acquired a portfolio of five private pay senior housing communities with 364 units and one skilled
nursing facility with 120 beds for $95 million. All of the communities were developed within the past two years and are
triple-net leased to four regional operators.
 
In July 2016, we acquired two Class A life science buildings totaling 136,000 square feet and a four-acre parcel of land in
San Diego, California for $49 million.
 
In September 2016, we acquired a portfolio of seven private pay senior housing communities for $186 million, including the
assumption of $74 million of debt maturing in 2044 at a 4.0% interest rate. Consisting of 526 assisted living and memory
care units, the portfolio will be managed by Senior Lifestyle Corporation in a 100% owned RIDEA structure which is
permitted by the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (commonly referred to as “RIDEA”).  
 
Developments and Redevelopments
Through November 1, 2016, we have pre-leased 73% of The Cove Phase I, which consists of two Class A buildings totaling
up to 250,000 square feet, expected to be delivered in the third quarter of 2016. In response to Phase I leasing success and
continued strong demand from life science users in South San Francisco, in February 2016, we commenced the $215 million
development, The Cove Phase II, which adds two Class A buildings totaling up to 230,000 square feet expected to be
delivered by the third quarter of 2017. Through November 1, 2016, we have pre-leased 50% of The Cove Phase II. In
response to The Cove Phase I and Phase II leasing success and continued strong demand from life science users in South
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San Francisco, we are commencing the $211 million development of Phase III, which adds two Class A buildings
representing up to 336,000 square  feet.
 
In June 2016, we commenced a $62 million multi-building development project encompassing 301,000 square feet at our
Ridgeview Business Park in Poway, California, which is 50% pre-leased. The project includes a $32 million build-to-suit
totaling 152,000 square feet for an existing tenant and is expected to be completed in 2018 as part of a larger leasing
transaction.
 
Disposition Transactions  
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we sold five post-acute/skilled nursing and two senior housing triple-net
(“SH NNN”) facilities for $130 million, a life science facility for $74 million, three medical office buildings for $20 million
and a senior housing operating portfolio (“SHOP”) facility for $6 million and recognized total gain on sales of $120 million.
 
In October 2016, we sold seven SH NNN facilities for $88 million. As part of the sale transaction we provided a $10 million
mezzanine loan with a five year term which accrues interest at 9%. Concurrently, we modified the in-place NNN master lease
to transition the operations of the remaining three properties to a new regional operator.
 
In October 2016, we entered into definitive agreements to sell 64 assets, currently under triple-net leases with Brookdale for
$1.125 billion to affiliates of Blackstone Real Estate Partners VIII L.P. The closing of this transaction is expected to occur in
the first quarter of 2017 and remains subject to regulatory and third party approvals and other customary closing conditions.
Additionally, in October 2016, we entered into definitive agreements for a multi-element transaction with Brookdale to: (i)
sell or transition 25 assets currently triple-net leased to Brookdale, for which Brookdale will receive a $10.5 million
annualized rent reduction upon sale or transition, (ii) re-allocate annual rent of $9.6 million from those 25 assets to the
remaining Brookdale triple-net lease portfolio and (iii) transition eight triple-net leased assets into RIDEA structures. The
closing of these transactions is expected to occur during the fourth quarter of 2016 and throughout 2017 and remain subject
to regulatory and third party approvals and other customary closing conditions.
 
In June 2016 and September 2016, we entered into a definitive agreements to sell two SHOP facilities out of RIDEA III for
$22 million (sold in October 2016) and $13 million, respectively. The remaining SHOP facility is expected to close in the
fourth quarter of 2016.
 
In June 2016 and September 2016, we received $51 million and $16 million from the monetization of three senior housing
development loans, recognizing $15 million and $4 million of incremental interest income, respectively, which represents
our participation in the appreciation of the underlying real estate assets.
 
In July 2016, we entered into a definitive agreement to sell four life science facilities in Salt Lake City, Utah for $76 million.
This transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2017.
 
In May 2016, we entered into a master contribution agreement with Brookdale to contribute our ownership interest in RIDEA
II to an unconsolidated JV owned by HCP and an investor group led by Columbia Pacific Advisors,  LLC (“CPA”) (the
“HCP/CPA JV”). The members have also agreed to recapitalize RIDEA II with an estimated $630 million of debt, of which an
estimated $365 million will be provided by a third-party and an estimated $265 million will be provided by HCP. In return,
we will receive an estimated $470 million in cash proceeds from the HCP/CPA JV and an estimated $265 million in note
receivables and retain an approximately 40% beneficial interest in RIDEA II (the note receivable and 40% beneficial interest
are herein referred to as the “RIDEA II Investments”). This transaction, upon completion, would result in HCP
deconsolidating the net assets of RIDEA II because it will not direct the activities that most significantly impact the venture.
The closing of these transactions is expected to occur in the fourth quarter of 2016 and remains subject to regulatory and
third-party approvals and other customary closing conditions.
 
In January 2016, we entered into a definitive agreement for purchase options that were exercised on eight life science
facilities in South San Francisco, California, to be sold in two tranches for $311 million and $269 million, respectively.
These transactions are expected to close in the fourth quarter of 2016 for the first tranche and 2018 for the second tranche.
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Financing Activities 
In September 2016, we repaid $400 million of maturing senior unsecured notes and assumed $74 million of mortgage debt
maturing in 2044 at a 4.0% interest rate.
 
In July 2016, we exercised a one-year extension option on our £137 million ($178 million at September 30, 2016), four-year
unsecured term loan that was entered into on July 30, 2012 (the “2012 Term Loan”). Based on our credit ratings at
September 30, 2016, the 2012 Term Loan accrues interest at a rate of British pound sterling (“GBP”) LIBOR plus 1.40%.
 
In February 2016, we repaid $500 million of maturing senior unsecured notes.
 
Dividends
 
On October 31, 2016, we announced that our Board of Directors declared a quarterly common stock cash dividend of $0.37
per share. The common stock dividend will be paid on November 25, 2016 to stockholders of record as of the close of
business on November 10, 2016.
 
Results of Operations
 
We evaluate our business and allocate resources among our reportable business segments: (i) senior housing triple-net (SH
NNN), (ii) senior housing operating portfolio (SHOP), (iii) life science, (iv) medical office and (v) QCP. Under the medical
office segment, we invest through the acquisition and development of medical office buildings (“MOBs”), which generally
require a greater level of property management. Otherwise, we primarily invest, through the acquisition and development of
real estate, in single tenant and operator properties. We have other non-reportable segments that are comprised primarily of
our U.K. care homes, debt investments and hospitals. We evaluate performance based upon (i) property net operating income
from continuing operations (“NOI”) and (ii) adjusted NOI (cash NOI) of the combined consolidated and unconsolidated
investments in each segment.
 
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
 
Net Operating Income (“NOI”)
NOI and adjusted NOI are non-U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) supplemental financial measures
used to evaluate the operating performance of real estate. We include properties from our consolidated portfolio, as well as
our pro-rata share of properties owned by our unconsolidated joint ventures in our NOI and adjusted NOI. We believe
providing this information assists investors and analysts in estimating the economic interest in our total portfolio of real
estate. Our pro-rata share information is prepared on a basis consistent with the comparable consolidated amounts, is
intended to reflect our proportionate economic interest in the operating results of properties in our portfolio and is calculated
by applying our actual ownership percentage for the period. We do not control the unconsolidated joint ventures, and the
pro-rata presentations of revenues and expenses included in NOI (see below) do not represent our legal claim to such items.
The joint venture members or partners are entitled to profit or loss allocations and distributions of cash flows according to the
joint venture agreements, which provide for such allocations generally according to their invested capital.
 
The presentation of pro-rata information has limitations, which include, but are not limited to, the following (i) the amounts
shown on the individual line items were derived by applying our overall economic ownership interest percentage determined
when applying the equity method of accounting and do not necessarily represent our legal claim to the assets and liabilities,
or the revenues and expenses and (ii) other companies in our industry may calculate their pro-rata interest differently,
limiting the usefulness as a comparative measure. Because of these limitations, the pro-rata financial information should not
be considered independently or as a substitute for our financial statements as reported under GAAP. We compensate for these
limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP financial statements, using the pro-rata financial information as a supplement.
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NOI is defined as rental and related revenues, including tenant recoveries, resident fees and services, and income from DFLs,
less property level operating expenses; NOI excludes all other financial statement amounts included in net income (loss) as
presented in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Management believes NOI provides relevant and useful
information because it reflects only income and operating expense items that are incurred at the property level and presents
them on an unleveraged basis. Adjusted NOI is calculated as NOI after eliminating the effects of straight-line rents, DFL non-
cash interest, amortization of market lease intangibles, non-refundable entrance fees and lease termination fees (“non-cash
adjustments”). Adjusted NOI is oftentimes referred to as “cash NOI.” We use NOI and adjusted NOI to make decisions about
resource allocations, to assess and compare property level performance, and to evaluate our same property portfolio (“SPP”),
as described below. We believe that net income (loss) is the most directly comparable GAAP measure to NOI. NOI should not
be viewed as an alternative measure of operating performance to net income (loss) as defined by GAAP since it does not
reflect various excluded items. Further, our definition of NOI may not be comparable to the definition used by other REITs or
real estate companies, as they may use different methodologies for calculating NOI. For a reconciliation of NOI and Adjusted
NOI to net income (loss) by segment, refer to Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
 
Operating expenses generally relate to leased medical office and life science properties and senior housing RIDEA properties.
We generally recover all or a portion of our leased medical office and life science property expenses through tenant
recoveries. We present expenses as operating or general and administrative based on the underlying nature of the expense.
Periodically, we review the classification of expenses between categories and make revisions based on changes in the
underlying nature of the expenses.
 
Same Property Portfolio
SPP NOI and adjusted NOI information allows us to evaluate the performance of our property portfolio under a consistent
population by eliminating changes in the composition of our portfolio of properties. We include properties from our
consolidated portfolio, as well as properties owned by our unconsolidated joint ventures in our SPP NOI and adjusted NOI
(see NOI above for further discussion regarding our use of pro-rata share information and its limitations). We identify our SPP
as stabilized properties that remained in operations and were consistently reported as leased properties or RIDEA properties
for the duration of the year-over-year comparison periods presented, excluding assets held for sale. Accordingly, it takes a
stabilized property a minimum of 12 months in operations under a consistent reporting structure to be included in our SPP.
Newly acquired operating assets are generally considered stabilized at the earlier of lease-up (typically when the tenant(s)
control(s) the physical use of at least 80% of the space) or 12 months from the acquisition date. Newly completed
developments and redevelopments are considered stabilized at the earlier of lease-up or 24 months from the date the property
is placed in service. SPP NOI excludes (i) certain non-property specific operating expenses that are allocated to each
operating segment on a consolidated basis and (ii) entrance fees and related activity such as deferred expenses, reserves and
management fees related to entrance fees. A property is removed from our SPP when it is sold, placed into redevelopment or
changes its reporting structure. For a reconciliation of SPP to total portfolio adjusted NOI and other relevant disclosures by
segment, refer to our Segment Analysis below. 
 
Funds From Operations (“FFO”)
We believe FFO applicable to common shares, diluted FFO applicable to common shares, and diluted FFO per common share
are important supplemental non-GAAP measures of operating performance for a REIT. Because the historical cost accounting
convention used for real estate assets utilizes straight-line depreciation (except on land), such accounting presentation
implies that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time. Since real estate values instead have historically
risen and fallen with market conditions, presentations of operating results for a REIT that use historical cost accounting for
depreciation could be less informative. The term FFO was designed by the REIT industry to address this issue.
 
FFO, as defined by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”), is net income (loss) applicable to
common shares (computed in accordance with GAAP), excluding gains or losses from sales of depreciable property,
including any current and deferred taxes directly associated with sales of depreciable property, impairments of, or related to,
depreciable real estate, plus real estate and other depreciation and amortization, and adjustments to compute our share of FFO
and FFO as adjusted (see below) from joint ventures. Adjustments for joint ventures are calculated to reflect our pro-rata share
of both our consolidated and unconsolidated joint ventures. We reflect our share of FFO for unconsolidated joint ventures by
applying our actual ownership percentage for the period to the applicable reconciling items on an entity
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by entity basis. We reflect our share for consolidated joint ventures in which we do not own 100% of the equity by adjusting
our FFO to remove the third party ownership share of the applicable reconciling items based on actual ownership percentage
for the applicable periods. Our pro-rata share information is prepared on a basis consistent with the comparable consolidated
amounts, is intended to reflect our proportionate economic interest in the operating results of properties in our portfolio and
is calculated by applying our actual ownership percentage for the period. We do not control the unconsolidated joint
ventures, and the pro-rata presentations of reconciling items included in FFO (see above) do not represent our legal claim to
such items. The joint venture members or partners are entitled to profit or loss allocations and distributions of cash flows
according to the joint venture agreements, which provide for such allocations generally according to their invested capital.  
 
The presentation of pro-rata information has limitations which include, but are not limited to, the following: (i) the amounts
shown on the individual line items were derived by applying our overall economic ownership interest percentage determined
when applying the equity method of accounting or allocating noncontrolling interests, and do not necessarily represent our
legal claim to the assets and liabilities, or the revenues and expenses; and (ii) other companies in our industry may calculate
their pro-rata interest differently, limiting the usefulness as a comparative measure. Because of these limitations, the pro-rata
financial information should not be considered independently or as a substitute for our financial statements as reported under
GAAP. We compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP financial statements, using the pro-rata
financial information as a supplement. FFO does not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with
GAAP, is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs and should not be considered an alternative to net
income (loss). We compute FFO in accordance with the current NAREIT definition; however, other REITs may report FFO
differently or have a different interpretation of the current NAREIT definition from ours.
 
In addition, we present FFO before the impact of non-comparable items including, but not limited to, severance-related
charges, litigation settlement charges, preferred stock redemption charges, impairments (recoveries) of non-depreciable
assets, prepayment costs (benefits) associated with early retirement or payment of debt, foreign currency remeasurement
losses (gains) and transaction-related items (“FFO as adjusted”). Prepayment costs (benefits) associated with early retirement
of debt include the write-off of unamortized deferred financing fees, or additional costs, expenses, discounts, make-whole
payments, penalties or premiums incurred as a result of early retirement or payment of debt. Transaction-related items include
acquisition and pursuit costs (e.g., due diligence and closing) and gains/charges incurred as a result of mergers and
acquisitions and lease amendment or termination activities. Management believes that FFO as adjusted provides a
meaningful supplemental measurement of our FFO run-rate and is frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested
parties in the evaluation of our performance as a REIT. At the same time that NAREIT created and defined its FFO measure
for the REIT industry, it also recognized that “management of each of its member companies has the responsibility and
authority to publish financial information that it regards as useful to the financial community.” We believe stockholders,
potential investors and financial analysts who review our operating performance are best served by an FFO run-rate earnings
measure that includes, in addition to adjustments made to arrive at the NAREIT defined measure of FFO, other adjustments to
net income (loss). FFO as adjusted is used by management in analyzing our business and the performance of our properties,
and we believe it is important that stockholders, potential investors and financial analysts understand this measure used by
management. We use FFO as adjusted to: (i) evaluate our performance in comparison with expected results and results of
previous periods, relative to resource allocation decisions, (ii) evaluate the performance of our management, (iii) budget and
forecast future results to assist in the allocation of resources, (iv) assess our performance as compared with similar real estate
companies and the industry in general and (v) evaluate how a specific potential investment will impact our future results.
Other REITs or real estate companies may use different methodologies for calculating an adjusted FFO measure, and
accordingly, our FFO as adjusted may not be comparable to those reported by other REITs. For a reconciliation of net income
(loss) to FFO and FFO as adjusted and other relevant disclosure, refer to “Non-GAAP Financial Measures Reconciliations”
below. 
 
Funds Available for Distribution (“FAD”)
FAD is defined as FFO as adjusted after excluding the impact of the following: (i) amortization of acquired market lease
intangibles, net, (ii) amortization of deferred compensation expense, (iii) amortization of deferred financing costs, net, (iv)
straight-line rents, (v) non-cash interest and depreciation related to DFLs and lease incentive amortization (reduction of
straight-line rents) and (vi) deferred revenues, excluding amounts amortized into rental income that are associated with
tenant funded improvements owned/recognized by us and up-front cash payments made by tenants to reduce their
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contractual rents. Also, FAD: (i) is computed after deducting recurring capital expenditures, including leasing costs and
second generation tenant and capital improvements, and (ii) includes lease restructure payments and adjustments to compute
our share of FAD from our unconsolidated joint ventures and those related to CCRC non-refundable entrance fees.
Adjustments for joint ventures are calculated to reflect our pro-rata share of both our consolidated and unconsolidated joint
ventures. We reflect our share of FAD for unconsolidated joint ventures by applying our actual ownership percentage for the
period to the applicable reconciling items on an entity by entity basis. We reflect our share for consolidated joint ventures in
which we do not own 100% of the equity by adjusting our FAD to remove the third party ownership share of the applicable
reconciling items based on actual ownership percentage for the applicable periods (see FFO above for further disclosure
regarding our use of pro-rata share information and its limitations). Other REITs or real estate companies may use different
methodologies for calculating FAD, and accordingly, our FAD may not be comparable to those reported by other REITs.
Although our FAD computation may not be comparable to that of other REITs, management believes FAD provides a
meaningful supplemental measure of our performance and is frequently used by analysts, investors, and other interested
parties in the evaluation of our performance as a REIT. We believe FAD is an alternative run-rate earnings measure that
improves the understanding of our operating results among investors and makes comparisons with: (i) expected results, (ii)
results of previous periods and (iii) results among REITS more meaningful. FAD does not represent cash generated from
operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP and is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash
needs as it excludes the following items which generally flow through our cash flows from operating activities: (i)
adjustments for changes in working capital or the actual timing of the payment of income or expense items that are accrued
in the period, (ii) transaction-related costs, (iii) litigation settlement expenses, (iv) severance-related expenses and (v) actual
cash receipts from interest income recognized on loans receivable (in contrast to our FAD adjustment to exclude non-cash
interest and depreciation related to our investments in direct financing leases). Furthermore, FAD is adjusted for recurring
capital expenditures, which are generally not considered when determining cash flows from operations or liquidity. FAD is a
non-GAAP supplemental financial measure and should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) determined in
accordance with GAAP. For a reconciliation of net income (loss) to FAD and other relevant disclosure, refer to “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures Reconciliations” below. 
 
Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 to the Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 and the Nine
Months Ended September 30, 2016 to the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015
 
Overview 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
The following table summarizes results for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in thousands
except per share data):
  Three Months Ended  Three Months Ended  Per
  September 30, 2016  September 30, 2015  Share
  Amount     Per Share     Amount     Per Share     Change
Net income applicable to common shares $ 150,924 $ 0.32 $ 115,046 $ 0.25 $ 0.07
FFO   304,387   0.65   263,370   0.57   0.08
FFO as adjusted 336,513 0.72 365,800 0.79 (0.07)
FAD   317,540      309,946       
 
Earnings per share (“EPS”) and FFO increased $0.07 and $0.08 per share, respectively, primarily as a result of: (i) impairment
charges during the third quarter of 2015 not repeated in the third quarter of 2016 and (ii) increased NOI from: (a) annual rent
escalations,  (b)  our third and fourth quarter 2015 and year-to-date 2016 consolidated acquisitions and (c)  developments
placed in service. The increase in EPS was partially offset by: (i) a reduction in income from our HCRMC investments as a
result of the sale of non-strategic assets during the second half of 2015 and the first half of 2016 and a change in income
recognition to a cash basis method beginning in January 2016, (ii) increased acquisition and pursuit costs from the Spin-Off
and (iii) severance-related charges primarily related to the departure of our former President and Chief Executive Officer.
 
FFO as adjusted decreased $0.07 per share primarily as a result of a reduction in income from our HCRMC investments due to
the sale of non-strategic assets during the second half of 2015 and the first half of 2016 and a change in income
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recognition to a cash basis method beginning in January 2016, partially offset by increased NOI from: (i) annual rent
escalations,  (ii) our third and fourth quarter 2015 and year-to-date 2016 consolidated acquisitions and (iii) developments
placed in service.  
 
FAD increased primarily as a result of increased adjusted NOI from: (i) annual rent escalations,  (ii) our third and fourth
quarter 2015 and year-to-date 2016 consolidated acquisitions and (iii) developments placed in service. The increase in FAD
was partially offset by a reduction in lease restructure payments received from our 2014 transaction with Brookdale.  
 
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015
The following table summarizes results for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in thousands except
per share data):
 
  Nine Months Ended  Nine Months Ended  Per
  September 30, 2016  September 30, 2015  Share
  Amount     Per Share     Amount     Per Share    Change
Net income applicable to common shares  $ 568,109  $ 1.22  $ 38,613  $ 0.08  $ 1.14
FFO   956,864   2.05   447,838   0.97   1.08
FFO as adjusted   1,006,166   2.15   1,095,234   2.36   (0.21)
FAD   964,437      948,257       
 
EPS increased $1.14 per share primarily as a result of: (i) impairment charges during 2015 not repeated in 2016, (ii) increased
NOI from: (a) annual rent escalations,  (b)  our 2015 and 2016 consolidated acquisitions, (c)  developments placed in service,
(iii) increased gains on sales of real estate due to a higher volume of disposition activities during 2016, (iv) a net termination
fee recognized in 2015 not repeated in 2016 and (v) increased incremental interest income from the payoff of participating
development loans. The increase in EPS was partially offset by the following: (i) a reduction in income from our HCRMC
investments as a result of the HCRMC lease amendment effective April 1, 2015, the sale of non-strategic assets during the
second half of 2015 and the first half of 2016, and a change in income recognition to a cash basis method beginning in
January 2016, (ii) increased income tax expense related to our estimated exposure to state built-in gain tax, (iii) increased
depreciation and amortization from our 2015 and 2016 acquisitions, (iv) a reduction in interest income from placing our Four
Seasons senior notes (“Four Seasons Notes”) on cost recovery status in the third quarter of 2015 (see Note 9 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements) and loan repayments during 2015 and 2016, (v) increased severance-related charges
during 2016 and (vi) a reduction of foreign currency remeasurement gains recognized as a result of effective hedges
designated in September 2015 (see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
 
FFO increased $1.08 per share primarily as a result of the aforementioned events impacting EPS plus increased depreciation
and amortization,  partially offset by gains on sales of real estate, both of which are adjustments from our calculation of FFO.
 
FFO as adjusted decreased $0.21 per share primarily as a result of: (i) a reduction in income from our HCRMC investments as
a result of the HCRMC lease amendment effective April 1, 2015, the sale of non-strategic assets during the second half of
2015 and the first quarter of 2016, and a change in income recognition to a cash basis method beginning in January 2016
and (ii) a reduction in interest income from placing our Four Seasons Notes on cost recovery status in the third quarter of
2015 and loan repayments during 2015 and 2016. The decrease in FFO as adjusted was partially offset by: (i) increased NOI
from: (a) annual rent escalations,  (b) our 2015 and 2016 consolidated acquisitions and (c) developments placed in service
and (ii) increased incremental interest income from the payoff of participating development loans.
 
FAD increased primarily as a result of: (i) increased NOI from: (a) annual rent escalations,  (b) our 2015 and 2016
consolidated acquisitions and (c) developments placed in service and (ii) increased incremental interest income from the
payoff of participating development loans. The increase in FAD was partially offset by: (i) decreased income from our
HCRMC investments as a result of the HCRMC lease amendment effective April 1, 2015 and the sale of non-strategic assets
during the second half of 2015 and the first half of 2016, (ii) decreased interest income from placing our Four Seasons Notes
on cost recovery status in the third quarter of 2015 and loan repayments during 2015 and 2016 and  (iii) increased leasing
costs and second generation capital expenditures.
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Segment Analysis 
The tables below provide selected operating information for our SPP and total property portfolio for each of our business
segments. Our SPP for the three months ended September 30, 2016 consists of 1,149 properties representing properties
acquired or placed in service and stabilized on or prior to July 1, 2015 and that remained in operation under a consistent
reporting structure through September 30, 2016. Our SPP for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 consists of 1,063
properties representing properties acquired or placed in service and stabilized on or prior to January 1, 2015 and that
remained in operation under a consistent reporting structure through September 30, 2016. Our total property portfolio
consists of 1,198 and 1,209 properties at September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
 
Senior Housing Triple-Net

The following table summarizes results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per unit data):
 
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 102,040  $ 102,129  $ (89) $ 104,262  $ 105,405  $ (1,143) 
Operating expenses   (604)  (384)  (220)  (1,794)  (871)  (923) 
NOI   101,436   101,745   (309)  102,468   104,534   (2,066) 
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   (1,014)  (2,358)  1,344   (1,003)  (2,312)  1,309  
Adjusted NOI  $ 100,422  $ 99,387  $ 1,035   101,465   102,222   (757) 
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (1,043)  (2,835)  1,792  
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 100,422  $ 99,387  $ 1,035  
Adjusted NOI % change         1.0 %          
Property count   287   287      292   296     
Average capacity (units)   27,681   27,691      28,378   28,771     
Average annual rent per unit  $ 14,598  $ 14,412     $ 14,555  $ 14,333     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and income from DFLs.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the three months ended September 30, 2015, we removed eight senior housing properties from SPP

that were sold or transitioned to a RIDEA structure.
(3) Represents average capacity as reported by the respective tenants or operators for the 12-month period and a quarter in arrears from the

periods presented.
 
SPP. SPP adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of annual rent escalations.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI decreased primarily as a result of two SH NNN facilities sold in 2016 and the
transition of six SH NNN facilities to a RIDEA structure (reported in our SHOP segment).  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI decreased as a result of SH NNN facilities sold or transitioned to a RIDEA structure,
partially offset by annual rent escalations.
 
The following table summarizes results as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per unit data):
 
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 308,759  $ 308,340  $ 419  $ 319,989  $ 317,532  $ 2,457  
Operating expenses   (1,973)  (1,177)  (796)  (5,521)  (2,655)  (2,866) 
NOI   306,786   307,163   (377)  314,468   314,877   (409) 
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   (8,640)  (10,008)  1,368   (8,464)  (8,853)  389  
Adjusted NOI  $ 298,146  $ 297,155  $ 991   306,004   306,024   (20) 
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (7,858)  (8,869)  1,011  
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 298,146  $ 297,155  $ 991  
Adjusted NOI % change         0.3 %          
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Property count   287   287      292   296     
Average capacity (units)   27,681   27,691      28,863   28,795     
Average annual rent per unit  $ 14,456  $ 14,365     $ 14,391  $ 14,293     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and income from DFLs.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we removed eight senior housing properties from SPP

that were sold or transitioned to a RIDEA structure.
(3) Represents average capacity as reported by the respective tenants or operators for the 12-month period and a quarter in arrears from the

periods presented.
 
SPP. SPP adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of annual rent escalations.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI decreased primarily as a result of: (i) two SH NNN facilities sold in 2016 and (ii)
the transition of six SH NNN facilities to a RIDEA structure (reported in our SHOP segment), partially offset by six SH NNN
facilities acquired in the first quarter of 2016.  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI decreased as a result of SH NNN facilities sold or transitioned to a RIDEA structure,
partially offset by annual rent escalations and six SH NNN facilities acquired in the first quarter of 2016.  
 
Senior Housing Operating Portfolio

The following table summarizes results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per unit data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Resident fees and services  $ 157,417  $ 150,837  $ 6,580  $ 170,739  $ 155,472  $ 15,267  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   45,939   44,488   1,451   50,973   45,891   5,082  
Operating expenses   (111,589)  (106,203)  (5,386)  (121,502)  (110,254)  (11,248) 
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (39,929)  (38,954)  (975)  (42,463)  (39,226)  (3,237) 
NOI   51,838   50,168   1,670   57,747   51,883   5,864  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI    —    —    —   4,608   6,984   (2,376) 
Adjusted NOI  $ 51,838  $ 50,168  $ 1,670   62,355   58,867   3,488  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (10,517)  (8,699)  (1,818) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 51,838  $ 50,168  $ 1,670  
Adjusted NOI % change         3.3 %          
Property count   120   120      143   126     
Average capacity (units)   21,892   17,758      23,575   18,053     
Average annual rent per unit  $ 3,157  $ 3,767     $ 3,527  $ 4,348     

(1) Average annual rent per unit for RIDEA properties is based on NOI.
 
SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of increased occupancy and rates for resident fees and services.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of fourth quarter 2015 acquisitions and the
transition of six SH NNN facilities to a RIDEA structure in the third quarter of 2016.  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.
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The following table summarizes results as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per unit data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Resident fees and services  $ 330,133  $ 313,242  $ 16,891  $ 500,704  $ 360,002  $ 140,702  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   130,261   125,078   5,183   152,424   134,047   18,377  
Operating expenses   (234,483)  (224,179)  (10,304)  (350,949)  (260,393)  (90,556)  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (113,333)  (108,324)  (5,009)  (125,244)  (112,395)  (12,849) 
NOI   112,578   105,817   6,761   176,935   121,261   55,674  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI    —    —    —   15,175   26,620   (11,445) 
Adjusted NOI  $ 112,578  $ 105,817  $ 6,761   192,110   147,881   44,229  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (79,532)  (42,064)  (37,468) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 112,578  $ 105,817  $ 6,761  
Adjusted NOI % change         6.4 %          
Property count   83   83      143   126     
Average capacity (units)   16,905   16,808      23,447   17,782     
Average annual rent per unit  $ 8,879  $ 8,394     $ 10,925  $ 11,089     

(1) Average annual rent per unit for RIDEA properties is based on NOI.
 
SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of increased occupancy and rates for resident fees and services.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased as a result of 2015 acquisitions, primarily our RIDEA III acquisition (see
Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.
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Life Science

The following table summarizes results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars and
square feet in thousands except per square foot data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 77,040  $ 74,288  $ 2,752  $ 90,847  $ 86,140  $ 4,707  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   1,904   1,782   122   1,929   1,840   89  
Operating expenses   (15,077)  (14,922)  (155)  (18,487)  (17,785)  (702) 
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (406)  (425)  19   (406)  (425)  19  
NOI   63,461   60,723   2,738   73,883   69,770   4,113  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   615   (1,803)  2,418   (314)  (2,673)  2,359  
Adjusted NOI  $ 64,076  $ 58,920  $ 5,156   73,569   67,097   6,472  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (9,493)  (8,177)  (1,316) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 64,076  $ 58,920  $ 5,156  
Adjusted NOI % change         8.8 %          
Property count   110   110      118   116     
Average occupancy   97.6 %  97.1 %     96.8 %  97.4 %    
Average occupied square feet   6,639   6,602      7,675   7,456     
Average annual total revenues

per occupied square foot  $ 48  $ 45     $ 48  $ 46     
Average annual base rent per occupied

square foot  $ 39  $ 37     $ 40  $ 38     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and tenant recoveries.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the three months ended September 30, 2015, we removed a life science facility that was sold and eight

life science facilities that were classified as held for sale.
 
SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of mark-to-market lease renewals and new leasing activity.
Additionally, SPP adjusted NOI increased as a result of annual rent escalations and a decline in rent abatements.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of life science acquisitions in 2015 and 2016 and
increased occupancy in a development placed in operation in 2016, partially offset by a life science facility sold in 2016. 
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.
 
During the three months ended September 30, 2016, 182,000 square feet of new and renewal leases commenced at an average
annual base rent of $42.06 per square foot, including 38,000 square feet related to a development placed in service at an
average annual base rent of $55.80 per square foot, compared to 233,000 square feet of expired leases with an average annual
base rent of $32.33 per square foot. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we classified 324,000 square feet as
real estate and related assets held for sale, net with an average annual base rent of $18.81 per square foot and acquired
properties with 61,000 occupied square feet with an average annual base rent of $47.79 per square foot.
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The following table summarizes results as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars and square
feet in thousands except per square foot data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 228,520  $ 220,194  $ 8,326  $ 269,994  $ 255,100  $ 14,894  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   5,545   5,198   347   5,628   5,257   371  
Operating expenses   (43,239)  (43,334)  95   (53,191)  (51,718)  (1,473) 
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (1,173)  (1,173)   —   (1,173)  (1,173)   —  
NOI   189,653   180,885   8,768   221,258   207,466   13,792  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   994   (5,688)  6,682   (1,545)  (8,635)  7,090  
Adjusted NOI  $ 190,647  $ 175,197  $ 15,450   219,713   198,831   20,882  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (29,066)  (23,634)  (5,432) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 190,647  $ 175,197  $ 15,450  
Adjusted NOI % change         8.8 %           
Property count   110   110      118   116     
Average occupancy   97.8 %  96.1 %     97.6 %  96.4 %    
Average occupied square feet   6,648   6,534      7,651   7,384     
Average annual total revenues per

occupied square foot  $ 47  $ 45     $ 48  $ 45     
Average annual base rent per

occupied square foot  $ 39  $ 37     $ 39  $ 38     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and tenant recoveries.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we removed a life science facility that was sold and eight

life science facilities that were classified as held for sale.
 
SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of mark-to-market lease renewals, new leasing activity and
increased occupancy. Additionally, SPP adjusted NOI increased as a result of annual rent escalations and a decline in rent
abatements.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of life science acquisitions in 2015 and 2016 and
increased occupancy in a development placed in operation in 2016, partially offset by a life science facility sold in 2016.
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, 1.1 million square feet of new and renewal leases commenced at an
average annual base rent of $28.70 per square foot, including 38,000 square feet related to a development placed in service at
an average annual base rent of $55.80 per square foot, compared to 1.1 million square feet of expired and terminated leases
with an average annual base rent of $24.60 per square foot. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we classified
781,000 square feet as real estate and related assets held for sale, net with an average annual base rent of $38.71 per square
foot, acquired properties with 61,000 occupied square feet with an average annual base rent of $47.79 per square foot and
disposed of 78,000 square feet with an average annual base rent of $57.18 per square foot.
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Medical Office

The following table summarizes results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars and
square feet in thousands except per square foot data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Three Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 105,187  $ 103,398  $ 1,789  $ 113,653  $ 108,898  $ 4,755  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   469   455   14   502   464   38  
Operating expenses   (40,087)  (39,063)  (1,024)  (44,738)  (43,008)  (1,730) 
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (148)  (150)  2   (148)  (150)  2  
NOI   65,421   64,640   781   69,269   66,204   3,065  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   124   (1,085)  1,209   (814)  (1,342)  528  
Adjusted NOI  $ 65,545  $ 63,555  $ 1,990   68,455   64,862   3,593  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (2,910)  (1,307)  (1,603) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 65,545  $ 63,555  $ 1,990  
Adjusted NOI % change         3.1 %          
Property count   217   217      226   226     
Average occupancy   92.0 %  92.1 %     91.6 %  91.1 %    
Average occupied square feet   15,069   15,046      15,817   15,572     
Average annual total revenues per

occupied square foot  $ 28  $ 27     $ 28  $ 27     
Average annual base rent per occupied

square foot  $ 23  $ 23     $ 24  $ 23     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and tenant recoveries.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the three months ended September 30, 2015, we removed three MOBs that were sold and five MOBs

that were placed into redevelopment.
 
SPP. SPP adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of annual rent escalations.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of increased occupancy in former redevelopment
and development properties that have been placed into service. 
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.  
 
During the three months ended September 30, 2016, 590,000 square feet of new and renewal leases commenced at an average
annual base rent of $23.03 per square foot, including 28,000 square feet related to redevelopments placed into service at an
average annual base rent of $21.35, compared to 577,000 square feet of expiring and terminated leases with an average
annual base rent of $23.56 per square foot. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we disposed of 11,000 square
feet with an average annual base rent of $9.16 per square foot.
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The following table summarizes results as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars and square
feet in thousands except per square foot data):
  SPP  Total Portfolio  
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change  
Rental revenues  $ 286,157  $ 279,961  $ 6,196  $ 331,881  $ 307,881  $ 24,000  
HCP share of unconsolidated JV revenues   1,406   1,368   38   1,503   1,395   108  
Operating expenses   (109,123)  (106,329)  (2,794)  (129,715)  (121,330)  (8,385) 
HCP share of unconsolidated JV share of

operating expenses   (452)  (467)  15   (452)  (467)  15  
NOI   177,988   174,533   3,455   203,217   187,479   15,738  
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   (76)  (2,437)  2,361   (2,361)  (4,326)  1,965  
Adjusted NOI  $ 177,912  $ 172,096  $ 5,816   200,856   183,153   17,703  
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            (22,944)  (11,057)  (11,887) 
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 177,912  $ 172,096  $ 5,816  
Adjusted NOI % change         3.4 %           
Property count   204   204      226   226     
Average occupancy   91.8 %  91.4 %     91.4 %  90.4 %    
Average occupied square feet   13,259   13,169      15,719   14,688     
Average annual total revenues per

occupied square foot  $ 29  $ 28     $ 28  $ 27     
Average annual base rent per

occupied square foot  $ 24  $ 24     $ 23  $ 23     

(1) Represents rental and related revenues and tenant recoveries.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we removed three MOBs that were sold and five MOBs

that were placed into redevelopment.
 
SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of increased occupancy. Additionally, SPP adjusted NOI
increased as a result of annual rent escalations.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of increased occupancy in former redevelopment
and development properties that have been placed into service and additional NOI from our MOB acquisitions in 2015,
partially offset by the sale of three MOBs.
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI increased based on the combined increases to SPP and Non-SPP discussed above.  
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, 1.8 million square feet of new and renewal leases commenced at an
average annual base rent of $22.85 per square foot, including 192,000 square feet related to redevelopments placed into
service at an average annual base rent of $24.80, compared to 1.5 million square feet of expiring and terminated leases with
an average annual base rent of $23.28 per square foot. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we disposed of
82,000 square feet with an average annual base rent of $23.94 per square foot.
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QCP

The following table summarizes results as of and for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per bed data):
 
  SPP  Total Portfolio
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Three Months Ended September 30,
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change
Rental revenues  $ 124,408  $ 143,495  $ (19,087) $ 123,716  $ 148,599  $ (24,883)
Operating expenses   (494)  (528)  34   (1,036)  (1,008)  (28)
NOI   123,914   142,967   (19,053)  122,680   147,591   (24,911)
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   172   (22,448)  22,620   172   (23,158)  23,330
Adjusted NOI  $ 124,086  $ 120,519  $ 3,567   122,852   124,433   (1,581)
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            1,234   (3,914)  5,148
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 124,086  $ 120,519  $ 3,567
Adjusted NOI % change         3.0 %         
Property count   337   337      338   360    
Average capacity (beds)    39,624   38,535      39,688   41,891    
Average annual rent per bed  $ 12,576  $ 12,565     $ 12,486  $ 11,978    

(1) Represents rental and related revenues, tenant recoveries and income from DFLs.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the three months ended September 30, 2015, we removed 32 properties from SPP that were sold.
(3) Represents capacity as reported by the respective tenants or operators for the 12-month period and a quarter in arrears from the periods

presented. Certain operators in our hospital portfolio are not required under their respective leases to provide operational data.
 
SPP. SPP NOI decreased as a result of a change in income recognition to a cash basis method beginning in 2016 on our
HCRMC DFL investments. SPP adjusted NOI increased primarily as a result of annual rent escalations.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI decreased as a result of a reduction in income from our HCRMC DFL investments
due to the sale of non-strategic assets during the second half of 2015 and first quarter of 2016.  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI decreased primarily as a result of the non-strategic asset sales underlying our HCRMC
DFL investments during the second half of 2015 and the first quarter of 2016.
 
The following table summarizes results as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (dollars in
thousands except per bed data):
 
  SPP  Total Portfolio
  Nine Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2016   2015   Change   2016   2015   Change
Rental revenues  $ 369,700  $ 437,628  $ (67,928) $ 367,714  $ 454,740  $ (87,026)
Operating expenses   (1,460)  (1,446)  (14)  (3,068)  (2,898)  (170)
NOI   368,240   436,182   (67,942)  364,646   451,842   (87,196)
Non-cash adjustments to NOI   376   (63,608)  63,984   375   (65,807)  66,182
Adjusted NOI  $ 368,616  $ 372,574  $ (3,958)  365,021   386,035   (21,014)
Non-SPP adjusted NOI            3,595   (13,461)  17,056
SPP adjusted NOI           $ 368,616  $ 372,574  $ (3,958)
Adjusted NOI % change         (1.1)%         
Property count   337   337      338   360    
Average capacity (beds)    39,572   38,535      39,690   41,943    
Average annual rent per bed  $ 12,469  $ 12,941     $ 12,365  $ 12,364    

(1) Represents rental and related revenues,  tenant recoveries and income from DFLs.
(2) From our past presentation of SPP for the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we removed 32 properties from SPP that were sold.
(3) Represents capacity as reported by the respective tenants or operators for the 12-month period and a quarter in arrears from the periods

presented. Certain operators in our hospital portfolio are not required under their respective leases to provide operational data.
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SPP. SPP NOI and adjusted NOI decreased primarily as a result of a reduction in income from our HCRMC DFL investments
as a result of the HCRMC lease amendment effective April 1, 2015, partially offset by annual rent escalations.  In addition,
SPP NOI decreased as a result of a change in income recognition to a cash basis method beginning in 2016.
 
Non-SPP. Non-SPP NOI and adjusted NOI decreased as a result of a reduction in income from our HCRMC DFL investments
due to the sale of non-strategic assets during the second half of 2015 and first quarter of 2016.  
 
Total Portfolio. NOI and adjusted NOI decreased primarily as a result of the non-strategic asset sales underlying our HCRMC
DFL investments during the second half of 2015 and the first quarter of 2016.  
 
The Spin-Off, completed on October 31, 2016, resulted in us disposing of our entire QCP segment, including allocated
goodwill. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2016, the historical financial results of the QCP segment will be reflected in our
consolidated financial statements as discontinued operations for all periods presented (see Note 1 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
 
The following tables summarize HCRMC’s consolidated financial information (in millions):
 
  September 30,  December 31,  
     2016     2015  
Real estate and other property, net  $ 2,554.1  $ 2,628.5  
Cash and cash equivalents   163.7   125.0  
Goodwill, intangible and other assets, net   4,537.5   4,598.3  

Total assets  $ 7,255.3  $ 7,351.8  
        
Debt and financing obligations  $ 5,767.2  $ 5,836.4  
Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other   1,028.3   982.9  
Redeemable preferred stock   2.1   2.1  
Total equity   457.7   530.4  

Total liabilities and equity  $ 7,255.3  $ 7,351.8  
 

  
Three Months Ended

September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30, 
  2016  2015   2016   2015  
Revenues  $ 951.4  $ 1,009.6  $ 2,893.6  $ 3,091.1  
Operating, general and administrative expense   (838.8)  (885.7)  (2,527.4)  (2,667.8) 
Depreciation and amortization expense   (32.5)  (33.3)  (97.6)  (104.6) 
Interest expense   (114.8)  (119.7)  (345.0)  (339.9) 
Other income, net   5.4   2.6   13.7   7.5  
Loss on disposal of assets   (10.0)  (76.0)  (12.6)  (76.0) 
Impairment    —    —   (6.0)   —  

Loss from continuing operations before income tax
benefit   (39.3)  (102.5)  (81.3)  (89.7) 

Income tax benefit   0.6   13.3   8.8   7.7  
Loss from continuing operations   (38.7)  (89.2)  (72.5)  (82.0) 

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes    —   2.0    —   (4.0) 
Net loss  $ (38.7) $ (87.2) $ (72.5) $ (86.0) 

 
 
 
Other Income and Expense Items 

Interest income
Interest income decreased $18 million to $71 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease was
primarily the result of (i) a reduction in interest income from placing our Four Seasons Notes on cost recovery status in
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the third quarter of 2015 (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements) and (ii) paydowns in our loan portfolio,
partially offset by: (i) incremental interest income from the payoff of a participating development loan, (ii) additional interest
income from the Four Seasons senior secured term loan purchased in the fourth quarter of 2015 and (iii) additional fundings
in our loan portfolio (see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
 
Interest expense
Interest expense decreased $4 million to $118 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease was
primarily the result of mortgage debt that was repaid during 2015 and 2016, primarily in our SH NNN segment, partially
offset by increased borrowings under our line of credit facility. The increased borrowings were used to refinance our debt
maturities. The increase in interest expense from 2015 senior unsecured notes issuances was offset by the decrease in interest
expense from 2015 and 2016 senior unsecured notes payoffs.
 
Interest expense increased $4 million to $361 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The increase was
primarily the result of: (i) $2 billion of aggregate senior unsecured notes issuances during 2015, offset by $1.3 billion of
aggregate senior unsecured notes payoffs during 2015 and 2016 and (ii) increased borrowings under our line of credit
facility, partially offset by mortgage debt repayments during 2015 and 2016, primarily from mortgage debt secured by
properties in our SH NNN segment. The increased borrowings were used to fund our investment activities and to refinance
our debt maturities.
 
The following table sets forth information with respect to our debt, excluding premiums and discounts (dollars in thousands):
 
  As of September 30,  
  2016     2015  
Balance:        
Fixed rate  $ 9,343,587  $ 10,081,236  
Variable rate   1,549,899   1,000,824  

Total  $ 10,893,486  $ 11,082,060  
Percent of total debt:        
Fixed rate   85.8 %  91.0 %
Variable rate   14.2 %  9.0 %

Total   100.0 %  100.0 %
Weighted average interest rate at end of period:        
Fixed rate   4.65 %  4.70 %
Variable rate   1.84 %  1.52 %

Total   4.25 %  4.41 %

(1) At September 30, 2016 and 2015, excludes $94 million and $95 million, respectively, of other debt that represents non-interest bearing life
care bonds and occupancy fee deposits at certain of our senior housing facilities and demand notes that have no scheduled maturities. At
September 30, 2016 and 2015, principal balances of $70 million and $71 million, respectively, of variable-rate mortgages are presented as
fixed-rate debt as the interest payments were swapped from variable to fixed (see Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). At
September 30, 2016 and 2015, principal balances of £220 million ($286 million) and £357 million ($541 million) of term loans,
respectively, are presented as fixed-rate debt as the interest payments were swapped from variable to fixed (see Note 19 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

 
Our exposure to interest rate fluctuations related to our variable rate indebtedness is substantially mitigated by our interest
rate swap contracts. For a more detailed discussion of our interest rate risk, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk” in Item 3 below.
 
Depreciation and amortization expense
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $8 million to $143 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016.
The increase was primarily the result of the impact of acquisitions.
 
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $56 million to $426 million for the nine months ended September 30,
2016. The increase was primarily the result of the impact of acquisitions.
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General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses increased $14 million to $35 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016.
The increase was primarily the result of $14 million of severance-related charges primarily resulting from the departure of our
former President and Chief Executive Officer in July 2016.  
 
General and administrative expenses increased $9 million to $83 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
 The increase was primarily the result of: (i) $14 million of severance-related charges primarily resulting from the departure of
our former President and Chief Executive Officer in July 2016 and (ii) higher professional fees in 2016, partially offset by a
$7 million severance-related charge resulting from the resignation of our former Executive Vice President and Chief
Investment Officer in June 2015.  
 
Acquisition and pursuit costs
Acquisition and pursuit costs increased $16 million to $18 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016. The
increase was primarily a result of the Spin-Off (see Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).  
 
Acquisition and pursuit costs increased $11 million to $35 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016.  The
increase was primarily a result of the Spin-Off, partially offset by lower levels of transactional activity in 2016 compared to
the same period in 2015.
 
We expect to incur total transaction costs relating to the Spin-Off of approximately $155 million. Additionally, on November
1, 2016, we issued notices of redemption for $500 million of 6.00% senior unsecured notes due 2017 and $600 million of
6.70% senior unsecured notes due 2018 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). We expect to incur total
prepayment costs of $47 million associated with early retirement of debt,  including the aforementioned senior unsecured
notes’ redemptions.
 
Impairments
During the three months ended September 30, 2015, we recognized an impairment charge of $70 million related to our
investment in the Four Seasons Notes (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). There were no impairment
charges recognized during the three months ended September 30, 2016.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we recognized the following impairment charges: (i) $478 million
related to our DFL investments with HCRMC, (ii) $112 million related to our investment in the Four Seasons Notes and (iii)
$3 million related to a MOB (see Notes 5 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). There were no impairment charges
recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
 
Gain on sales of real estate
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we sold a portfolio of five facilities in one of our non-reportable
segments and two SH NNN facilities for $130 million, a life science facility for $74 million, three MOBs for $20 million and
a SHOP facility for $6 million, recognizing total gain on sales of $120 million.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we sold the following assets: (i) nine SH NNN facilities for $60 million,
resulting from Brookdale’s exercise of its purchase option received as part of a transaction with Brookdale in 2014, (ii) a
parcel of land in its life science segment for $11 million and (iii) a MOB for $400,000, recognizing total gain on sales of $6
million.
 
Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net increased $2 million to income of $1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016.
The increase was primarily the result of a reduction of foreign currency remeasurement losses from remeasuring assets and
liabilities denominated in GBP to USD as a result of effective hedges designated in September 2015 (see Note 19 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements).
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Other income, net decreased $8 million to $5 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The decrease was
primarily the result of reduction of foreign currency remeasurement gains from remeasuring assets and liabilities
denominated in GBP to USD as a result of effective hedges designated in September 2015 (see Note 19 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
 
Income tax expense
Income tax expense increased $55 million to $49 million of expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. The
increase was primarily the result of recognizing tax liabilities of $53 million representing our estimated exposure to state
built-in gain tax, of which $47 million is related to our HCRMC DFL investments (see Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements).
 
Equity (loss) income from unconsolidated joint ventures
During the three months ended September 30, 2016, we recognized equity loss from unconsolidated joint ventures of
$2 million compared to equity income from unconsolidated joint ventures of $8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2015. The decrease was primarily the result of a change in income recognition on our HCRMC investments to
a cash basis method beginning in 2016 within our QCP segment.
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we recognized equity loss from unconsolidated joint ventures of
$4 million compared to equity income from unconsolidated joint ventures of $34 million for the nine months ended
September 30, 2015. The decrease was primarily the result of a change in income recognition on our HCRMC investments to
a cash basis method beginning in 2016 within our QCP segment.
 
Impairment of investments in unconsolidated joint ventures
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, we recognized an impairment charge of $27 million related to
our equity investment in HCRMC within our QCP segment (see Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). There
were no impairment charges recognized during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
We anticipate: (i) funding recurring operating expenses, (ii) meeting debt service requirements including principal payments
and maturities, and (iii) satisfying our distributions to our stockholders and non-controlling interest members, for the next 12
months primarily by using cash flow from operations, available cash balances and cash from our various financing activities.
 
Our principal investing needs for the next 12 months are to:
 
· fund capital expenditures, including tenant improvements and leasing costs; and

· fund future acquisition, transactional and development activities.
 
We anticipate satisfying these future investing needs using one or more of the following:
 
· issuance of common or preferred stock;

· issuance of additional debt, including unsecured notes and mortgage debt;

· draws on our credit facilities; and/or

· sale or exchange of ownership interests in properties.
 
Access to capital markets impacts our cost of capital and ability to refinance maturing indebtedness, as well as our ability to
fund future acquisitions and development through the issuance of additional securities or secured debt. Credit ratings impact
our ability to access capital and directly impact our cost of capital as well. For example, as noted below, our revolving line of
credit facility accrues interest at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR plus a margin that depends upon our credit ratings. We also
pay a facility fee on the entire revolving commitment that depends upon our credit ratings. As of

62

 

Source: HCP, INC., 10-Q, November 01, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Table of Contents

October 28, 2016, we had a credit rating of BBB from Fitch, Baa2 from Moody’s and BBB from S&P Global on our senior
unsecured debt securities. Additionally, in October 2016,  Fitch revised our outlook to stable.
 
Cash Flow Summary

The following summary discussion of our cash flows is based on the consolidated statements of cash flows and is not meant
to be an all-inclusive discussion of the changes in our cash flows for the periods presented below.
 
Cash and cash equivalents were $133 million and $347 million at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively,
representing a decrease of $214 million. The following table sets forth changes in cash flows (in thousands):
 
  Nine Months Ended September 30,
     2016     2015     Change
Net cash provided by operating activities  $ 998,632  $ 867,660  $ 130,972
Net cash used in investing activities   (314,159)  (1,685,585)  1,371,426
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities   (897,328)  755,880   (1,653,208)
 
The increase in operating cash flow is primarily the result of our 2015 and 2016 acquisitions, annual rent increases and
increased working capital. Our cash flow from operations is dependent upon the occupancy levels of our buildings, rental
rates on leases, our tenants’ performance on their lease obligations, the level of operating expenses and other factors.
 
The following are significant investing and financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2016:
 
· made investments of $766 million (development and acquisition of real estate, and investments in DFLs, unconsolidated

joint ventures and loans) and received proceeds of $433 million primarily from real estate and DFL sales;

· paid dividends on common stock of $806 million, which were generally funded by cash provided by our operating
activities and cash on hand; and

· raised proceeds of $1.2 billion primarily from our net borrowings under our bank line of credit and repaid $1.3 billion
under our bank line of credit, senior unsecured notes and mortgage debt.
 

Debt

Bank Line of Credit and Term Loans
Our $2.0 billion unsecured revolving line of credit facility (the “Facility”) matures on March 31, 2018 and contains a one-
year extension option. Borrowings under the Facility accrue interest at LIBOR plus a margin that depends on our credit
ratings. We pay a facility fee on the entire revolving commitment that depends on our credit ratings. Based on our credit
ratings at October  28, 2016, the margin on the Facility was 1.05%, and the facility fee was 0.20%. The Facility also includes
a feature that allows us to increase the borrowing capacity by an aggregate amount of up to $500 million, subject to securing
additional commitments from existing lenders or new lending institutions. At September 30, 2016, we had $1.4 billion,
including £275 million ($357 million), outstanding under the Facility with a weighted average effective interest rate of
1.85%.
 
In July 2016, we exercised a one-year extension option on our 2012 Term Loan. Based on our credit ratings at July 29, 2016,
the 2012 Term Loan accrues interest at a rate of GBP LIBOR plus 1.40%. We also have a £220 million ($286 million at
September 30, 2016) four-year unsecured term loan that accrues interest at a rate of GBP LIBOR plus 1.15%, subject to
adjustments based on our credit ratings.
 
The Facility and term loans contain certain financial restrictions and other customary requirements, including cross-default
provisions to other indebtedness. Among other things, these covenants, using terms defined in the agreements, (i) limit the
ratio of Consolidated Total Indebtedness to Consolidated Total Asset Value to 60%, (ii) limit the ratio of Secured Debt to
Consolidated Total Asset Value to 30%, (iii) limit the ratio of Unsecured Debt to Consolidated Unencumbered Asset Value to
60% and (iv) require a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage ratio of 1.5x. The Facility and term loans also require a
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Minimum Consolidated Tangible Net Worth of $9.5 billion at September 30, 2016, which requirement was subsequently
reduced, via an amendment to the Facility, to $6.5 billion effective upon the completion of the Spin-Off of QCP on October
31, 2016. At September 30, 2016, we were in compliance with each of these restrictions and requirements.
 
Senior Unsecured Notes
At September 30, 2016, we had senior unsecured notes outstanding with an aggregate principal balance of $8.3 billion.
Effective interest rates on the notes ranged from 2.79% to 6.88% with a weighted average effective interest rate of 4.63% and
a weighted average maturity of six years at September 30, 2016. The senior unsecured notes contain certain covenants
including limitations on debt, maintenance of unencumbered assets, cross-acceleration provisions and other customary terms.
We believe we were in compliance with these covenants at September 30, 2016.
 
Additionally, on November 1, 2016, we issued notices of redemption for $500 million of 6.00% senior unsecured notes due
2017 and $600 million of 6.70% senior unsecured notes due 2018 (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
 
Mortgage Debt
At September 30, 2016, we had mortgage debt outstanding with an aggregate principal balance of $758 million, which is
secured by 46 healthcare facilities (including redevelopment properties) with a carrying value of $1.1 billion. Effective
interest rates on the mortgage debt ranged from 3.05% to 8.20% with a weighted average effective interest rate of 5.79% and
a weighted average maturity of five years at September 30, 2016.
 
Mortgage debt generally requires monthly principal and interest payments, is collateralized by real estate assets and is
generally non-recourse. Mortgage debt typically restricts transfer of the encumbered assets, prohibits additional liens,
restricts prepayment, requires payment of real estate taxes, requires maintenance of the assets in good condition, requires
maintenance of insurance on the assets, and includes conditions to obtain lender consent to enter into and terminate material
leases. Some of the mortgage debt is also cross-collateralized by multiple assets and may require tenants or operators to
maintain compliance with the applicable leases or operating agreements of such real estate assets.
 
Equity

At September 30, 2016, we had 468 million shares of common stock outstanding, equity totaled $9.6 billion, and our equity
securities had a market value of $18.0 billion.
 
At September 30, 2016, non-managing members held an aggregate of 4 million units in five limited liability companies
(“DownREITs”) for which we are the managing member. The DownREIT units are exchangeable for an amount of cash
approximating the then-current market value of shares of our common stock or, at our option, shares of our common stock
(subject to certain adjustments, such as stock splits and reclassifications).
 
At-The-Market Program
In June 2015, we established an At-The-Market Program, in connection with the renewal of our Shelf Registration Statement.
Under this program, we may sell shares of our common stock from time to time having an aggregate gross sales price of up to
$750 million through a consortium of banks acting as sales agents or directly to the banks acting as principals. There was no
activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and, as of September 30, 2016, shares of our common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of $676 million were available for sale under the At-The-Market Program. Actual future
sales will depend upon a variety of factors, including but not limited to market conditions, the trading price of our common
stock and our capital needs. We have no obligation to sell the remaining shares available for sale under our program.
 
Shelf Registration
We filed a prospectus with the SEC as part of a registration statement on Form S-3ASR, using a shelf registration process,
which expires in June 2018. Under the “shelf” process, we may sell any combination of the securities described in the
prospectus through one or more offerings. The securities described in the prospectus include common stock, preferred stock,
depositary shares, debt securities and warrants.
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Capital Market Outlook
The capital markets have facilitated our continued growth, including our international expansion. For the 21 months ended
September 30, 2016, we have raised $2.0 billion in senior unsecured notes and originated a £220 million ($333 million) four-
year unsecured term loan. The capital raised, in combination with available cash and borrowing capacity under our Facility,
supported $2.8 billion of investments completed during the 21 months ended September 30, 2016. We believe our equity
and debt investors, as well as our banking relationships, will provide additional capital as we pursue new investment
opportunities.
 
Contractual Obligations
 
The following table summarizes our material contractual payment obligations and commitments at September 30, 2016 (in
thousands):
 
      Less than          More than  
  Total  One Year  2017-2018  2019-2020  Five Years  
Bank line of credit  $ 1,372,032  $  —  $ 1,372,032  $  —  $  —  
Term loans   463,493    —   177,867   285,626    —  
Senior unsecured notes   8,300,000    —   1,350,000   1,250,000   5,700,000  
Mortgage debt   757,961   30,626   591,831   7,746   127,758  
U.K. loan commitments   48,602   32,874   15,728    —    —  
Construction loan commitments   466   466    —    —    —  
Development commitments   101,535   52,078   47,297   2,160    —  
Ground and other operating leases   397,587   1,857   13,654   13,235   368,841  
Interest   2,436,621   70,011   738,907   548,123   1,079,580  

Total  $ 13,878,297  $ 187,912  $ 4,307,316  $ 2,106,890  $ 7,276,179  

(1) Excludes $94 million of other debt that represents Life Care Bonds and Demand Notes that have no scheduled maturities and $100 million
of Capital Addition Financing (as defined in the amended master lease with HCRMC) for which the timing and amount of payments are
uncertain.

(2) Includes £275 million ($357 million) translated to USD.
(3) Represents £357 million translated to USD.
(4) Represents £37 million translated to USD for commitments to fund our U.K. loan facilities.
(5) Represents commitments to finance development projects and related working capital financings.
(6) Represents construction and other commitments for developments in progress.
(7) Interest on variable-rate debt is calculated using rates in effect at September 30, 2016.

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
We own interests in certain unconsolidated joint ventures as described in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
Except in limited circumstances, our risk of loss is limited to our investment in the joint venture and any outstanding loans
receivable (see Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). In addition, we have certain properties which serve as
collateral for debt that is owed by a previous owner of certain of our facilities. Our risk of loss for these certain properties is
limited to the outstanding debt balance plus penalties, if any. We have no other material off-balance sheet arrangements that
we expect would materially affect our liquidity and capital resources except those described above under “Contractual
Obligations.”
 
Inflation
 
Our leases often provide for either fixed increases in base rents or indexed escalators, based on the Consumer Price Index or
other measures, and/or additional rent based on increases in the tenants’ operating revenues. Most of our MOB leases require
the tenant to pay a share of property operating costs such as real estate taxes, insurance and utilities. Substantially all of our
senior housing, life science, post-acute/skilled nursing and hospital leases require the tenant or operator to pay all of the
property operating costs or reimburse us for all such costs. We believe that inflationary increases in expenses will be offset, in
part, by the tenant or operator expense reimbursements and contractual rent increases described above.
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Non-GAAP Financial Measures Reconciliations
 
The following is a reconciliation from net income applicable to common shares, the most directly comparable financial
measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to FFO, FFO as adjusted and FAD (in thousands, except per
share data):
 

  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,  
  2016   2015     2016     2015  
Net income applicable to common shares  $ 150,924  $ 115,046  $ 568,109  $ 38,613  

Depreciation and amortization   142,874   134,704   425,582   369,629  
Other depreciation and amortization   2,986   5,204   8,922   17,016  
Loss (gain) on sales of real estate   9   (52)  (119,605)  (6,377) 
Taxes associated with real estate
disposition   257    —   53,434    —  
Impairment of real estate    —    —    —   2,948  
Equity loss (income) from unconsolidated

joint ventures   2,053   (8,314)  4,028   (33,916) 
FFO from unconsolidated joint ventures   10,554   20,530   32,104   69,322  
Noncontrolling interests’ and participating

securities’ share in earnings   3,115   2,908   10,517   9,586  
Noncontrolling interests’ and participating

securities’ share in FFO   (8,385)  (6,656)  (26,227)  (18,983) 
FFO applicable to common shares   304,387   263,370   956,864   447,838  

Distributions on dilutive convertible units   2,376   2,365   10,622    —  
Diluted FFO applicable to common shares  $ 306,763  $ 265,735  $ 967,486  $ 447,838  
              
Diluted FFO per common share  $ 0.65  $ 0.57  $ 2.05  $ 0.97  
              
Weighted average shares used to calculate

diluted FFO per common share   471,994   467,772   473,011   462,302  
 
Impact of adjustments to FFO:              
Other impairments  $  —  $ 96,856  $  —  $ 617,207  
Transaction-related items   17,568   1,538   34,570   28,973  
Severance-related charges   14,464    —   14,464   6,713  
Foreign currency remeasurement losses (gains)   94   4,036   268   (5,497) 
  $ 32,126  $ 102,430  $ 49,302  $ 647,396  
              
FFO as adjusted applicable to common shares  $ 336,513  $ 365,800  $ 1,006,166  $ 1,095,234  

Distributions on dilutive convertible units
and other   3,467   3,443   10,549   10,198  

Diluted FFO as adjusted applicable to common
shares  $ 339,980  $ 369,243  $ 1,016,715  $ 1,105,432  

              
Diluted FFO as adjusted per common share  $ 0.72  $ 0.79  $ 2.15  $ 2.36  
              
Weighted average shares used to calculate

diluted FFO as adjusted per common share   473,692   469,590   473,011   468,320  
 
 

66

 

(1)

(2)

Source: HCP, INC., 10-Q, November 01, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Table of Contents

   
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2016  2015  2016  2015
FFO as adjusted applicable to common shares  $ 336,513  $ 365,800  $ 1,006,166  $ 1,095,234

Amortization of market lease intangibles, net   (421)  (344)  (1,393)  (980)
Amortization of deferred compensation   3,389   5,344   12,894   18,174
Amortization of deferred financing costs   5,037   5,224   15,598   14,950
Straight-line rents   (3,295)  (7,069)  (14,412)  (24,817)
DFL non-cash interest   637   (22,662)  1,967   (64,176)
Other depreciation and amortization   (2,986)  (5,204)  (8,921)  (17,016)
Deferred revenues – tenant improvement
related   (459)  (746)  (1,451)  (2,137)
Deferred revenues – additional rents   240   254   424   641
Leasing costs and tenant and capital

improvements   (22,722)  (23,212)  (62,774)  (50,879)
Lease restructure payments   1,868   6,067   14,480   16,368
Joint venture adjustments – CCRC entrance
fees   7,201   8,386   22,424   22,048
Joint venture and other FAD adjustments   (7,462)  (21,892)  (20,565)  (59,153)

FAD applicable to common shares  $ 317,540  $ 309,946  $ 964,437  $ 948,257
Distributions on dilutive convertible units   3,513   3,547   10,622   10,683

Diluted FAD applicable to common shares  $ 321,053  $ 313,493  $ 975,059  $ 958,940
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The following is a reconciliation, on a per share basis, from net income (loss) applicable to common shares, the most directly
comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, to FFO and FFO as adjusted:
 
  Three Months Ended September 30,  Nine Months Ended September 30,
  2016     2015     2016     2015
Net income applicable to common shares  $ 0.32  $ 0.25  $ 1.22  $ 0.08

Depreciation and amortization   0.31   0.29   0.92   0.80
Other depreciation and amortization   0.01   0.01   0.02   0.04
Taxes related to real estate disposition and gain on

sales of real estate    —    —   (0.14)  (0.01)
Joint venture and participating securities FFO

adjustments   0.01   0.02   0.03   0.06
Diluted FFO applicable to common shares  $ 0.65  $ 0.57  $ 2.05  $ 0.97

Other impairments    —   0.21    —   1.32
Transaction-related items and other   0.04    —   0.07   0.06
Severance-related charges   0.03    —   0.03   0.02
Foreign currency remeasurement losses (gains)    —   0.01    —   (0.01)

FFO as adjusted applicable to common shares  $ 0.72  $ 0.79  $ 2.15  $ 2.36

(1) For the three months ended September 30, 2015, other impairments include: (i) $70 million related to our Four Seasons Notes and (ii) $27
million related to our equity investment in HCRMC. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, other impairments include: (i) $478
million related to our DFL investments with HCRMC, (ii) $112 million related to our Four Seasons Notes and (iii) $27 million related to our
equity investment in HCRMC.

(2) For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, severance-related charges primarily relate to the departure of our former
President and Chief Executive Officer. For the nine months ended September 30, 2015, severance-related charge relates to the resignation of
our former Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer.

(3) Excludes $6 million related to the acceleration of deferred compensation for restricted stock units and stock options that vested upon the
departure of our former President and Chief Executive Officer, which is included in the severance-related charges for the three and nine
months ended September 30, 2016. Excludes $3 million related to the acceleration of deferred compensation for restricted stock units and
stock options that vested upon the resignation of our former Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer, which is included in the
severance-related charge for the nine months ended September 30, 2015.

(4) Our equity investment in HCRMC is accounted for using the equity method, which requires an elimination of DFL income that is
proportional to our ownership in HCRMC. Further, our share of earnings from HCRMC (equity income) increases for the corresponding
elimination of related lease expense recognized at the HCRMC entity level, which we present as a non-cash joint venture FAD adjustment.
Beginning in January 2016, equity income is recognized only if cash distributions are received from HCRMC. As a result, we no longer
eliminate our proportional ownership share of income from DFLs to equity income (loss) from unconsolidated joint ventures for our equity
investment in HCRMC.

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to use judgment in the application of
accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. We base estimates on the best information available to us
at the time, our experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These
estimates affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If our judgment or
interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions or other matters had been different, it is possible
that different accounting would have been applied, resulting in a different presentation of our consolidated financial
statements. From time to time, we re-evaluate our estimates and assumptions. In the event estimates or assumptions prove to
be different from actual results, adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more current estimates and assumptions
about matters that are inherently uncertain. A summary of our critical accounting policies is included in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 in “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Our critical accounting policies
have not changed during 2016, except for the “Segment Reporting” update included in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the impact of new accounting standards.
 
 Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
We are exposed to various market risks, including the potential loss arising from adverse changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates, specifically the GBP. We use derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business to
mitigate interest rate and foreign currency risk. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading
purposes. Derivatives are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value (see Note 19 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
 
To illustrate the effect of movements in the interest rate and foreign currency markets, we performed a market sensitivity
analysis on our hedging instruments. We applied various basis point spreads to the underlying interest rate curves and
foreign currency exchange rates of the derivative portfolio in order to determine the change in fair value. Assuming a one
percentage point change in the underlying interest rate curve and foreign currency exchange rates, the estimated change in
fair value of each of the underlying derivative instruments would not exceed $4 million (see Note 19 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).
 
Interest Rate Risk.  At September 30, 2016, we are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates primarily on
variable rate debt, which has been predominately hedged through interest-rate swap contracts.
 
Interest rate fluctuations will generally not affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed rate debt and assets until their
maturity or earlier prepayment and refinancing. If interest rates have risen at the time we seek to refinance our fixed rate debt,
whether at maturity or otherwise, our future earnings and cash flows could adversely be affected by additional borrowing
costs. Conversely, lower interest rates at the time of refinancing may reduce our overall borrowing costs. However, interest
rate changes will affect the fair value of our fixed rate instruments. Conversely, changes in interest rates on variable rate debt
and investments would change our future earnings and cash flows, but not significantly affect the fair value of those
instruments. Assuming a one percentage point increase in the interest rate related to the variable-rate debt and variable-rate
investments, and assuming no other changes in the outstanding balance as of September 30, 2016, our annual interest
expense would increase by approximately $14 million, or $0.03 per common share on a diluted basis.
 
Foreign Currency Risk.  At September 30, 2016, our exposure to foreign currencies primarily relates to U.K. investments in
leased real estate, senior notes and related GBP denominated cash flows. Our foreign currency exposure is partially mitigated
through the use of GBP denominated borrowings and foreign currency swap contracts. Based solely on our operating results
for the three months ended September 30, 2016, including the impact of existing hedging arrangements, if the value of the
GBP relative to the USD were to increase or decrease by 10% compared to the average exchange rate during the quarter
ended September 30, 2016, our cash flows would have decreased or increased, as applicable, by less than $1 million.
 
Market Risk.  We have investments in marketable debt securities classified as held-to-maturity because we have the positive
intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity securities are recorded at amortized cost and adjusted
for the amortization of premiums and discounts through maturity. We consider a variety of factors in evaluating an other-
than-temporary decline in value, such as: the length of time and the extent to which the market value has been less than our
current adjusted carrying value; the issuer’s financial condition, capital strength and near-term prospects; any recent events
specific to that issuer and economic conditions of its industry; and our investment horizon in relationship to an anticipated
near-term recovery in the market value, if any. At September 30, 2016, both the fair value and carrying value of marketable
debt securities was $82 million.
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 Item 4.  Controls and Procedures
 
Disclosure Controls and Procedures.  We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and
that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer) and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), to allow for timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the
desired control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of
possible controls and procedures.
 
As required by Rules 13a-15(b) and 15d-15(b) of the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and
with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) and Chief
Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of September 30, 2016. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
and Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective
at the reasonable assurance level as of September 30, 2016.
 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.  There were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting (as such term as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter to
which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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 PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
 

 Item 1A.  Risk Factors 
 
In addition to the information set forth in this Form 10-Q, you should carefully consider the risk factors discussed in Part I,
Item 1A of our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, which could materially affect our business, financial condition, or
future results. The following updates the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2015, as updated by Part II, Item 1A of our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 2016:
 
We depend on one tenant and operator for a significant percentage of our revenues and net operating income.  Adverse
developments in Brookdale’s business and affairs or financial condition could have a materially adverse effect on us.
 
We manage our facilities utilizing triple-net lease (“lease arrangements”) and RIDEA structures. As of September 30, 2016,
Brookdale leased or managed 282 senior housing facilities that we own and 15 CCRCs owned by our unconsolidated joint
venture pursuant to long-term lease and management agreements. Under our lease arrangements, we generated 10% of our
revenues from Brookdale during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Giving pro forma effect to the Spin-Off as if it
had occurred on January 1, 2016, Brookdale would have represented 12% of our revenues for the same period.
 
In addition to our lease arrangements with Brookdale, we generated 12% of our net operating income from properties
managed by Brookdale under RIDEA structures during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, or 16% of our net
operating income for the same period after giving pro forma effect to the Spin-Off as if it had occurred on January 1, 2016.
Services provided by our tenants or operators in facilities managed under a RIDEA structure are primarily paid for by the
residents directly or through private insurance and are less reliant on government reimbursement programs. We report the
resident level fees and services revenues and corresponding operating expenses in our consolidated financial statements.
 
Although we have various rights as the property owner under our management agreements, we rely on Brookdale’s personnel,
expertise, technical resources and information systems, proprietary information, good faith and judgment to manage our
senior living operations efficiently and effectively. We also rely on Brookdale to set appropriate resident fees, to provide
property-level financial results for our properties in a timely manner and to otherwise operate our senior housing
communities in compliance with the terms of our management agreements and all applicable laws and regulations.
 
In its capacity as a manager, Brookdale does not lease our properties, and, therefore, we are not directly exposed to their
credit risk in the same manner or to the same extent as a triple-net tenant. However, any adverse developments in Brookdale’s
business and affairs or financial condition could impair its ability to manage our properties efficiently and effectively and
could have a materially adverse effect on us. Brookdale is also one of our triple-net tenants. If Brookdale experiences any
significant financial, legal, accounting or regulatory difficulties due to a weak economy or otherwise, such difficulties could
result in, among other adverse events, acceleration of its indebtedness, impairment of its continued access to capital, the
enforcement of default remedies by its counterparties or the commencement of insolvency proceedings by or against it under
the U.S. Bankruptcy Code, any one or a combination of which indirectly could have a materially adverse effect on us.
 
In addition, any failure by Brookdale to effectively conduct its operations or to maintain and improve our properties could
adversely affect its business reputation and its ability to attract and retain patients and residents in our properties, which
could have a materially adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, they face
an increasingly competitive labor market for skilled management personnel and nurses, which can cause operating costs to
increase. While Brookdale generally has also agreed to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless from and against various
claims, litigation and liabilities arising in connection with their respective businesses, they may have insufficient assets,
income, access to financing and/or insurance coverage to enable them to satisfy their indemnification obligations.
 
The inability or other failure of Brookdale under its lease agreements and RIDEA structures, to meet its obligations to us
could materially reduce our cash flow, net operating income and results of operations, which could in turn reduce the
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amount of dividends we pay to our stockholders, cause our stock price to decline and have other materially adverse effects on
our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
 Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
 
(a)
 
None.
 
(b)
 
None.
 
(c)
 
The following table sets forth information with respect to purchases of our common stock made by us or on our behalf or by
any “affiliated purchaser,” as such term is defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Exchange Act, during the three months
ended September 30, 2016.
 
         Maximum Number (Or  
       Total Number Of Shares Approximate Dollar Value) 
    Average  (Or Units) Purchased As Of Shares (Or Units) That  
  Total Number Price  Part Of Publicly  May Yet Be Purchased  
  Of Shares  Paid Per  Announced Plans Or  Under The Plans Or  
Period Covered  Purchased  Share  Programs  Programs  

July 1-31, 2016 117,098 $ 37.43 — —
August 1-31, 2016 5,443  38.44 — —
September 1-30, 2016 5,364  37.63 — —

Total 127,905  37.48 — —

(1) Represents shares of our common stock withheld under our equity incentive plans to offset tax withholding obligations that occur upon
vesting of restricted shares and restricted stock units. The value of the shares withheld is based on the closing price of our common stock on
the last trading day prior to the date the relevant transaction occurs.

 
 Item 6. Exhibits
   
2.1

 

Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and between the Company and
Quality Care Properties, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
October 31, 2016).

   
4.1

 

Indenture, dated as of October 17, 2016, among QCP SNF West REIT, LLC, QCP SNF Central REIT, LLC, QCP
SNF East REIT, LLC and QCP AL REIT, LLC, as issuers, and Wilmington Trust, National Association, as trustee
and notes collateral agent (incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
October 18, 2016).

   
10.1

 

Separation and General Release Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2016, by and between the Company and
Lauralee E. Martin (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 11,
2016).†

   
10.2

 

Amendment No. 5 to Credit Agreement, dated September 27, 2016, by and among the Company, the lenders
referred to therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 28, 2016).

   
10.3  HCP, Inc. Executive Severance Plan (adopted as of May 6, 2016).*†
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10.4  HCP, Inc. Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (as Amended and Restated as of May 6, 2016).*†
   
10.5

 

Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2016, by and between the Company and Quality Care
Properties, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 31,
2016).

   
31.1

 
Certification by Michael D. McKee, HCP’s Principal Executive Officer, Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a).*

   
31.2

 
Certification by Thomas M. Herzog, HCP’s Principal Financial Officer, Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(a).*

   
32.1

 
Certification by Michael D. McKee, HCP’s Principal Executive Officer, Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.**

   
32.2

 
Certification by Thomas M. Herzog, HCP’s Principal Financial Officer, Pursuant to Securities Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.**

   
101.INS  XBRL Instance Document.*
   
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.*
   
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.*
   
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.*
   
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document.*
   
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.*

*       Filed herewith.
**     Furnished herewith.
†       Management Contract or Compensatory Plan or Arrangement.
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 SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
Date: November 1, 2016 HCP, Inc.
  
 (Registrant)
  
 /s/ MICHAEL D. MCKEE
 Michael D. McKee
 Chairman of the Board,

President and Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
  
  
 /s/ THOMAS M. HERZOG
 Thomas M. Herzog
 Executive Vice President and
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)
  
  
 /s/ SCOTT A. ANDERSON
 Scott A. Anderson
 Executive Vice President and
 Chief Accounting Officer
 (Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 10.3

EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN

(Adopted as of May 6, 2016)

1.  Establishment and Purpose.    

(a)  HCP, Inc. (the “ Corporation”) hereby adopts this HCP, Inc. Executive
Severance Plan (the  “Plan”), effective as of May 6, 2016 (the “Effective Date”).  The
Corporation hereby agrees that on and after the Effective Date, subject to the terms and
conditions of the Plan, Participants (as de ined in Section 3) shall be eligible to receive the
severance bene its set forth in Section 5 of the Plan in the event that the Participants’
employment with the Corporation is terminated under the circumstances described in Section
4 of the Plan.  Upon the Effective Date, or such later date as an individual becomes a
Participant in the Plan, any prior severance agreement or letter between each Participant and
the Corporation shall terminate and be of no further effect.    

(b)  Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, no Participant
shall be eligible to receive any bene its under the Plan upon a termination of employment if
the Participant would also be eligible to receive bene its under the terms and conditions of
the HCP, Inc. Change in Control Severance Plan as a result of such termination. 

2.  Term of Plan.  The Plan shall become effective on the Effective Date and shall
continue in effect until such time as it is terminated by the Corporation (the period during
which the Plan is in effect, the “Term”); provided, however, that any such termination of the
Term will not become effective with respect to a Participant until the 30  day following the
date on which notice thereof is given to the Participant.  For purposes of clarity, the
Corporation may give notice of termination of the Term to all or only certain Participants. If
such notice is given to only certain Participants, the Term shall continue as set forth above as
to all other Participants (subject to the Corporation’s rights to similarly terminate the Term in
accordance with the foregoing on some future date(s) as to any such Participants).  A
Participant shall cease to be eligible for bene its under the Plan (and shall cease to be a
Participant) at midnight Paci ic Time on the last day of the Term applicable to that
Participant.  The termination or expiration of the Term as to a Participant shall not affect the
Participant’s right to bene its (if any) pursuant to Section 5 as to any termination of
employment that occurred during such Term.

3.  Participation.    

(a)  Participation.    The Chief Executive Of icer of the Corporation, the
Executive Chairman of the Corporation and any other employee of the Corporation, in each
case, who is designated from time to time by the Compensation Committee of the Board of
Directors of the Corporation (the “Committee”) shall participate in the Plan and are
collectively referred to herein as the  “Participants”; provided, that any individual who
would otherwise qualify as a Participant but who is then-subject to the terms of an individual
employment agreement or similar arrangement shall first participate in the Plan
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as of the date of expiration of such agreement or arrangement.  Notwithstanding anything
else contained herein to the contrary, the Committee shall limit the class of persons selected
to participate in the Plan to a select group of management or highly compensated employees,
as set forth in Sections 201, 301 and 401 of ERISA.    Unless otherwise determined by the
Committee, the “Severance Multiplier” for each Participant shall be two. 

(b)  Termination of Employment.   Notwithstanding anything else
contained in the Plan to the contrary, a Participant shall not be deemed to have terminated
employment with the Corporation if his or her employment by the Corporation terminates
but he or she otherwise continues, immediately after such termination of employment, as an
employee of a subsidiary of the Corporation (a “Subsidiary”) or is offered comparable
employment by any successor corporation or acquirer of the Corporation.

(c)  Benefit Offset.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, in the event
that  a Participant would be entitled to severance bene its pursuant to an employment
agreement entered into with the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, in connection with a
termination of the Participant's employment as described in the Plan, the Participant will be
entitled to receive the bene its provided under the Plan only.  In no event will the Participant
be entitled to receive severance bene its under both the Plan and such employment
agreement.  Except as provided in the preceding sentence, any severance bene its otherwise
payable under the Plan to a Participant shall be offset or reduced by the amount of (i) any
severance bene its payable or deliverable to the Participant under any other plan, program,
or agreement of or with the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) any other
severance pay, termination indemnity, notice pay, or similar payment that the Corporation or
any of its Subsidiaries is required by law to make to the Participant.

4.  Qualifying Termination of Employment.

(a)  General.    If a Participant’s employment is terminated during the Term
for any reason other than (i) because of the Participant’s death or Disability (as de ined in
Section 4(b)), (ii) by the Corporation for Cause (as de ined in Section 4(c)) or (iii) voluntarily
by the Participant, then the Participant shall be entitled to the bene its provided in Section
5(b).  In the event that the Participant is entitled to such bene its, such bene its shall be paid
notwithstanding the subsequent expiration of the Term.

(b)  Disability.    As to any particular Participant, “Disability” means the
Participant’s inability, because of physical or mental illness or injury, to perform the essential
functions of his or her customary duties to the Corporation, even with a reasonable
accommodation, and the continuation of such disabled condition for a period of 180
continuous days, or for not less than 210 days during any continuous 24 month period.

(c)  Cause.  Termination by the Corporation of a Participant’s employment
for “Cause” shall mean termination (i) upon the Participant’s willful and continued failure to
perform his or her duties with the Corporation (other than any such failure resulting from his
or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written
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demand for performance is delivered to the Participant by the Committee, which demand
speci ically identi ies the manner in which the Committee believes that the Participant has not
performed his or her duties, (ii) upon the Participant’s willful and continued failure to follow
and comply with the speci ic and lawful directives of the Committee, as reasonably
determined by the Committee (other than any such failure resulting from the Participant’s
incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for performance is
delivered to the Participant by the Committee, which demand speci ically identi ies the
manner in which the Committee believes that the Participant has not performed his or her
duties, (iii) upon the Participant’s willful and continued failure to follow and comply with the
policies of the Corporation as in effect from time to time (other than any such failure resulting
from the Participant’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for
performance is delivered to the Participant by the Committee, which demand speci ically
identi ies the manner in which the Committee believes that the Participant has not followed or
complied with such Corporation policies; (iv) upon the Participant’s willful commission of an
act of material fraud or dishonesty;  (v) upon the Participant’s willful engagement in illegal
conduct or gross misconduct; or (vi) upon the Participant’s indictment for, conviction of, or a
plea of guilty or nolo contendere to any felony.

(d)  Termination Generally.    For purposes of clarity, a Participant or the
Corporation shall be entitled to terminate the Participant’s employment for any reason or no
reason at any time effective as of the applicable date set forth in Section 4 (a).

(e)  Notice of Termination.  Any purported termination of a
Participant’s employment by the Corporation or by the Participant (other than termination
due to death which shall terminate the Participant’s employment automatically) shall be
communicated by written Notice of Termination to the Participant or the Corporation,
respectively, other party hereto in accordance with Section 12. “Notice of Termination” shall
mean a notice that shall indicate the speci ic termination provision in the Plan relied upon and
shall set forth in reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for
termination of the Participant’s employment under the provision so indicated.

(f)  Date of Termination, Etc.   “Date of Termination” shall mean (i) if a
Participant’s employment is terminated due to the Participant’s death, the date of the
Participant’s death; (ii) if a Participant’s employment is terminated for Disability, 30 days after
Notice of Termination is given (provided that the Participant shall not have returned to the
full-time performance of his or her duties during such 30-day period); and (iii) if a
Participant’s employment is terminated for any other reason, the date speci ied in the Notice
of Termination.

5.  Compensation Upon Qualifying Termination.    If a Participant’s
employment is terminated during the Term, the Participant shall be entitled to the bene its
described below, subject to the other terms and conditions of the Plan:

(a)  If the Participant’s employment is terminated in such circumstances by
the Corporation for Cause or Disability or voluntarily by the Participant or due to the
Participant’s death, the Corporation shall pay the Participant (i) the Participant’s accrued
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and unpaid base salary and vacation (if any) through the Date of Termination, and (ii) all
other amounts to which the Participant is entitled under any compensation plan of the
Corporation at the time such payments are due, and the Corporation shall have no further
obligations to the Participant under this Plan.    

(b)  If the Participant’s employment by the Corporation shall be terminated
by the Corporation other than for Cause or Disability and in all cases other than due to the
Participant’s death, then, subject to the provisions of Section 6, the Participant shall be
entitled to the bene its provided below.  For purposes of this Section 5(b), a Participant’s
“Annual Bonus Amount” shall mean (A) with respect to each Participant who is serving as
the Chief Executive Of icer of the Corporation, the Executive Chairman of the Corporation, or
a Named Executive Of icer of the Corporation (as de ined for purposes of the proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the Corporation held during the year of
termination) or is otherwise designated by the Committee as a “potential named executive
of icer” as of such Participant’s Date of Termination, the target annual bonus amount in effect
for such Participant as of the Participant’s Date of Termination, and (B) with respect to all
other Participants, the greater of (1) the last annual bonus actually paid to the Participant
prior to the Date of Termination for a full iscal year of employment with the Corporation and
(2) the average of the last three annual bonuses actually paid to the Participant for the last
three full iscal years of employment with the Corporation prior to the Date of Termination
(or the average of such lower number of bonuses that were actually paid for full iscal years
of employment with the Corporation prior to the Date of Termination), which shall, in each
case of clause (1) and (2), be determined without regard to the payment of any special
bonuses (e.g. transaction bonuses); provided, if the Participant, on the Date of Termination,
has never been paid an annual bonus with respect to one full iscal year, then the
Participant’s Annual Bonus Amount shall equal (x) the amount of the Participant’s guaranteed
bonus in respect of the year of termination, if applicable, or (y) if the Participant is not eligible
to receive a guaranteed bonus in respect of the year of termination, the amount of the
Participant’s Annual Base Salary.  For purposes of this Section 5(b), a Participant’s “ Annual
Base Salary” shall mean the Participant’s annual base salary as in effect as of the Date of
Termination.

(i)  The Corporation shall pay to the Participant (A)  the Participant’s
accrued and unpaid base salary and vacation (if any) through the Date of Termination,
 (B) the unpaid portion, if any, of any annual bonus, plus an amount equal to the
Participant’s actual annual bonus for the full year in which the Date of Termination
occurs, based on actual results for the entire year of termination, multiplied by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days that the Participant
was employed by the Corporation during the year of termination and the denominator
of which is 365,  and (C) all other amounts to which the Participant is entitled under
any compensation plan of the Corporation at the time such payments are due;

(ii)  An amount equal to the sum of: (A) the Participant’s Severance
Multiplier times the Participant’s Annual Base Salary; plus (B) the Participant’s
Severance Multiplier times the Participant’s Annual Bonus Amount;
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(iii)  An amount equal to the expected monthly cost of the premiums that
would be charged to the Participant to continue medical coverage pursuant to the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”), at the same or reasonably
equivalent medical coverage for the Participant (and, if applicable, the Participant’s
eligible dependents) as in effect immediately prior to the Participant’s Date of
Termination, for a period of months after the Participant’s Date of Termination equal
to 12 multiplied by the Participant’s Severance Multiplier; and

(iv)  (A) Any stock options or equity or equity-related compensation or
grants that vest based on the passage of time and continued performance of services
(to the extent outstanding and not otherwise vested as of the Date of Termination, and
exclusive of any grants that include performance-based vesting criteria) shall become
fully vested immediately prior to such termination; provided, that restricted stock unit
awards granted on or after the Effective Date shall continue to vest and be settled in
accordance with the schedule set forth in the applicable award agreement without
regard to any continued performance of services requirements, and to the extent not
vested in accordance with such schedule as of the second anniversary of the Date of
Termination, shall vest and be settled on such second anniversary; (B) any stock
options or equity or equity-related compensation or grants that vest based on the
satisfaction of performance-based criteria (to the extent outstanding and not
otherwise vested as of the Date of Termination) shall continue to be governed by the
provisions of the applicable award agreement in the circumstances; provided,
however, that to the extent that any such then-outstanding equity-based awards are
subject to forfeiture and/or vesting requirements based on the passage of time, such
awards shall be fully accelerated with respect to such time-based forfeiture and/or
vesting provisions; and (C) the Participant shall have until the date that is 12 months
after his or her Date of Termination (24 months for each individual serving as Chief
Executive Of icer of the Corporation or Executive Chairman of the Corporation) to
exercise any stock option to the extent that it has become vested on the Date of
Termination, subject to earlier termination of the stock option upon the stock option’s
original expiration date or the occurrence of a change in control event or certain
similar reorganization event under the terms of the applicable award agreement.
 Except as provided in this Section 5(b)(iv), the effect of a  termination of employment
on a Participant’s equity-based awards shall be determined under the terms of the
applicable award agreement.

(c)  The payments described in Sections 5(a)(i) and 5(b)(i)(A) shall be paid
to the Participant in cash as soon as practicable following the Date of Termination.  The
payments described in Section 5(b)(i)(B) shall be paid to the Participant in cash on the date
such payments would have been made had the Participant continued in employment.  The
payments described in Sections 5(b)(ii) and 5(b)(iii) shall be paid to the Participant in cash in
substantially equal installments ending on the date that is a number of months after the Date
of Termination equal to 12 multiplied by the Participant’s Severance Multiplier, in accordance
with the Corporation’s normal payroll schedule; provided that the irst such payment shall be
made on the irst regularly scheduled payroll date that occurs after the Participant’s release
contemplated by Section 6(a) becomes irrevocable by the Participant
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in accordance with applicable law (the “First Payment Date”) and shall include all such
payments that would have been made to the Participant between the Date of Termination and
such payroll date;  and provided further, that if the period during which the Participant is
permitted to consider the release in accordance with Section 6(a) begins in one calendar year
and ends in a second calendar year, the irst such payment shall in all events be made in the
second calendar year.  Except as otherwise set forth in Section 5(b)(iv), the applicable
payments described in Section 5(b)(iv) shall be paid to the Participant in shares on the First
Payment Date.

(d)  The foregoing provisions of this Section 5 shall not affect: (i) a
Participant’s receipt of bene its otherwise due terminated employees under group insurance
coverage consistent with the terms of the applicable Corporation welfare bene it plan; (ii) a
Participant’s rights under COBRA to continue participation in medical, dental, hospitalization
and life insurance coverage; or (iii) a Participant’s receipt of bene its otherwise due in
accordance with the terms of the Corporation’s 401(k) plan (if any).

6.  Release; Exclusive Remedy.    

(a)  This Section 6 shall apply notwithstanding anything else contained in
the Plan or any other stock option, restricted stock or other equity-based award agreement to
the contrary.  The Corporation’s obligation to make any payment of bene its with respect to a
Participant pursuant to Section 5(b) of the Plan (if the Participant is otherwise entitled to such
bene its), other than those set forth in Section 5(b)(i)(A), is subject to the condition precedent
that (i) the Participant has fully executed a valid and effective release (in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A or such other form as the Committee may reasonably require in the
circumstances, which other form shall be substantially similar to that attached hereto as
Exhibit A but with such changes as the Committee may determine to be required or
reasonably advisable in order to make the release enforceable and otherwise compliant with
applicable laws), (ii) such executed release is delivered by the Participant to the Corporation
so that it is received by the Corporation in the time period speci ied below, and (iii) such
release is not revoked by the Participant (pursuant to any revocation rights afforded by
applicable law).  In order to satisfy the requirements of this Section 6(a), a Participant’s
release referred to in the preceding sentence must be delivered by the Participant to the
Corporation so that it is received by the Corporation no later than 25 calendar days after the
Participant’s Date of Termination (or such later date as may be required for an enforceable
release of the Participant’s claims under the United States Age Discrimination in Employment
Act of 1967, as amended (“ADEA”), to the extent the ADEA is applicable in the circumstances,
in which case the Participant will be provided with either 21 or 45 days, depending on the
circumstances of the termination, to consider the release).  In addition, the Corporation may
require that the Participant’s release be executed no earlier than the date that the
Participant’s employment with the Corporation terminates.

(b)  Each Participant agrees that the general release agreement described in
Section 6(a) will require that the Participant acknowledge, as a condition to the payment of
any benefits under Section 5(b)  (other than those set forth in Section 5(b)(i)(A)), that the
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payments contemplated by Section 5(b) shall constitute the exclusive and sole remedy for any
termination of the Participant’s employment, and each Participant will be required to
covenant, as a condition to receiving any such payment, not to assert or pursue any other
remedies, at law or in equity, with respect to any termination of employment.  No Participant
shall be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in Section 5 by seeking
other employment or otherwise nor shall the amount of any payment or bene it provided for
in Section 5 be reduced by any compensation earned by the Participant as the result of
employment by another employer or self-employment, by retirement bene its, by offset
against any amount claimed to be owed by the Participant to the Corporation, or otherwise.

7.  Section 280G.  Each Participant shall be covered by the provisions set forth in
Exhibit B hereto, incorporated herein by this reference.

8.  Successors;  Assigns

(a)  The Corporation shall require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the
business and/or assets of the Corporation to expressly assume and agree to perform the
obligations under the Plan in the same manner and to the same extent that the Corporation
would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place.  Failure of the
Corporation to obtain such assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such
succession shall be deemed a material breach of the Plan by the Corporation and shall entitle
each Participant to terminate his or her employment and receive compensation from the
Corporation in the same amount and on the same terms to which the Participant would be
entitled hereunder if the Corporation had terminated the Participant’s employment other
than for Cause, except that for purposes of implementing the foregoing, the date on which
any such succession becomes effective shall be deemed the Date of Termination.  Unless
expressly provided otherwise, “Corporation” as used herein shall mean the Corporation as
defined in the Plan and any successor to its business and/or assets as aforesaid.

(b)  None of the bene its, payments, proceeds or claims of any Participant
shall be subject to any claim of any creditor and, in particular, the same shall not be subject to
attachment or garnishment or other legal process by any creditor, nor shall any such
Participant have any right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of
the bene its or payments or proceeds which he or she may expect to receive, contingently or
otherwise, under the Plan.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, bene its which are in pay status
may be subject to a court-ordered garnishment or wage assignment, or similar order, or a tax
levy.  The Plan shall inure to the bene it of and be enforceable by each Participant’s personal
or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees,
and legatees.  If a Participant dies while any amount would still be payable to him or her
hereunder had he or she continued to live, all such amounts, unless otherwise provided
herein, shall be paid to the Participant’s estate in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
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9.  Claims Procedures.

(a)  Presentation of Claim. Any Participant (such Participant being
referred to below as a “Claimant”) may deliver to the Committee a written claim for a
determination with respect to the bene its payable to such Claimant pursuant to the Plan.  If
such a claim relates to the contents of a notice received by the Claimant, the claim must be
made within 60 days after such notice was received by the Claimant.  All other claims must be
made within 180 days of the date on which the event that caused the claim to arise
occurred.  The claim must state with particularity the determination desired by the Claimant.

(b)  Noti ication of Decision.  The Committee shall consider a Claimant’s
claim within a reasonable time, but no later than 90 days after receiving the claim.  If the
Committee determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing
the claim, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the
termination of the initial 90 day period.  In no event shall such extension exceed a period of
90 days from the end of the initial 90 day period.  The extension notice shall indicate the
special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the Committee
expects to render the bene it determination.  The Committee shall notify the Claimant in
writing:

(i)  that the Claimant’s requested determination has been made, and that
the claim has been allowed in full; or

(ii)  that the Committee has reached a conclusion contrary, in whole or in
part, to the Claimant’s requested determination, and such notice must set forth in a
manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant:

A.  the specific reason(s) for the denial of the claim, or any part of it;

B.  speci ic reference(s) to pertinent provisions of the Plan upon
which such denial was based;

C.  a description of any additional material or information necessary
for the Claimant to perfect the claim, and an explanation of why such material
or information is necessary;

D.  an explanation of the claim review procedure and the time limits
applicable to such procedures set forth in Section 9 0; and

E.  a statement of the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action under
ERISA Section 502(a) following an adverse determination on review.

(c) Review of a Denied Claim.  On or before 60 days after
receiving a notice from the Committee that a claim has been denied, in whole or in part, a
Claimant (or the Claimant’s duly authorized representative) may ile with the Committee a
written
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request for a review of the denial of the claim.  The Claimant (or the Claimant’s duly
authorized representative):

(i)  may, upon request and free of charge, have reasonable access to, and
copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to the claim for
benefits;

(ii)  may submit written comments or other documents; and/or

(iii)  may request a hearing, which the Committee, in its sole discretion, may
grant.

(d) Decision on Review.  The Committee shall render its decision
on review promptly, and no later than 60 days after the Committee receives the Claimant’s
written request for a review of the denial of the claim.  If the Committee determines that
special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, written notice of
the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the termination of the initial 60 day
period.  In no event shall such extension exceed a period of 60 days from the end of the initial
60 day period.  The extension notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an
extension of time and the date by which the Committee expects to render the bene it
determination.  In rendering its decision, the Committee shall take into account all comments,
documents, records and other information submitted by the Claimant relating to the claim,
without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered in the initial bene it
determination.  The decision must be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the
Claimant, and it must contain:

(i)  specific reasons for the decision;

(ii)  speci ic reference(s) to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the
decision was based;

(iii)  a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and
free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of, all documents, records and other
information relevant (as de ined in applicable ERISA regulations) to the Claimant’s
claim for benefits; and

(iv)  a description of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under Section
502(a) of ERISA following an adverse benefit determination on review.

10.  Arbitration; Dispute Resolution, Etc.    

(a)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, the
Participant, in his or her sole discretion, may elect to have any claim or controversy arising
out of or in connection with the Plan submitted to binding arbitration and adjudicated in
accordance with this Section 10 without irst having to exhaust the claims procedures set
forth in Section 9.
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(b)  The Corporation and, by accepting participation in the Plan, each
Participant hereby consent to the resolution by mandatory and binding arbitration of all
claims or controversies arising out of or in connection with the Plan that the Corporation may
have against the Participant, or that the Participant may have against the Corporation or
against any of its of icers, directors, employees or agents acting in their capacity as such, and
which are not resolved under the terms of Section 9 (or which are not required to be
resolved under the terms of Section 9, as the case may be).  Each party’s promise to resolve
all such claims or controversies by arbitration in accordance with the Plan rather than
through the courts is consideration for the other party’s like promise.  It is further agreed
that the decision of an arbitrator on any issue, dispute, claim or controversy submitted for
arbitration, shall be inal and binding upon the Corporation and the Participant and that
judgment may be entered on the award of the arbitrator in any court having proper
jurisdiction.

(c)  Except as otherwise provided in this procedure or by mutual
agreement of the parties, any arbitration shall be before a sole arbitrator (the “Arbitrator”)
selected from Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Services, Inc., Los Angeles, California, or its
successor (“JAMS”), or if JAMS is no longer able to supply the Arbitrator, such Arbitrator shall
be selected from the American Arbitration Association, and shall be conducted in accordance
with the provisions of California Civil Procedure Code Sections 1280 et. seq. as the exclusive
remedy of such dispute.    

(d)  The Arbitrator shall interpret the Plan, any applicable Corporation
policy or rules and regulations, any applicable substantive law (and the law of remedies, if
applicable) of the state in which the claim arose, or applicable federal law.  In reaching his or
her decision, the Arbitrator shall have no authority to change or modify any lawful
Corporation policy, rule or regulation, or the Plan.  Except as provided in Section 10(e),  the
Arbitrator, and not any federal, state or local court or agency, shall have exclusive and broad
authority to resolve any dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability, enforceability or
formation of the Plan, including but not limited to, any claim that all or any part of the Plan is
voidable.  The Arbitrator shall have the authority to decide dispositive motions.  Following
completion of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall issue a written decision disclosing the
essential findings and conclusions upon which the award is based.

(e)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, provisional injunctive relief may, but
need not, be sought by the Participant or the Corporation in a court of law while arbitration
proceedings are pending, and any provisional injunctive relief granted by such court shall
remain effective until the matter is inally resolved by the Arbitrator in accordance with the
foregoing.  Final resolution of any dispute through arbitration may include any remedy or
relief which would otherwise be available at law and which the Arbitrator deems just and
equitable.  The Arbitrator shall have the authority to award full damages as provided by
law.  Any award or relief granted by the Arbitrator hereunder shall be inal and binding on
the parties hereto and may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction.
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(f)  The Corporation shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of the
Arbitrator and of a stenographic reporter, if employed.  Each party shall pay its own legal fees
and other expenses and costs incurred with respect to the arbitration.

11.  Administration of the Plan.

(a)  General.  The Corporation shall be the plan administrator (within the
meaning of Section 3(16)(A) of ERISA).  The Corporation delegates its duties under the Plan
to the Committee.  The Committee delegates the day-to-day ministerial duties with respect to
the Plan to the Corporation’s management.  The Committee and its delegates shall be named
fiduciaries of the Plan to the extent required by ERISA. 

(b)  Powers and Duties of the Committee. The Committee shall enforce
the Plan in accordance with its terms, shall be charged with the general administration of the
Plan, and shall have all powers necessary to accomplish its purposes, including, but not by
way of limitation, the power and authority to do the following:

(i)  To determine eligibility for and participation in the Plan;

(ii)  To construe and interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan;

(iii)  To compute and certify to the amount and kind of bene its payable to
Participants and their bene iciaries, and to determine the amount of withholding taxes
to be deducted pursuant to Section 14;

(iv)  To maintain all records that may be necessary for the administration of
the Plan;

(v)  To provide for the disclosure of all information and the iling or
provision of all reports and statements to Participants, bene iciaries or governmental
agencies as shall be required by law;

(vi)  To make and publish such rules for the regulation of the Plan and
procedures for the administration of the Plan as are not inconsistent with the terms
hereof; and

(vii)  To appoint a plan manager or any other agent, and to delegate to them
such powers and duties in connection with the administration of the Plan as the
Committee may from time to time prescribe.

(c)  Committee Action.   Subject to Section 9, the Committee shall act with
respect to the Plan at meetings by af irmative vote of a majority of the members of the
Committee.  Any action permitted to be taken at a meeting with respect to the Plan may be
taken without a meeting if, prior to such action, a written consent to the action is signed by all
members of the Committee and such written consent is iled with the minutes of the
proceedings of the Committee.  A member of the Committee shall not vote or act upon any
matter which relates solely to himself or herself as a Participant.  The Chairman or any
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other member or members of the Committee designated by the Chairman may execute any
certificate or other written direction on behalf of the Committee.

(d)  Construction and Interpretation.  The Committee shall have full
discretion to construe and interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan, which
interpretation or construction shall be inal and binding on all parties, including but not
limited to the Corporation and any Participant, beneficiary or other person.

12.  Notice.  All notices under or with respect to the Plan shall be in writing and
shall be either personally delivered or mailed postage prepaid, by certi ied mail, return
receipt requested:

(a)  if to the Corporation:

HCP, Inc.
Attention: Compensation Committee
1920 Main Street, Suite 1200
Irvine, California 92614

with a copy to:

HCP, Inc.
Attention: Secretary of the Corporation
1920 Main Street, Suite 1200
Irvine, California 92614

(b)  if to a Participant, to the Participant’s address most recently on ile in
the payroll records of the Corporation.

Notice shall be effective when personally delivered, or five business days after being so
mailed.  Any party may change its address for purposes of giving future notices pursuant to
the Plan by notifying the other party in writing of such change in address, such notice to be
delivered or mailed in accordance with the foregoing.

13.  Governing Law.   The Plan will be governed by and construed in accordance
with ERISA and, to the extent not preempted thereby, the laws of the State of California,
without giving effect to any choice of law or con licting provision or rule (whether of the State
of California or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the laws of any jurisdiction other
than United States federal law and the law of the State of California to be applied.  In
furtherance of the foregoing, applicable federal law and, to the extent not preempted by
applicable federal law, the internal law of the State of California will control the interpretation
and construction of the Plan, even if under such jurisdiction’s choice of law or con lict of law
analysis, the substantive law of some other jurisdiction would ordinarily apply.  Any statutory
reference in the Plan shall also be deemed to refer to all applicable inal rules and inal
regulations promulgated under or with respect to the referenced statutory provision.
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14.  Miscellaneous.    The Committee may from time to time amend the Plan in any
way it deems to be advisable; provided that no such amendment shall materially and
adversely affect the rights of any Participant (or former Participant) under the Plan without
that Participant’s (or former Participant’s, as the case may be) consent.  Neither the failure
nor any delay on the part of a party to exercise any right, remedy, power or privilege under
the Plan shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right,
remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or of any
right, remedy, power or privilege, nor shall any waiver of any right, remedy, power or
privilege with respect to any occurrence be construed as a waiver of such right, remedy,
power or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective unless
it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.  No
agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the
subject matter hereof have been made by the Corporation which are not expressly set forth
in the Plan. All references to sections of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), shall be deemed also to refer to any successor provisions to such sections.    The
Corporation may withhold (or cause there to be withheld, as the case may be) from any
amounts otherwise due or payable under or pursuant to the Plan such federal, state and local
income, employment, or other taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any
applicable law or regulation.  Any obligations of the Corporation under Section 5 shall survive
the expiration of the Term. The section headings contained in the Plan are for convenience
only, and shall not affect the interpretation of the Plan.

15.  Unsecured General Creditor.   Participants and their heirs, successors, and
assigns shall have no legal or equitable rights, claims, or interest in any speci ic property or
assets of the Corporation or any Subsidiary.  No assets of the Corporation shall be held under
any trust, or held in any way as collateral security, for the ful illing of the obligations of the
Corporation under the Plan.  Any and all of the Corporation’s assets shall be, and remain, the
general unpledged, unrestricted assets of the Corporation (unless pledged or restricted with
respect to the Corporation’s obligations other than the Plan).  The Corporation’s obligation
under the Plan shall be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Corporation to pay money and bene its in the future, and the rights of the Participants and
their heirs or successors as to bene its under the Plan shall be no greater than those of
unsecured general creditors of the Corporation. 

16.  Other Bene it Plans.  All payments, bene its and amounts provided under the
Plan shall be in addition to and not in substitution for any pension rights under any tax-
quali ied pension or retirement plan in which the Participant participates, and any disability,
workers’ compensation or other Corporation bene it plan distribution that a Participant is
entitled to (other than severance bene its), under the terms of any such plan, at the time the
Participant ceases to be employed by the Corporation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Plan shall not create an inference that any duplicate payments shall be required.  Payments
received by a person under the Plan shall not be deemed a part of the person’s compensation
for purposes of the determination of bene its under any other employee pension, welfare or
other bene it plans or arrangements, if any, provided by the Corporation, except where
explicitly provided under the terms of such plans or arrangements.
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17.  Severability.   In the event any provision of the Plan shall be adjudicated by a
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable under any present
or future law, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective, without invalidating
the remaining provisions of the Plan or affecting the validity or enforceability of such
provision in any other jurisdiction.  Furthermore, in lieu of such invalid or unenforceable
provision there will be added automatically as a part of the Plan, as applicable, a legal, valid
and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as
may be possible.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such provision could be more narrowly
drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable in such jurisdiction, it shall, as to
such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating the remaining provisions of the
Plan or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

18.  Employment Status.  Except as may be expressly provided under any other
written agreement between a Participant and the Corporation (other than the Plan) signed by
a duly authorized of icer thereof, the employment of each Participant by the Corporation is
“at will,” and may be terminated by either the Participant or the Corporation at any time.

19.  Payments on Behalf of Persons Under Incapacity.  In the event that any
amount becomes payable under the Plan to a person who, in the sole judgment of the
Committee, is considered by reason of physical or mental condition to be unable to give a
valid receipt therefor the Committee may direct that such payment be made to any person
found by the Committee, in its sole judgment, to have assumed the care of such person.  Any
payment made pursuant to such determination shall constitute a full release and discharge of
the Committee and the Corporation.

20.  Code Section 409A.   The intent of the parties is that payments and bene its
under the Plan comply with Section 409A of the Code, to the extent subject thereto, and
accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, the Plan shall be interpreted and administered
to be in compliance therewith.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, a
Participant shall not be considered to have terminated employment with the Corporation for
purposes of any payments under the Plan which are subject to Section 409A of the Code until
the Participant has incurred a “separation from service” from the Corporation within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code.  Each amount to be paid or bene it to be provided
under the Plan shall be construed as a separate identi ied payment for purposes of Section
409A of the Code.  Without limiting the foregoing and notwithstanding anything contained
herein to the contrary, to the extent required in order to avoid an accelerated or additional
tax under Section 409A of the Code, amounts that would otherwise be payable and bene its
that would otherwise be provided pursuant to the Plan during the six-month period
immediately following a Participant’s separation from service shall instead be paid on the irst
business day after the date that is six months following the Participant’s separation from
service (or, if earlier, the Participant’s date of death).  To the extent required to avoid an
accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, (a) amounts reimbursable to a
Participant shall be paid on or before the last day of the year following the year in which the
expense was incurred and the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement (and in kind
benefits provided to a Participant) during
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one year may not affect amounts reimbursable or provided in any subsequent year, and (b)
any tax gross-up payments (and related reimbursements) payable to a Participant under the
Plan shall be paid no later than the end of the calendar year following the year in which the
tax resulting in the gross-up is paid.  The Corporation makes no representation that any or all
of the payments described in the Plan will be exempt from or comply with Section 409A of the
Code and makes no undertaking to preclude Section 409A of the Code from applying to any
such payment.

* * *
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused its duly authorized of icer to
execute the Plan on the date first set forth above.

HCP, INC.
a Maryland corporation.

By: /s/ Troy E. McHenry
Troy E. McHenry

Its: Executive Vice President and
Corporate Secretary
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Release Agreement (this “Release Agreement”) is entered into this ___ day of
_________ 20__, by and between _____________________, an individual (“Executive”), and HCP, Inc., a
Maryland corporation (the “Company”).

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by the Company; and

WHEREAS, Executive’s employment by the Company has terminated and, in connection
with the Company’s Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”), the Company and Executive desire
to enter into this Release Agreement upon the terms set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the covenants undertaken and the releases
contained in this Release Agreement, and in consideration of the obligations of the Company
(or one of its subsidiaries) to pay severance bene its (conditioned upon this Release
Agreement) under and pursuant to the Plan, Executive and the Company agree as follows:

1.  Release.  Executive, on behalf of himself or herself, his or her descendants,
dependents, heirs, executors, administrators, assigns, and successors, and each of them,
hereby acknowledges full and complete satisfaction of and covenants not to sue and fully
releases and discharges the Company and each of its parents, subsidiaries and af iliates, past
and present, as well as its and their trustees, directors, officers, members, managers, partners,
agents, attorneys, insurers, employees, stockholders, representatives, assigns, and successors,
past and present, and each of them, hereinafter together and collectively referred to as the
“Releasees,” with respect to and from any and all claims, wages, demands, rights, liens,
agreements or contracts (written or oral), covenants, actions, suits, causes of action,
obligations, debts, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, judgments, orders and liabilities
of whatever kind or nature in law, equity or otherwise, whether now known or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, and whether or not concealed or hidden (each, a “Claim”), which
he or she now owns or holds or he or she has at any time heretofore owned or held or may
in the future hold as against any of said Releasees (including, without limitation, any Claim
arising out of or in any way connected with Executive’s service as an of icer, director,
employee, member or manager of any Releasee, Executive’s separation from his or her
position as an of icer, director, employee, manager and/or member, as applicable, of any
Releasee, or any other transactions, occurrences, acts or omissions or any loss, damage or
injury whatever), whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, resulting from any
act or omission by or on the part of said Releasees, or any of them, committed or omitted
prior to the date of this Release Agreement including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, any Claim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave
Act of 1993, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the California Family Rights Act,
or any other federal,

The Company reserves the right to modify this form as to any Participant employed outside of California.

A-1
 

 

1

1

Source: HCP, INC., 10-Q, November 01, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



state or local law, regulation, or ordinance, or any Claim for severance pay, bonus, sick leave,
holiday pay, vacation pay, life insurance, health or medical insurance or any other fringe
bene it, workers’ compensation or disability; provided however, that the foregoing release
shall not apply to any obligation of the Company to Executive pursuant to any of the
forgoing:  (a)  any obligation created by or arising out of the Plan for which receipt or
satisfaction has not been acknowledged, (b)  any equity-based awards previously granted by
the Company to Executive, to the extent that such awards continue after the termination of
Executive’s employment with the Company in accordance with the applicable terms of such
awards; (c) any right to indemni ication that Executive may have pursuant to the Fourth
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, its corporate charter or under any written
indemni ication agreement with the Company (or any corresponding provision of any
subsidiary or af iliate of the Company) with respect to any loss, damages or expenses
(including but not limited to attorneys’ fees to the extent otherwise provided) that Executive
may in the future incur with respect to his service as an employee, of icer or director of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or af iliates; (d) with respect to any rights that Executive
may have to insurance coverage for such losses, damages or expenses under any Company
(or subsidiary or af iliate) directors and of icers liability insurance policy; (e) any rights to
continued medical or dental coverage that Executive may have under COBRA; (f ) any rights to
payment of bene its that Executive may have under a retirement plan sponsored or
maintained by the Company that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or (g) any deferred compensation or supplemental
retirement bene its that Executive may be entitled to under a nonquali ied deferred
compensation or supplemental retirement plan of the Company.  In addition, this release does
not cover any Claim that cannot be so released as a matter of applicable law.  Executive
acknowledges and agrees that he or she has received any and all leave and other bene its that
he or she has been and is entitled to pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

2.  Acknowledgment of Payment of Wages.   Except for accrued vacation (which
the parties agree totals approximately [____] days of pay) and salary for the current pay
period, Executive acknowledges that he/she has received all amounts owed for his or her
regular and usual salary (including, but not limited to, any bonus, severance, or other wages),
and usual benefits through the date of this Release Agreement.

3.  Waiver of Unknown and Unsuspected Claims.  It is the intention of
Executive in executing this Release Agreement that the same shall be effective as a bar to each
and every Claim hereinabove speci ied.  In furtherance of this intention, Executive hereby
expressly waives any and all rights and bene its conferred upon him or her by the provisions
of Section 1542 of the California Civil Code ("Section 1542"), as well as any other similar
statute or common law doctrine that may apply, and expressly consents that this Release
Agreement shall be given full force and effect according to each and all of its express terms
and provisions, including those related to unknown and unsuspected Claims, if any, as well as
those relating to any other Claims hereinabove specified. Section 1542 provides:
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“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS
WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST
IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE
RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR.”

Executive acknowledges that he may hereafter discover Claims or facts in addition to or
different from those which Executive now knows or believes to exist with respect to the
subject matter of this Release Agreement and which, if known or suspected at the time of
executing this Release Agreement, may have materially affected this settlement.  Nevertheless,
Executive hereby waives any right, Claim or cause of action that might arise as a result of such
different or additional Claims or facts.  Executive acknowledges that he or she understands
the signi icance and consequences of such release and such speci ic waiver of Section 1542
and any similar applicable statute or doctrine of law.

4.  [ADEA Waiver.   Executive expressly acknowledges and agrees that by entering
into this Release Agreement, Executive is waiving any and all rights or Claims that he or she
may have arising under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (the
“ADEA”), which have arisen on or before the date of execution of this Release
Agreement.  Executive further expressly acknowledges and agrees that:

(a)  In return for this Release Agreement, the Executive will receive
consideration beyond that which the Executive was already entitled to receive before
entering into this Release Agreement;

(b)  Executive is hereby advised in writing by this Release Agreement to
consult with an attorney before signing this Release Agreement;

(c)  Executive has voluntarily chosen to enter into this Release Agreement
and has not been forced or pressured in any way to sign it;

(d)  Executive was given a copy of this Release Agreement on
[_________________, 20__] and informed that he or she had [21/ 45] days within which to
consider this Release Agreement and that if he or she wished to execute this Release
Agreement prior to expiration of such [21-day/45-day] period, he or she should execute the
Endorsement attached hereto;

(e)  Executive was informed that he or she had seven days following the
date of execution of this Release Agreement in which to revoke this Release Agreement, and
this Release Agreement will become null and void if Executive elects revocation during that
time.  Any revocation must be in writing and must be received by the Company during the
seven-day revocation period.  In the event that Executive exercises his or her right of
revocation, neither the Company nor Executive will have any obligations under this Release
Agreement;
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(f)  Nothing in this Release Agreement prevents or precludes Executive
from challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under
the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition precedent, penalties or costs from doing so,
unless specifically authorized by federal law.]

5.  No Transferred Claims.   Executive warrants and represents that the
Executive has not heretofore assigned or transferred to any person not a party to this
Release Agreement any released matter or any part or portion thereof and he or she shall
defend, indemnify and hold the Company and each of its af iliates harmless from and against
any claim (including the payment of attorneys’ fees and costs actually incurred whether or
not litigation is commenced) based on or in connection with or arising out of any such
assignment or transfer made, purported or claimed.

6.  Covenants.  Executive by executing this release expressly agrees to each of the
foregoing provisions of this Section 6:

(a)  Con identiality.  Executive shall not at any time directly or indirectly,
disclose or make available to any person, irm, corporation, association or other entity for
any reason or purpose whatsoever, any Con idential Information (as de ined below);
provided, however, that this Section 6(a) shall not apply when (i) disclosure is required by
law or by any court, arbitrator, mediator or administrative or legislative body (including any
committee thereof ) with apparent jurisdiction to order the Executive to disclose or make
available such information (provided, however, that the Executive shall promptly notify the
Corporation in writing upon receiving a request for such information), or (ii) with respect to
any other litigation, arbitration or mediation involving this Release Agreement, including but
not limited to enforcement of this Release Agreement.  As of the date of this Release
Agreement, all Con idential Information in the Executive’s possession that is in written, digital
or other tangible form (together with all copies or duplicates thereof, including computer
iles) has  been returned to the Corporation and has not been retained by the Executive or

furnished to any third party, in any form except as provided herein; provided, however, that
the Executive shall not be obligated to treat as con idential, or return to the Corporation
copies of any Confidential Information that (x) was publicly known at the time it was disclosed
to the Executive, (y) becomes publicly known or available thereafter other than by any means
in violation of the Plan or any other duty owed to the Corporation by any person or entity, or
(z) is lawfully disclosed to the Executive by a third party.  As used in this Release Agreement,
the term “Con idential Information”  means: information disclosed to the Executive or
known by the Executive as a consequence of or through the Executive’s relationship with the
Corporation, about the

Except as noted below, Section 4 will be included if the Executive is age 40 or older as of the date that the Executive’s employment by the
Company terminates or in such other circumstances (if any) as the Executive may have claims under the ADEA.  In the event Section 4 is
included, whether the Executive has 21 days, 45 days, or some other period in which to consider the Release Agreement will be
determined with reference to the requirements of the ADEA in order for such waiver to be valid in the circumstances.  The determinations
referred to in the preceding two sentences shall be made by the Company in its sole discretion.  In any event (regardless of the
applicability of the ADEA in the circumstances) the Release Agreement will include the Executive’s acknowledgements and agreements set
forth in clauses 4(a), 4(b) and 4(c).
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suppliers, customers, employees, business methods, public relations methods, organization,
procedures or inances, including, without limitation, information of or relating to supplier
lists or customer lists, of the Corporation and its af iliates (collectively, the “Company
Group”).  Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Release Agreement to the contrary,
Executive shall not be prohibited from reporting possible violations of federal or state law or
regulation to any governmental agency or entity or making other disclosures that are
protected under the whistleblower provisions of federal or state law or regulation, nor is
Executive required to notify the Corporation regarding any such reporting, disclosure or
cooperation with the government.

(b)  Noncompetition.  Executive acknowledges that the nature of the
Company Group’s business and the Executive’s position with the Corporation is such that if
the Executive were to become employed by, or substantially involved in, the business of a
competitor of the Company Group during the 12 months following the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Corporation, it would not be possible, or would be very
dif icult, for the Executive not to rely on or use the Company Group’s trade secrets and
Con idential Information.  Thus, to avoid the inevitable disclosure of the Company Group’s
trade secrets and Con idential Information, and to protect such trade secrets and Con idential
Information and the Company Group’s relationships and goodwill with customers, for a
period of 12 months after the termination date (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive will
not directly or indirectly engage in (whether as an employee, consultant, agent, proprietor,
principal, partner, stockholder, corporate of icer, director or otherwise), nor have any
ownership interest in, or participate in the inancing, operation, management or control of,
any person, irm, corporation or business anywhere in the United States and Mexico (the
“Restricted Area”) that competes with any member of the Company Group in the healthcare
real estate acquisition, development, management, investment or inancing industry (a
“Competing Business”); provided, that the Executive may purchase and hold only for
investment purposes less than two percent of the shares of any corporation in competition
with the Company Group whose shares are regularly traded on a national securities
exchange.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, in the event Executive accepts
employment with or provides services to a business (the “Service Recipient”) that is
af iliated with another business that engages in a Competing Business or which derives a de
minimis portion of its gross revenues from Competing Businesses, the Executive’s
employment by or service to the Service Recipient shall not constitute a breach by Executive
of his or her obligations pursuant to this Section 6(b) so long as each of the following
conditions is satis ied at all times during the Restricted Period and while the Executive is
employed by or providing service to the Service Recipient: (i) no more than 10% of the gross
revenues of the Service Recipient are derived from Competing Businesses; (ii) no more than
10% of the gross revenues of the Service Recipient and those entities that (directly or
through one or more intermediaries) are controlled by, control, or are under common
control with such Service Recipient, together on a consolidated basis, are derived from
Competing Businesses; and (iii) in the course of the Executive’s services for the Service
Recipient, a material portion (no more than 10%) of the Executive’s services are not directly
involved in or responsible for any Competing Business.  The foregoing covenants in this
Section 6(b) shall continue in effect through the entire Restricted Period regardless of
whether the Executive is then entitled to receive any severance payments
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from the Corporation.  The foregoing provision shall not apply to any Executive who was
employed by the Corporation in California on the termination date.

(c)  Non-Solicitation of Employees.  During the Restricted Period,
Executive shall not directly or indirectly solicit, induce, attempt to hire, recruit, encourage,
take away, or hire any employee or independent contractor of the Company Group whose
annual rate of compensation is then $50,000 or more or cause any such Company Group
employee or contractor to leave his or her employment or engagement with the Company
Group either for employment with the Executive or for any other entity or person.  The
foregoing covenants in this Section 6(c) shall continue in effect through the entire Restricted
Period regardless of whether the Executive is then entitled to receive any severance
payments from the Corporation.

(d)  Non-Solicitation of Customers.  During the Restricted
Period, Executive shall not directly or indirectly in luence or attempt to in luence customers,
vendors, suppliers, licensors, lessors, joint venturers, associates, consultants, agents, or
partners of the Company Group to divert their business away from the Company Group to
any Competing Business, and each Executive agrees not to otherwise interfere with, disrupt
or attempt to disrupt the business relationships, contractual or otherwise, between any
member of the Company Group and any of its customers, suppliers, vendors, lessors,
licensors, joint venturers, associates, of icers, employees, consultants, managers, partners,
members or investors.  The foregoing covenants in this Section 6(d) shall continue in effect
through the entire Restricted Period regardless of whether the Executive is then entitled to
receive any severance payments from the Corporation.

(e)  Understanding of Covenants.  Executive, by accepting participation in
the Plan represents as follows: the Executive (i) is familiar with the foregoing covenants set
forth in this Section 6, (ii) is fully aware of the Executive’s obligations hereunder, (iii) agrees
to the reasonableness of the length of time, scope and geographic coverage of the foregoing
covenants set forth in this Section 6, (iv) agrees that the Company Group currently conducts
business throughout the Restricted Area and (v) agrees that such covenants are necessary to
protect the Company Group’s con idential and proprietary information, goodwill, stable
workforce, and customer relations.

(f)  Right to Injunctive and Equitable Relief.    Executive’s obligations
not to disclose or use Con idential Information and to refrain from the solicitations described
in this Section 6 are of a special and unique character, which gives them a peculiar value.  The
Corporation cannot be reasonably or adequately compensated in damages in an action at law
in the event the Executive breaches such obligations, and the breach of such obligations
would cause irreparable harm to the Corporation.  Therefore, the Corporation shall be
entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief without bond or other security in the event of
such breach in addition to any other rights or remedies which the Corporation may
possess.  Furthermore, the Executive’s obligations and the rights and remedies of the
Corporation under this Section 6 are cumulative and in addition to, and not in lieu of, any
obligations, rights, or remedies created by applicable law relating to misappropriation or theft
of trade secrets or confidential information.
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(g)  Cooperation.  Executive shall respond to all reasonable inquiries of the
Corporation about any matters concerning the Corporation or its affairs that occurred or
arose during the Executive’s employment by the Corporation, and the Executive shall
reasonably cooperate with the Corporation in investigating, prosecuting and defending any
charges, claims, demands, liabilities, causes of action, lawsuits or other proceedings by,
against or involving the Corporation relating to the period during which the Executive was
employed by the Corporation or relating to matters of which the Executive had or should
have had knowledge or information.  Further, except as required by law, the Executive will at
no time voluntarily serve as a witness or offer written or oral testimony against the
Corporation in conjunction with any complaints, charges or lawsuits brought against the
Corporation by or on behalf of any current or former employees, or any governmental or
administrative agencies related to the Executive’s period of employment and will provide the
Corporation with notice of any subpoena or other request for such information or testimony.

7.  Severability.   It is the desire and intent of the parties hereto that the
provisions of this Release Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the
laws and public policies applied in each jurisdiction in which enforcement is
sought.  Accordingly, if any particular provision of this Release Agreement shall be
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable
under any present or future law, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective,
without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Release Agreement or affecting the
validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction; furthermore, in lieu of
such invalid or unenforceable provision there will be added automatically as a part of this
Release Agreement, a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid
or unenforceable provision as may be possible.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such
provision could be more narrowly drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable
in such jurisdiction, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating
the remaining provisions of this Release Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability
of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

8.  Counterparts.  This Release Agreement may be executed in separate
counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original and all of which taken together
constitute one and the same agreement.

9.  Governing Law.  THIS RELEASE AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW AND, TO THE EXTENT
NOT PREEMPTED BY UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICTING
PROVISION OR RULE (WHETHER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION) THAT WOULD CAUSE THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN
UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW AND THE LAW OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA TO BE
APPLIED.  IN FURTHERANCE OF THE FOREGOING, APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW AND, TO THE
EXTENT NOT PREEMPTED BY APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW, THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, WILL CONTROL THE INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF
THIS RELEASE AGREEMENT, EVEN IF UNDER SUCH JURISDICTION’S
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CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICT OF LAW ANALYSIS, THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF SOME OTHER
JURISDICTION WOULD ORDINARILY APPLY.

10.  Amendment and Waiver.  The provisions of this Release Agreement may be
amended and waived only with the prior written consent of the Company and Executive, and
no course of conduct or failure or delay in enforcing the provisions of this Release
Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of such provisions or affect the validity, binding
effect or enforceability of this Release Agreement or any provision hereof.

11.  Descriptive Headings.  The descriptive headings of this Release Agreement
are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Release Agreement.

12.  Construction.   Where speci ic language is used to clarify by example a general
statement contained herein, such speci ic language shall not be deemed to modify, limit or
restrict in any manner the construction of the general statement to which it relates.  The
language used in this Release Agreement shall be deemed to be the language chosen by the
parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be applied
against any party.

13.  Arbitration.  Any claim or controversy arising out of or relating to this Release
Agreement shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the arbitration provision set
forth in the Plan.

14.  Nouns and Pronouns.   Whenever the context may require, any pronouns
used herein shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the
singular form of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural and vice-versa.

15.  Legal Counsel.   Each party recognizes that this is a legally binding contract
and acknowledges and agrees that they have had the opportunity to consult with legal
counsel of their choice.  Executive acknowledges and agrees that he has read and
understands this Release Agreement completely, is entering into it freely and voluntarily, and
has been advised to seek counsel prior to entering into this Release Agreement and he has
had ample opportunity to do so.

* * *
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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The undersigned have read and understand the consequences of this Release
Agreement and voluntarily sign it.  The undersigned declare under penalty of perjury under
the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

 
EXECUTED this ________ day of ________ 20__, at ___________, ___________. 

Executive

 
 
Print Name:  
 
 

 

 

HCP, INC.,
a Maryland corporation
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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ENDORSEMENT

I, _______________________, hereby acknowledge that I was given [21/45] days to consider

the foregoing Release Agreement and voluntarily chose to sign the Release Agreement prior

to the expiration of the [21-day/45-day] period.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the State of

_____________ that the foregoing is true and correct.

EXECUTED this ________ day of ________ 20__, at ___________, ___________. 

 
 
 
Print Name:  
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EXHIBIT B

SECTION 280G PROVISIONS

The provisions of this Exhibit B shall apply to each Participant in the HCP, Inc.
Executive Severance Plan (the “Plan”).  Capitalized terms used herein and not
otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Plan.

In the event that any of the payments and other bene its provided under the
Plan or otherwise payable to Participant (i) constitute “parachute payments” within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this Exhibit B, would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (“Excise Tax”), then Participant’s payments
and benefits under the Plan or otherwise shall be payable either:

 
(A)          in full (with the Participant paying any excise taxes due), or

 
(B)          in such lesser amount which would result in no portion of such payments or

bene its being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into
account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the
receipt by Participant, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of payments and bene its
under the Plan or otherwise, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such payments or
bene its may be taxable under Section 4999 of the Code.  Subject to Section 409A of the Code,
any reduction in the payments and bene its required by this Exhibit B will be made in the
following order: (i) reduction of cash payments; (ii) reduction of accelerated vesting of equity
awards other than stock options; (iii) reduction of accelerated vesting of stock options; and
(iv) reduction of other benefits paid or provided to Participant.

* * *
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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EXHIBIT 10.4

EXECUTIVE CHANGE IN CONTROL SEVERANCE PLAN

(As Amended and Restated as of May 6, 2016)

1 .          Establishment and Purpose.  HCP, Inc. (the “ Corporation”) considers it
essential to the best interests of its shareholders to foster the continuous employment of key
management personnel.  In connection with this, the Corporation’s Board of Directors (the
“Board”) recognizes that, as is the case with many publicly held corporations, the possibility
of a change in control of the Corporation may exist and that the uncertainty and questions
that it may raise among management could result in the departure or distraction of
management personnel to the detriment of the Corporation and its shareholders.  The Board
has decided to reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication of selected
members of the Corporation’s management to their assigned duties without the distraction
arising from the possibility of a change in control of the Corporation.  In order to induce such
members of management to remain in its employ, the Corporation hereby agrees that on and
after the Effective Date (as de ined in Section 2), subject to the terms and conditions of the
Plan (as de ined in Section 2), Participants (as de ined in Section 3) shall be eligible to receive
the severance bene its set forth in Section 6 of the Plan in the event that the Participants’
employment with the Corporation is terminated under the circumstances described in Section
5 subsequent to a Change in Control (as de ined in Section 4).  Upon the Effective Date, any
prior severance agreement or letter between each Participant and the Corporation shall
terminate and be of no further effect.

2 .          Term of Plan.  The Executive Change in Control Severance Plan was originally
established effective July 26, 2007 (the “Effective Date”), as amended effective March 13,
2014, and is hereby amended and restated effective May 6, 2016 (as so amended and
restated, the “Plan”).  The Plan shall continue in effect until such time as it is terminated by
the Corporation (the period during which the Plan is in effect, the “Term”); provided,
however, that any such termination of the Term will not become effective with respect to a
Participant until the 30  day following the date on which notice thereof is given to the
Participant; provided, further, that if a Change in Control occurs during the Term, the Term
shall continue in effect as to each Participant in the Plan at the time of the Change in Control
for a period of not less than 24 months beyond the month in which such Change in Control
occurred (the “Change in Control Term”).  For purposes of clarity, the Corporation may give
notice of termination of the Term to all or only certain Participants. If such notice is given to
only certain Participants, the Term shall continue as set forth above as to all other
Participants (subject to the Corporation’s rights to similarly terminate the Term in accordance
with the foregoing on some future date(s) as to any such Participants).  A Participant shall
cease to be eligible for bene its under the Plan (and shall cease to be a Participant) at
midnight Paci ic Time on the last day of the Term applicable to that Participant.  The
termination or expiration of the Term as to a Participant shall not affect the Participant’s right
to bene its (if any) pursuant to Section 6 as to any termination of employment that occurred
during such Term.
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3.          Participation.    

(a)          Participation.    The Chief Executive Of icer of the Corporation, the
Executive Chairman of the Corporation and each Executive Vice President and Senior Vice
President of the Corporation who holds such position as of May 6, 2016 and) each person
who is hired or promoted to such a position, in each case, unless otherwise determined by the
Compensation Committee of the Board (the “Committee”),  shall automatically participate in
the Plan (each, an “Automatic Participant”).  The Committee shall from time to time
designate in writing other employees of the Corporation who shall participate in the Plan
(together with Automatic Participants, “Participants”).  Notwithstanding anything else
contained herein to the contrary, the Committee shall limit the class of persons selected to
participate in the Plan to a select group of management or highly compensated employees, as
set forth in Sections 201, 301 and 401 of ERISA.    Unless otherwise determined by the
Committee, the Severance Multiplier shall be (i) 3 for the Chief Executive Of icer of the
Corporation and the Executive Chairman of the Corporation, (ii) 2 for an Executive Vice
President of the Corporation and (iii) 1.5 for a Senior Vice President of the Corporation. The
Severance Multiplier for all other Participants shall be determined by the Committee at the
time they are selected to participate in the Plan.

(b)          Termination of Employment.   Notwithstanding anything else
contained in the Plan to the contrary, a Participant shall not be deemed to have terminated
employment with the Corporation if his or her employment by the Corporation terminates
but he or she otherwise continues, immediately after such termination of employment, as an
employee of a subsidiary of the Corporation (a “Subsidiary”) or is offered employment
(which, in either case, would not result in Participant being able to terminate employment for
Good Reason if Participant’s terms of employment were similarly changed by the
Corporation) by any successor corporation or acquirer of the Corporation; provided that
whether the Participant has Good Reason to terminate employment shall be determined by
comparing the Participant’s authority, duties, responsibilities and other terms of employment
after giving effect to such change to the Participant’s authority, duties, responsibilities and
other terms of employment before giving effect to such change (in each case relative to the
Corporation and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, not simply with reference to the
Participant’s employer).

(c)          Bene it Offset.  Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, in the event
that  a Participant would be entitled to severance bene its pursuant to an employment
agreement entered into with the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries, in connection with a
termination of the Participant's employment as described in the Plan, the Participant will be
entitled to receive the bene its provided under the Plan only.  In no event will the Participant
be entitled to receive severance bene its under both the Plan and such employment
agreement.  Except as provided in the preceding sentence, any severance bene its otherwise
payable under the Plan to a Participant shall be offset or reduced by (i) any severance
bene its payable or deliverable to the Participant under any other plan, program, or
agreement of or with the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) any other severance
pay, termination indemnity, notice pay, or similar payment that the Corporation or any of its
Subsidiaries is required by law to make to the Participant.
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4 .          Change in Control.  No bene its shall be payable under Section 6 unless there
has been a Change in Control.  For purposes of the Plan, a “Change in Control” shall be
deemed to occur if any of the following take place on or after the Effective Date:

( a )          The acquisition by any individual, entity or group (within the meaning
of Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”)
(a “Person”)) of bene icial ownership (within the meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under
the Exchange Act) of 30% or more of either (i) the then-outstanding shares of common stock
of the Corporation (the “Outstanding Company Common Stock”) or (ii) the combined
voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities of the Corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding Company Voting Securities”);
provided, however, that, for purposes of this clause (a), the following acquisitions shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (A) any acquisition directly from the Corporation, (B) any
acquisition by the Corporation, (C) any acquisition by any employee bene it plan (or related
trust) sponsored or maintained by the Corporation or any af iliate of the Corporation or a
successor, (D) any acquisition by any entity pursuant to a transaction that complies with
clauses (c)(i), (ii) and (iii) below, and (E) any acquisition by a Person who owned at least 30%
of either the Outstanding Company Common Stock or the Outstanding Company Voting
Securities as of the Effective Date or an affiliate of any such Person;

( b)          A change in the Board or its members such that individuals who, as of
the later of the Effective Date or the date that is two years prior to such change (the later of
such two dates is referred to as the “Measurement Date”), constitute the Board (the
“Incumbent Board”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of the Board;
provided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsequent to the Measurement
Date whose election, or nomination for election by the Corporation’s stockholders, was
approved by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then comprising the Incumbent
Board (including for these purposes, the new members whose election or nomination was so
approved, without counting the member and his predecessor twice) shall be considered as
though such individual were a member of the Incumbent Board, but excluding, for this
purpose, any such individual whose initial assumption of of ice occurs as a result of an actual
or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors or other
actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of a Person other than
the Board;

( c )          Consummation of a reorganization, merger, statutory share exchange
or consolidation or similar corporate transaction involving the Corporation or any of its
Subsidiaries, a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Corporation, or the acquisition of assets or stock of another entity by the Corporation or any
of its Subsidiaries (each, a “Business Combination”), in each case unless, following such
Business Combination, (i) all or substantially all of the individuals and entities that were the
bene icial owners of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and the Outstanding Company
Voting Securities immediately prior to such Business Combination beneficially own, directly or
indirectly, more than 66-2/3% of the then-outstanding shares of common stock and the
combined voting power of the then-outstanding voting securities
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entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, as the case may be, of the entity resulting
from such Business Combination (including, without limitation, an entity that, as a result of
such transaction, owns the Corporation or all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets
directly or through one or more subsidiaries (a “Parent”)) in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership immediately prior to such Business Combination of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock and the Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the
case may be, (ii) no Person (excluding any entity resulting from such Business Combination or
a Parent or any employee bene it plan (or related trust) of the Corporation or such entity
resulting from such Business Combination or Parent) bene icially owns, directly or indirectly,
more than 30% of, respectively, the then-outstanding shares of common stock of the entity
resulting from such Business Combination or the combined voting power of the then-
outstanding voting securities of such entity, except to the extent that the ownership in excess
of 30% existed prior to the Business Combination, and (iii) at least a majority of the members
of the board of directors or trustees of the entity resulting from such Business Combination
or a Parent were members of the Incumbent Board (determined pursuant to clause (b) above
using the date that is the later of the Effective Date or the date that is two years prior to the
Business Combination as the Measurement Date) at the time of the execution of the initial
agreement or of the action of the Board providing for such Business Combination; or

( d )          Approval by the stockholders of the Corporation of a complete
liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation other than in the context of a transaction that
does not constitute a Change in Control under clause 0 above.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required to avoid the imposition of
additional taxes under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), if a Change in Control does not constitute a “change in control event,” as de ined in
Treasury Regulation 1.409A-3(i)(5) (or to the extent otherwise required by Section 409A of
the Code),  with respect to a Participant's compensation which constitutes deferral of
compensation subject to Section 409A of the Code under an arrangement that must be
aggregated with the Plan for purposes of Treasury Regulations 1.409A-1(c)(2) (the "409A
Arrangement"), payments pursuant to the Plan that are not in excess of the amount that
would be payable to such Participant under such 409A Arrangement shall be made at the time
and in the manner provided by such 409A Arrangement and the remaining amount, if any,
shall be paid in accordance with the Plan.

 
5.          Termination Following Change in Control.

(a)          General.  During the Term, if any of the events described in Section 4
constituting a Change in Control shall have occurred, each Participant shall be entitled to the
bene its provided in Section 6(b) upon the subsequent termination of his or her employment,
provided that such termination occurs during the Term and within the two year period
immediately following the date of such Change in Control, unless such termination is (i)
because of the Participant’s death or Disability (as de ined in Section 5 (b)), (ii) by the
Corporation for Cause (as de ined in Section 5(c)), or (iii) by the Participant other than for
Good Reason (including a voluntary retirement when the
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Participant otherwise does not have Good Reason to terminate employment).  In the event
that the Participant is entitled to such bene its, such bene its shall be paid notwithstanding the
subsequent expiration of the Term.  For purposes of clarity, no Participant shall be entitled to
any bene its under the Plan if his or her employment with the Corporation terminates for any
reason before a Change in Control occurs or more than two years after a Change in Control
occurs.

(b)          Disability.   As to any particular Participant, “Disability” means the
Participant’s inability, because of physical or mental illness or injury, to perform the essential
functions of his or her customary duties to the Corporation, even with a reasonable
accommodation, and the continuation of such disabled condition for a period of 180
continuous days, or for not less than 210 days during any continuous 24 month period.

(c)          Cause.  Termination by the Corporation of a Participant’s employment
for “Cause” shall mean termination (i) upon the Participant’s willful and continued failure to
perform his or her duties with the Corporation (other than any such failure resulting from his
or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness or any such actual or anticipated failure
after the Participant’s issuance of a Notice of Termination (as de ined in Section 5(f )) for
Good Reason), after a written demand for performance is delivered to the Participant by the
Committee, which demand speci ically identi ies the manner in which the Committee believes
that the Participant has not performed his or her duties, (ii) upon the Participant’s willful and
continued failure to follow and comply with the speci ic and lawful directives of the
Committee, as reasonably determined by the Committee (other than any such failure resulting
from the Participant’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness or any such actual or
anticipated failure after the Participant’s issuance of a Notice of Termination for Good
Reason), after a written demand for performance is delivered to the Participant by the
Committee, which demand speci ically identi ies the manner in which the Committee believes
that the Participant has not performed his or her duties, (iii) upon the Participant’s willful and
continued failure to follow and comply with the policies of the Corporation as in effect from
time to time (other than any such failure resulting from the Participant’s incapacity due to
physical or mental illness or any such actual or anticipated failure after the Participant’s
issuance of a Notice of Termination for Good Reason), after a written demand for
performance is delivered to the Participant by the Committee, which demand speci ically
identi ies the manner in which the Committee believes that the Participant has not followed or
complied with such Corporation policies; (iv) upon the Participant’s willful commission of an
act of material fraud or dishonesty; (v) upon the Participant’s willful engagement in illegal
conduct or gross misconduct; or (vi) upon the Participant’s indictment for, conviction of, or a
plea of guilty or nolo contendere to any felony.

(d)          Good Reason.  A Participant shall be entitled to terminate his or her
employment for Good Reason. For purposes of the Plan, “Good Reason” shall mean, without
the Participant’s express written consent, the occurrence after a Change in Control and during
the Term of any of the following:

5
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(i)  the assignment to the Participant of any duties inconsistent with the
position in the Corporation that the Participant held immediately prior to the Change in
Control, a signi icant adverse alteration in the nature or status of the Participant’s
responsibilities or the conditions of the Participant’s employment from those in effect
immediately prior to such Change in Control, or any other action by the Corporation or
its successor or acquirer, that results in a material diminution in the Participant’s
position, authority, duties or responsibilities;

(ii)  the reduction of the Participant’s annual base salary as in effect on the
Effective Date or as the same may be increased from time to time;

(iii)  the relocation of of ices at which the Participant is principally employed
immediately prior to the date of the Change in Control to a location more than 30 miles
from such location;

(iv)  the Corporation’s failure to pay to the Participant any portion of his or
her current compensation or to pay to the Participant any portion of an installment of
deferred compensation under any deferred compensation program of the Corporation
reasonably promptly after the date such compensation is due;

(v)  the Corporation’s failure to continue in effect any material compensation
or bene it plan in which the Participant participates immediately prior to the Change in
Control, unless a substantially equitable arrangement (embodied in an ongoing
substitute or alternative plan) has been made with respect to such plan, or the
Corporation’s failure to continue the Participant’s participation therein (or in such
substitute or alternative plan) on a basis not materially less favorable, both in terms of
the amount of bene its provided and the level of the Participant’s participation relative
to other participants, as existed at the time of the Change in Control;

(vi)  the Corporation’s failure to obtain a satisfactory agreement from any
successor to assume and agree to perform the Plan, as contemplated in Section
9 hereof; or

(vii)  any purported termination of the Participant’s employment that is not
effected pursuant to a Notice of Termination satisfying the requirements of Section 5(f)
(and, if applicable, the requirements of Section 5(c)), which purported termination
shall not be effective for purposes of the Plan.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such condition shall constitute “Good Reason”
unless the Participant provides written notice of such condition to the Corporation and the
Corporation fails to remedy the condition claimed to constitute Good Reason within 30 days
of receiving written notice thereof; and provided, further, that in all events the termination of
the Participant’s employment with the Corporation shall not be treated as a termination for
“Good Reason” unless such termination occurs not more than six months following the initial
existence of the condition claimed to constitute Good Reason.  A Participant’s right to
terminate his or her employment pursuant to this Section 5(d) shall
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not be affected by his or her incapacity due to physical or mental illness.  A Participant’s
continued employment shall not constitute consent to, or a waiver of rights with respect to,
any circumstance constituting Good Reason hereunder.

(e)          Termination Generally.   For purposes of clarity, a Participant or the
Corporation shall be entitled to terminate the Participant’s employment for any reason or no
reason at any time after a Change in Control effective as of the applicable date set forth in
Section 5(a).

(f)          Notice of Termination. Any purported termination of a Participant’s
employment by the Corporation or by the Participant (other than termination due to death
which shall terminate the Participant’s employment automatically) shall be communicated by
written Notice of Termination to the Participant or the Corporation, respectively, other party
hereto in accordance with Section 13. “Notice of Termination” shall mean a notice that shall
indicate the speci ic termination provision in the Plan relied upon and shall set forth in
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances claimed to provide a basis for termination of
the Participant’s employment under the provision so indicated.

(g)          Date of Termination, Etc.   “Date of Termination” shall mean (i) if a
Participant’s employment is terminated due to the Participant’s death, the date of the
Participant’s death; (ii) if a Participant’s employment is terminated for Disability, 30 days after
Notice of Termination is given (provided that the Participant shall not have returned to the
full-time performance of his or her duties during such 30-day period); and (iii) if a
Participant’s employment is terminated for any other reason, the date speci ied in the Notice
of Termination.

6 .          Compensation Upon Termination Following a Change in Control .  If a
Participant’s employment is terminated following a Change in Control during the Term and
during the two year period immediately following the date of the Change in Control, the
Participant shall be entitled to the bene its described below, subject to the other terms and
conditions of the Plan:

(a)          If the Participant’s employment is terminated in such circumstances by
the Corporation for Cause or Disability or by the Participant other than for Good Reason or
due to the Participant’s death, the Corporation shall pay the Participant (i) the Participant’s
accrued and unpaid base salary and vacation (if any) through the Date of Termination, and
(ii) all other amounts to which the Participant is entitled under any compensation plan of the
Corporation at the time such payments are due, and the Corporation shall have no further
obligations to the Participant under the Plan;    

(b)          If the Participant’s employment by the Corporation shall be terminated
by the Participant for Good Reason or by the Corporation other than for Cause or Disability
and in all cases other than due to the Participant’s death, then, subject to the provisions of
Section 7, the Participant shall be entitled to the bene its provided below.      For purposes of
this Section 6(b), “Annual Bonus Amount” shall mean (A) with respect to each Participant
who is serving as the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the
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Executive Chairman of the Corporation, or a Named Executive Of icer of the Corporation (as
de ined for purposes of the proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of the
Corporation) immediately prior to the Change in Control  or is otherwise designated by the
Committee as a “potential named executive of icer” pursuant to a designation in effect
immediately prior to the Change in Control, the target annual bonus amount in effect for such
Participant immediately prior to the Change in Control, and (B) with respect to all other
Participants, the greater of (1) the last annual bonus actually paid to the Participant prior to
the Date of Termination (or if greater, prior to the Change in Control) for a full iscal year of
employment with the Corporation and (2) the average of the last three annual bonuses
actually paid to the Participant for the last three full iscal years of employment with the
Corporation prior to the Date of Termination (or if greater, prior to the Change in Control)
(or the average of such lower number of bonuses that were actually paid for full iscal years
of employment with the Corporation prior to the Date of Termination or the Change in
Control, whichever is greater), which shall, in each case of clause (1) and (2), be determined
without regard to the payment of any special bonuses (e.g. transaction bonuses); provided, if
the Participant, on the Date of Termination, has never been paid an annual bonus with respect
to one full iscal year, then the Participant’s Annual Bonus Amount shall equal (x) the amount
of the Participant’s guaranteed bonus in respect of the year of termination, if applicable, or
(y) if the Participant is not eligible to receive a guaranteed bonus in respect of the year of
termination, then the amount of the Participant’s Annual Base Salary.  For purposes of this
Section 6(b), a Participant’s “Annual Base Salary” shall mean the greater of (I) the
Participant’s annual base salary as in effect as of the Date of Termination or (II) the
Participant’s annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to the Change in Control;

(i)  The Corporation shall pay to the Participant (A) the Participant’s accrued
and unpaid base salary and vacation (if any) through the Date of Termination, (B) the
unpaid portion, if any, of any annual bonus, plus an amount equal to the Participant’s
applicable Annual Bonus Amount multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is
the number of calendar days that the Participant was employed by the Corporation
during the year of termination and the denominator of which is 365, and (C) all other
amounts to which the Participant is entitled under any compensation plan of the
Corporation at the time such payments are due;

(ii)  A lump sum severance payment equal to the sum of: (A) the Participant’s
Severance Multiplier times the Participant’s Annual Base Salary; plus (B) the
Participant’s Severance Multiplier times the Participant’s Annual Bonus Amount;

(iii)  A cash payment equal to the expected aggregate cost of the premiums
that would be charged to the Participant to continue medical coverage pursuant to the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”), at the same or reasonably
equivalent medical coverage for the Participant (and, if applicable, the Participant’s
eligible dependents) as in effect immediately prior to the Participant’s Date of
Termination, for a period of months after the Participant’s Date of Termination equal
to 12 multiplied by the Participant’s Severance Multiplier;
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(iv)  (A) Any stock options or equity or equity-related compensation or
grants that vest based on the passage of time and continued performance of services
(to the extent outstanding and not otherwise vested as of the Date of Termination, and
exclusive of any grants that include performance-based vesting criteria) shall become
fully vested immediately prior to such termination; (B) any stock options or equity or
equity-related compensation or grants that vest based on the satisfaction of
performance-based criteria (to the extent outstanding and not otherwise vested as of
the Date of Termination) shall continue to be governed by the provisions of the
applicable award agreement in the circumstances; provided, however, that to the
extent that any such then-outstanding equity-based awards are subject to forfeiture
and/or vesting requirements based on the passage of time, such awards shall be fully
accelerated with respect to such time-based forfeiture and/or vesting provisions; and
(C) the Participant shall have until the date that is 12 months after his or her Date of
Termination (24 months for each individual serving as Chief Executive Of icer of the
Corporation or Executive Chairman of the Corporation) to exercise any stock option to
the extent that it has become vested as of the Date of Termination, subject to earlier
termination of the stock option upon the stock option’s original expiration date or the
occurrence of a change in control event or certain similar reorganization event under
the terms of the applicable award agreement.  Except as provided in this Section 6(b)
(iv), the effect of a termination of employment on a Participant’s equity-based awards
shall be determined under the terms of the applicable award agreement;

(v)  The Participant shall be fully vested in his or her accrued bene its under
any nonquali ied pension, pro it sharing, deferred compensation or supplemental
plans maintained by the Corporation and the Corporation shall pay the Participant a
cash lump sum amount equal to the portion of the Participant’s account under the
Corporation’s 401(k) plan (including, without limitation, any 401(k) matching
contributions), if any, that has not become vested under the terms of such plan as of
the Date of Termination;

(vi)  The Corporation shall furnish the Participant for six years following the
Date of Termination (without reference to whether the Term continues in effect) with
directors’ and of icers’ liability insurance insuring the Participant against insurable
events which occur or have occurred while the Participant was a director or of icer of
the Corporation, such insurance to have policy limits aggregating not less than the
amount in effect immediately prior to the Change in Control, and otherwise to be in
substantially the same form and to contain substantially the same terms, conditions
and exceptions as the liability issuance policies provided for of icers and directors of
the Corporation in force from time to time, provided, however, that such terms,
conditions and exceptions shall not be, in the aggregate, materially less favorable to the
Participant than those in effect on the Effective Date; provided, further, that if the
aggregate annual premiums for such insurance at any time during such period exceed
150% of the per annum rate of premium currently paid by the Corporation for such
insurance, then the Corporation shall provide the
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maximum coverage that will then be available at an annual premium equal to 150% of
such rate; and

(vii)    In any situation where under applicable law the Corporation has the
power to indemnify (or advance expenses to) the Participant in respect of any
judgments, ines, settlements, loss, cost or expense (including attorneys’ fees) of any
nature related to or arising out of the Participant’s activities as an agent, employee,
of icer or director of the Corporation or in any other capacity on behalf of or at the
request of the Corporation, the Corporation shall promptly on written request,
indemnify (and advance expenses to) the Participant to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law, including but not limited to making such indings and determinations
and taking any and all such actions as the Corporation may, under applicable law, be
permitted to have the discretion to take so as to effectuate such indemni ication or
advancement.  Such agreement by the Corporation shall not be deemed to impair any
other obligation of the Corporation respecting the Participant’s indemni ication
otherwise arising out of this or any other agreement or promise of the Corporation or
under any statute.

( c )          The payments described in Sections 6(a)(i) and 6(b)(i)(A), as
applicable, shall be paid in cash to the Participant as soon as practicable following the Date of
Termination.    Subject to Sections  4, 7 and 21, the payments described in Sections  6(b)(i)(B),
6(b)(ii),  6(b)(iii),  6(b)(iv) and 6(b)(v), as applicable, shall be paid in cash (or if so provided in
an award agreement relating to the grant of restricted stock units or other equity-based
awards other than stock options, in shares) to the Participant in a single lump sum on (or with
respect to payment in shares, as soon as practicable after) the irst regularly scheduled
payroll date that occurs after the Participant’s release contemplated by Section 7(a) becomes
irrevocable by the Participant in accordance with applicable law; provided that if the period
during which the Participant is permitted to consider the release in accordance with Section
7(a) begins in one calendar year and ends in a second calendar year, such payment shall in all
events be made in the second calendar year.

( d )          The foregoing provisions of this Section 6 shall not affect: (i) a
Participant’s receipt of bene its otherwise due terminated employees under group insurance
coverage consistent with the terms of the applicable Corporation welfare bene it plan; (ii) a
Participant’s rights under COBRA to continue participation in medical, dental, hospitalization
and life insurance coverage; or (iii) a Participant’s receipt of bene its otherwise due in
accordance with the terms of the Corporation’s 401(k) plan (if any).

7.          Release; Exclusive Remedy.    

( a )          This Section 7 shall apply notwithstanding anything else contained in
the Plan or any other stock option, restricted stock or other equity-based award agreement to
the contrary.  The Corporation’s obligation to make any payment of bene its with respect to a
Participant pursuant to Section 6(b) (if the Participant is otherwise entitled to such bene its),
other than those set forth in Section 6(b)(i)(A), is subject to the condition precedent that (i)
the Participant has fully executed a valid and effective release
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(in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A or such other form as the Committee may
reasonably require in the circumstances, which other form shall be substantially similar to
that attached hereto as Exhibit A but with such changes as the Committee may determine to
be required or reasonably advisable in order to make the release enforceable and otherwise
compliant with applicable laws), (ii) such executed release is delivered by the Participant to
the Corporation so that it is received by the Corporation in the time period speci ied below,
and (iii) such release is not revoked by the Participant (pursuant to any revocation rights
afforded by applicable law).  In order to satisfy the requirements of this Section 7(a), a
Participant’s release referred to in the preceding sentence must be delivered by the
Participant to the Corporation so that it is received by the Corporation no later than 25
calendar days after the Participant’s Date of Termination (or such later date as may be
required for an enforceable release of the Participant’s claims under the United States Age
Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as amended (“ADEA”), to the extent the ADEA is
applicable in the circumstances, in which case the Participant will be provided with either 21
or 45 days, depending on the circumstances of the termination, to consider the release).  In
addition, the Corporation may require that the Participant’s release be executed no earlier
than the date that the Participant’s employment with the Corporation terminates.

( b )          Each Participant agrees that the general release agreement described
in Section 7(a) will require that the Participant acknowledge, as a condition to the payment of
any bene its under Section 6(b)  (other than those set forth in Section 6(b)(i)(A)), that the
payments contemplated by Section 6(b) shall constitute the exclusive and sole remedy for any
termination of the Participant’s employment, and each Participant will be required to
covenant, as a condition to receiving any such payment, not to assert or pursue any other
remedies, at law or in equity, with respect to any termination of employment.  No Participant
shall be required to mitigate the amount of any payment provided for in Section 6 by seeking
other employment or otherwise nor shall the amount of any payment or bene it provided for
in Section 6 be reduced by any compensation earned by the Participant as the result of
employment by another employer or self-employment, by retirement bene its, by offset
against any amount claimed to be owed by the Participant to the Corporation, or otherwise.

8 .          Section 280G.  Each Participant shall be covered by the provisions set forth in
Exhibit B hereto, incorporated herein by this reference.

9.          Successors; Assigns

( a )          The Corporation shall require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the
business and/or assets of the Corporation to expressly assume and agree to perform the
obligations under the Plan in the same manner and to the same extent that the Corporation
would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place.  Failure of the
Corporation to obtain such assumption and agreement prior to the effectiveness of any such
succession shall be deemed a material breach of the Plan by the Corporation and shall entitle
each Participant to terminate his or her employment and receive compensation
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from the Corporation in the same amount and on the same terms to which the Participant
would be entitled hereunder if the Participant terminates his or her employment for Good
Reason following a Change in Control, except that for purposes of implementing the
foregoing, the date on which any such succession becomes effective shall be deemed the Date
of Termination.  Unless expressly provided otherwise, “Corporation” as used herein shall
mean the Corporation as de ined in the Plan and any successor to its business and/or assets
as aforesaid.

( b )          None of the bene its, payments, proceeds or claims of any Participant
shall be subject to any claim of any creditor and, in particular, the same shall not be subject to
attachment or garnishment or other legal process by any creditor, nor shall any such
Participant have any right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any of
the bene its or payments or proceeds which he or she may expect to receive, contingently or
otherwise, under the Plan.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, bene its which are in pay status
may be subject to a court-ordered garnishment or wage assignment, or similar order, or a tax
levy.  The Plan shall inure to the bene it of and be enforceable by each Participant’s personal
or legal representatives, executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees,
and legatees.  If a Participant dies while any amount would still be payable to him or her
hereunder had he or she continued to live, all such amounts, unless otherwise provided
herein, shall be paid to the Participant’s estate in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

10.          Claims Procedures.

(a)          Presentation of Claim. Any Participant (such Participant being
referred to below as a “Claimant”) may deliver to the Committee a written claim for a
determination with respect to the bene its payable to such Claimant pursuant to the Plan.  If
such a claim relates to the contents of a notice received by the Claimant, the claim must be
made within 60 days after such notice was received by the Claimant.  All other claims must be
made within 180 days of the date on which the event that caused the claim to arise
occurred.  The claim must state with particularity the determination desired by the Claimant.

(b)          Noti ication of Decision.  The Committee shall consider a Claimant’s
claim within a reasonable time, but no later than 90 days after receiving the claim.  If the
Committee determines that special circumstances require an extension of time for processing
the claim, written notice of the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the
termination of the initial 90 day period.  In no event shall such extension exceed a period of
90 days from the end of the initial 90 day period.  The extension notice shall indicate the
special circumstances requiring an extension of time and the date by which the Committee
expects to render the bene it determination.  The Committee shall notify the Claimant in
writing:

(i)  that the Claimant’s requested determination has been made, and that the
claim has been allowed in full; or
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(ii)  that the Committee has reached a conclusion contrary, in whole or in
part, to the Claimant’s requested determination, and such notice must set forth in a
manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant:

A.          the specific reason(s) for the denial of the claim, or any part of it;

B.          speci ic reference(s) to pertinent provisions of the Plan upon
which such denial was based;

C.          a description of any additional material or information necessary
for the Claimant to perfect the claim, and an explanation of why such material
or information is necessary;

D.          an explanation of the claim review procedure and the time limits
applicable to such procedures set forth in Section 10(c); and

E.          a statement of the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action under
ERISA Section 502(a) following an adverse determination on review.

(c)          Review of a Denied Claim.  On or before 60 days after receiving a
notice from the Committee that a claim has been denied, in whole or in part, a Claimant (or
the Claimant’s duly authorized representative) may ile with the Committee a written request
for a review of the denial of the claim.  The Claimant (or the Claimant’s duly authorized
representative):

(i)  may, upon request and free of charge, have reasonable access to, and
copies of, all documents, records and other information relevant to the claim for
benefits;

(ii)  may submit written comments or other documents; and/or

(iii)  may request a hearing, which the Committee, in its sole discretion, may
grant.

(d)          Decision on Review.  The Committee shall render its decision on
review promptly, and no later than 60 days after the Committee receives the Claimant’s
written request for a review of the denial of the claim.  If the Committee determines that
special circumstances require an extension of time for processing the claim, written notice of
the extension shall be furnished to the Claimant prior to the termination of the initial 60 day
period.  In no event shall such extension exceed a period of 60 days from the end of the initial
60 day period.  The extension notice shall indicate the special circumstances requiring an
extension of time and the date by which the Committee expects to render the bene it
determination.  In rendering its decision, the Committee shall take into account all comments,
documents, records and other information submitted by the Claimant relating to the claim,
without regard to whether such information was submitted or considered in
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the initial bene it determination.  The decision must be written in a manner calculated to be
understood by the Claimant, and it must contain:

(i)  specific reasons for the decision;

(ii)  speci ic reference(s) to the pertinent Plan provisions upon which the
decision was based;

(iii)  a statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and
free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of, all documents, records and other
information relevant (as de ined in applicable ERISA regulations) to the Claimant’s
claim for benefits; and

(iv)  a description of the Claimant's right to bring a civil action under Section
502(a) of ERISA following an adverse benefit determination on review.

11.          Arbitration; Dispute Resolution, Etc.    

( a )          Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, the
Participant, in his or her sole discretion, may elect to have any claim or controversy arising
out of or in connection with the Plan submitted to binding arbitration and adjudicated in
accordance with this Section 11 without irst having to exhaust the claims procedures set
forth in Section 10.

( b )          The Corporation and, by accepting participation in the Plan, each
Participant hereby consent to the resolution by mandatory and binding arbitration of all
claims or controversies arising out of or in connection with the Plan that the Corporation may
have against the Participant, or that the Participant may have against the Corporation or
against any of its of icers, directors, employees or agents acting in their capacity as such, and
which are not resolved under the terms of Section 10 (or which are not required to be
resolved under the terms of Section 10, as the case may be).  Each party’s promise to resolve
all such claims or controversies by arbitration in accordance with the Plan rather than
through the courts is consideration for the other party’s like promise.  It is further agreed
that the decision of an arbitrator on any issue, dispute, claim or controversy submitted for
arbitration, shall be inal and binding upon the Corporation and the Participant and that
judgment may be entered on the award of the arbitrator in any court having proper
jurisdiction.

( c )          Except as otherwise provided in this procedure or by mutual
agreement of the parties, any arbitration shall be before a sole arbitrator (the “Arbitrator”)
selected from Judicial Arbitration & Mediation Services, Inc., Los Angeles, California, or its
successor (“JAMS”), or if JAMS is no longer able to supply the Arbitrator, such Arbitrator shall
be selected from the American Arbitration Association, and shall be conducted in accordance
with the provisions of California Civil Procedure Code Sections 1280 et. seq. as the exclusive
remedy of such dispute.    
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( d )          The Arbitrator shall interpret the Plan, any applicable Corporation
policy or rules and regulations, any applicable substantive law (and the law of remedies, if
applicable) of the state in which the claim arose, or applicable federal law.  If arbitration is
brought after the claim or controversy has been submitted for review by the Committee in
accordance with Section 10, the Arbitrator shall limit his or her review to whether or not the
Committee has abused its discretion in its interpretation of the Plan and such policies, rules,
and regulations; provided, however, that the Arbitrator shall apply a de novo standard of
review with respect to any claim for bene its hereunder in connection with a Change in
Control.  In reaching his or her decision, the Arbitrator shall have no authority to change or
modify any lawful Corporation policy, rule or regulation, or the Plan.  Except as provided in
Section 11(e), the Arbitrator, and not any federal, state or local court or agency, shall have
exclusive and broad authority to resolve any dispute relating to the interpretation,
applicability, enforceability or formation of the Plan, including but not limited to, any claim
that all or any part of the Plan is voidable.  The Arbitrator shall have the authority to decide
dispositive motions.  Following completion of the arbitration, the arbitrator shall issue a
written decision disclosing the essential indings and conclusions upon which the award is
based.

( e )          Notwithstanding the foregoing, provisional injunctive relief may, but
need not, be sought by the Participant or the Corporation in a court of law while arbitration
proceedings are pending, and any provisional injunctive relief granted by such court shall
remain effective until the matter is inally resolved by the Arbitrator in accordance with the
foregoing.  Final resolution of any dispute through arbitration may include any remedy or
relief which would otherwise be available at law and which the Arbitrator deems just and
equitable.  The Arbitrator shall have the authority to award full damages as provided by
law.  Any award or relief granted by the Arbitrator hereunder shall be inal and binding on
the parties hereto and may be enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction.

( f )          The Corporation shall pay the reasonable fees and expenses of the
Arbitrator and of a stenographic reporter, if employed.  Each party shall pay its own legal fees
and other expenses and costs incurred with respect to the arbitration.

12.          Administration of the Plan.

(a)          General. The Corporation shall be the plan administrator (within the
meaning of Section 3(16)(A) of ERISA).  The Corporation delegates its duties under the Plan
to the Committee.  The Committee delegates the day-to-day ministerial duties with respect to
the Plan to the Corporation’s management.  The Committee and its delegates shall be named
fiduciaries of the Plan to the extent required by ERISA.

(b)          Powers and Duties of the Committee. The Committee shall enforce
the Plan in accordance with its terms, shall be charged with the general administration of the
Plan, and shall have all powers necessary to accomplish its purposes, including, but not by
way of limitation, the power and authority to do the following:

(i)  To determine eligibility for and participation in the Plan;
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(ii)  To construe and interpret the terms and provisions of the Plan;

(iii)  To compute and certify to the amount and kind of bene its payable to
Participants and their bene iciaries, and to determine the amount of withholding taxes
to be deducted pursuant to Section 15;

(iv)  To maintain all records that may be necessary for the administration of
the Plan;

(v)  To provide for the disclosure of all information and the iling or
provision of all reports and statements to Participants, bene iciaries or governmental
agencies as shall be required by law;

(vi)To make and publish such rules for the regulation of the Plan and procedures for
the administration of the Plan as are not inconsistent with the terms hereof; and

(vii)  To appoint a plan manager or any other agent, and to delegate to them
such powers and duties in connection with the administration of the Plan as the
Committee may from time to time prescribe.

(c)          Committee Action. Subject to Section 10, the Committee shall act with
respect to the Plan at meetings by af irmative vote of a majority of the members of the
Committee.  Any action permitted to be taken at a meeting with respect to the Plan may be
taken without a meeting if, prior to such action, a written consent to the action is signed by all
members of the Committee and such written consent is iled with the minutes of the
proceedings of the Committee.  A member of the Committee shall not vote or act upon any
matter which relates solely to himself or herself as a Participant.  The Chairman or any other
member or members of the Committee designated by the Chairman may execute any
certificate or other written direction on behalf of the Committee.

(d)          Construction and Interpretation.  As to any event prior to a Change
in Control, the Committee shall have full discretion to construe and interpret the terms and
provisions of the Plan, which interpretation or construction shall be inal and binding on all
parties, including but not limited to the Corporation and any Participant, bene iciary or other
person.

13.          Notice.  All notices under or with respect to the Plan shall be in writing and
shall be either personally delivered or mailed postage prepaid, by certi ied mail, return
receipt requested:

(a) if to the Corporation:

HCP, Inc.
Attention: Compensation Committee
1920 Main Street, Suite 1200
Irvine, California 92614
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with a copy to:

HCP, Inc.
Attention: Secretary of the Corporation
1920 Main Street, Suite 1200
Irvine, California 92614

( b )          if to a Participant, to the Participant’s address most recently on ile in
the payroll records of the Corporation.

Notice shall be effective when personally delivered, or five business days after being so
mailed.  Any party may change its address for purposes of giving future notices pursuant to
the Plan by notifying the other party in writing of such change in address, such notice to be
delivered or mailed in accordance with the foregoing.

14.          Governing Law.   The Plan will be governed by and construed in accordance
with ERISA and, to the extent not preempted thereby, the laws of the State of California,
without giving effect to any choice of law or con licting provision or rule (whether of the State
of California or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the laws of any jurisdiction other
than United States federal law and the law of the State of California to be applied.  In
furtherance of the foregoing, applicable federal law and, to the extent not preempted by
applicable federal law, the internal law of the State of California will control the interpretation
and construction of the Plan, even if under such jurisdiction’s choice of law or con lict of law
analysis, the substantive law of some other jurisdiction would ordinarily apply.  Any statutory
reference in the Plan shall also be deemed to refer to all applicable inal rules and inal
regulations promulgated under or with respect to the referenced statutory provision.

15.          Miscellaneous.  The Committee may from time to time amend the Plan in any
way it deems to be advisable; provided that (i) no such amendment shall materially and
adversely affect the rights of any Participant (or former Participant) under the Plan without
that Participant’s (or former Participant’s, as the case may be) consent and (ii) no amendment
may be made to the Plan in any respect during the Change in Control Term.  Neither the
failure nor any delay on the part of a party to exercise any right, remedy, power or privilege
under the Plan shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of
any right, remedy, power or privilege preclude any other or further exercise of the same or
of any right, remedy, power or privilege, nor shall any waiver of any right, remedy, power or
privilege with respect to any occurrence be construed as a waiver of such right, remedy,
power or privilege with respect to any other occurrence.  No waiver shall be effective unless
it is in writing and is signed by the party asserted to have granted such waiver.  No
agreements or representations, oral or otherwise, express or implied, with respect to the
subject matter hereof have been made by the Corporation which are not expressly set forth
in the Plan. All references to sections of the Exchange Act or the Code shall be deemed also to
refer to any successor provisions to such sections.  The Corporation may withhold (or cause
there to be withheld, as the case may be) from any amounts otherwise due or payable under
or pursuant to the Plan such federal, state and local
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income, employment, or other taxes as may be required to be withheld pursuant to any
applicable law or regulation.  Any obligations of the Corporation under Sections 4 and 6 shall
survive the expiration of the Term. The section headings contained in the Plan are for
convenience only, and shall not affect the interpretation of the Plan.

1 6 .          Unsecured General Creditor.   Participants and their heirs, successors, and
assigns shall have no legal or equitable rights, claims, or interest in any speci ic property or
assets of the Corporation or any Subsidiary.  No assets of the Corporation shall be held under
any trust, or held in any way as collateral security, for the ful illing of the obligations of the
Corporation under the Plan.  Any and all of the Corporation’s assets shall be, and remain, the
general unpledged, unrestricted assets of the Corporation (unless pledged or restricted with
respect to the Corporation’s obligations other than the Plan).  The Corporation’s obligation
under the Plan shall be merely that of an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Corporation to pay money and bene its in the future, and the rights of the Participants and
their heirs or successors as to bene its under the Plan shall be no greater than those of
unsecured general creditors of the Corporation. 

1 7 .          Other Bene it Plans.  All payments, bene its and amounts provided under
the Plan shall be in addition to and not in substitution for any pension rights under any tax-
quali ied pension or retirement plan in which the Participant participates, and any disability,
workers’ compensation or other Corporation bene it plan distribution that a Participant is
entitled to (other than severance bene its), under the terms of any such plan, at the time the
Participant ceases to be employed by the Corporation.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Plan shall not create an inference that any duplicate payments shall be required.  Payments
received by a person under the Plan shall not be deemed a part of the person’s compensation
for purposes of the determination of bene its under any other employee pension, welfare or
other bene it plans or arrangements, if any, provided by the Corporation, except where
explicitly provided under the terms of such plans or arrangements.

18.          Severability.   In the event any provision of the Plan shall be adjudicated by a
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable under any present
or future law, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective, without invalidating
the remaining provisions of the Plan or affecting the validity or enforceability of such
provision in any other jurisdiction.  Furthermore, in lieu of such invalid or unenforceable
provision there will be added automatically as a part of the Plan, as applicable, a legal, valid
and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid or unenforceable provision as
may be possible.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such provision could be more narrowly
drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable in such jurisdiction, it shall, as to
such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating the remaining provisions of the
Plan or affecting the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

19.          Employment Status.  Except as may be expressly provided under any other
written agreement between a Participant and the Corporation (other than the Plan) signed
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by a duly authorized of icer thereof, the employment of each Participant by the Corporation is
“at will,” and may be terminated by either the Participant or the Corporation at any time.

2 0 .          Payments on Behalf of Persons Under Incapacity.  In the event that any
amount becomes payable under the Plan to a person who, in the sole judgment of the
Committee, is considered by reason of physical or mental condition to be unable to give a
valid receipt therefor the Committee may direct that such payment be made to any person
found by the Committee, in its sole judgment, to have assumed the care of such person.  Any
payment made pursuant to such determination shall constitute a full release and discharge of
the Committee and the Corporation.

2 1 .          Code Section 409A.   The intent of the parties is that payments and bene its
under the Plan comply with Section 409A of the Code, to the extent subject thereto, and
accordingly, to the maximum extent permitted, the Plan shall be interpreted and administered
to be in compliance therewith.  Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, a
Participant shall not be considered to have terminated employment with the Corporation for
purposes of any payments under the Plan which are subject to Section 409A of the Code until
the Participant has incurred a “separation from service” from the Corporation within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code.  Each amount to be paid or bene it to be provided
under the Plan shall be construed as a separate identi ied payment for purposes of Section
409A of the Code.  Without limiting the foregoing and notwithstanding anything contained
herein to the contrary, to the extent required in order to avoid an accelerated or additional
tax under Section 409A of the Code, amounts that would otherwise be payable and bene its
that would otherwise be provided pursuant to the Plan during the six-month period
immediately following a Participant’s separation from service shall instead be paid on the irst
business day after the date that is six months following the Participant’s separation from
service (or, if earlier, the Participant’s date of death).  To the extent required to avoid an
accelerated or additional tax under Section 409A of the Code, (a) amounts reimbursable to a
Participant shall be paid on or before the last day of the year following the year in which the
expense was incurred and the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement (and in kind
bene its provided to a Participant) during one year may not affect amounts reimbursable or
provided in any subsequent year, and (b) any tax gross-up payments (and related
reimbursements) payable to a Participant under the Plan shall be paid no later than the end
of the calendar year following the year in which the tax resulting in the gross-up is paid.  The
Corporation makes no representation that any or all of the payments described in the Plan
will be exempt from or comply with Section 409A of the Code and makes no undertaking to
preclude Section 409A of the Code from applying to any such payment.

* * *
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused its duly authorized of icer to
execute the Plan on the date first set forth above.

HCP, INC.
a Maryland corporation.

By: /s/ Troy E. McHenry
Troy E. McHenry

Its: Executive Vice President and
Corporate Secretary
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EXHIBIT A

FORM OF RELEASE AGREEMENT

This Release Agreement (this “Release Agreement”) is entered into this ___ day of
_________ 20__, by and between _____________________, an individual (“Executive”), and HCP, Inc., a
Maryland corporation (the “Company”).

WHEREAS, Executive has been employed by the Company; and

WHEREAS, Executive’s employment by the Company has terminated and, in connection
with the Company’s Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (the “Plan”), the Company
and Executive desire to enter into this Release Agreement upon the terms set forth herein;

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the covenants undertaken and the releases
contained in this Release Agreement, and in consideration of the obligations of the Company
(or one of its subsidiaries) to pay severance bene its (conditioned upon this Release
Agreement) under and pursuant to the Plan, Executive and the Company agree as follows:

1 .          Release.  Executive, on behalf of himself or herself, his or her descendants,
dependents, heirs, executors, administrators, assigns, and successors, and each of them,
hereby acknowledges full and complete satisfaction of and covenants not to sue and fully
releases and discharges the Company and each of its parents, subsidiaries and af iliates, past
and present, as well as its and their trustees, directors, of icers, members, managers, partners,
agents, attorneys, insurers, employees, stockholders, representatives, assigns, and successors,
past and present, and each of them, hereinafter together and collectively referred to as the
“Releasees,” with respect to and from any and all claims, wages, demands, rights, liens,
agreements or contracts (written or oral), covenants, actions, suits, causes of action,
obligations, debts, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, damages, judgments, orders and liabilities
of whatever kind or nature in law, equity or otherwise, whether now known or unknown,
suspected or unsuspected, and whether or not concealed or hidden (each, a “Claim”), which
he or she now owns or holds or he or she has at any time heretofore owned or held or may
in the future hold as against any of said Releasees (including, without limitation, any Claim
arising out of or in any way connected with Executive’s service as an of icer, director,
employee, member or manager of any Releasee, Executive’s separation from his or her
position as an of icer, director, employee, manager and/or member, as applicable, of any
Releasee, or any other transactions, occurrences, acts or omissions or any loss, damage or
injury whatever), whether known or unknown, suspected or unsuspected, resulting from any
act or omission by or on the part of said Releasees, or any of them, committed or omitted
prior to the date of this Release Agreement including, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, any Claim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave
Act of 1993, the California

The Company reserves the right to modify this form as to any Participant employed outside of California.
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Fair Employment and Housing Act, the California Family Rights Act, or any other federal, state
or local law, regulation, or ordinance, or any Claim for severance pay, bonus, sick leave,
holiday pay, vacation pay, life insurance, health or medical insurance or any other fringe
bene it, workers’ compensation or disability; provided however, that the foregoing release
shall not apply to any obligation of the Company to Executive pursuant to any of the
forgoing:  (a) any obligation created by or arising out of the Plan for which receipt or
satisfaction has not been acknowledged; (b) any equity-based awards previously granted by
the Company to Executive, to the extent that such awards continue after the termination of
Executive’s employment with the Company in accordance with the applicable terms of such
awards; (c) any right to indemni ication that Executive may have pursuant to the Fourth
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company, its corporate charter or under any written
indemni ication agreement with the Company (or any corresponding provision of any
subsidiary or af iliate of the Company) with respect to any loss, damages or expenses
(including but not limited to attorneys’ fees to the extent otherwise provided) that Executive
may in the future incur with respect to his service as an employee, of icer or director of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or af iliates; (d) with respect to any rights that Executive
may have to insurance coverage for such losses, damages or expenses under any Company
(or subsidiary or af iliate) directors and of icers liability insurance policy; (e) any rights to
continued medical or dental coverage that Executive may have under COBRA; (f ) any rights to
payment of bene its that Executive may have under a retirement plan sponsored or
maintained by the Company that is intended to qualify under Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or (g) any deferred compensation or supplemental
retirement bene its that Executive may be entitled to under a nonquali ied deferred
compensation or supplemental retirement plan of the Company.  In addition, this release does
not cover any Claim that cannot be so released as a matter of applicable law.  Executive
acknowledges and agrees that he or she has received any and all leave and other bene its that
he or she has been and is entitled to pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993.

2.          Acknowledgment of Payment of Wages.   Except for accrued vacation (which
the parties agree totals approximately [____] days of pay) and salary for the current pay
period, Executive acknowledges that he/she has received all amounts owed for his or her
regular and usual salary (including, but not limited to, any bonus, severance, or other wages),
and usual benefits through the date of this Release Agreement.

3 .          Waiver of Unknown and Unsuspected Claims.  It is the intention of
Executive in executing this Release Agreement that the same shall be effective as a bar to each
and every Claim hereinabove speci ied.  In furtherance of this intention, Executive hereby
expressly waives any and all rights and bene its conferred upon him or her by the provisions
of Section 1542 of the California Civil Code ("Section 1542"), as well as any other similar
statute or common law doctrine that may apply, and expressly consents that this Release
Agreement shall be given full force and effect according to each and all of its express terms
and provisions, including those related to unknown and unsuspected Claims, if any, as well as
those relating to any other Claims hereinabove specified. Section 1542 provides:
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“A GENERAL RELEASE DOES NOT EXTEND TO CLAIMS
WHICH THE CREDITOR DOES NOT KNOW OR SUSPECT TO EXIST
IN HIS OR HER FAVOR AT THE TIME OF EXECUTING THE
RELEASE, WHICH IF KNOWN BY HIM OR HER MUST HAVE
MATERIALLY AFFECTED HIS OR HER SETTLEMENT WITH THE
DEBTOR.”

Executive acknowledges that he may hereafter discover Claims or facts in addition to or
different from those which Executive now knows or believes to exist with respect to the
subject matter of this Release Agreement and which, if known or suspected at the time of
executing this Release Agreement, may have materially affected this settlement.  Nevertheless,
Executive hereby waives any right, Claim or cause of action that might arise as a result of such
different or additional Claims or facts.  Executive acknowledges that he or she understands
the signi icance and consequences of such release and such speci ic waiver of Section 1542
and any similar applicable statute or doctrine of law.

4.           [ADEA Waiver.   Executive expressly acknowledges and agrees that by
entering into this Release Agreement, Executive is waiving any and all rights or Claims that he
or she may have arising under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, as
amended (the “ADEA”), which have arisen on or before the date of execution of this Release
Agreement.  Executive further expressly acknowledges and agrees that:

( a )          In return for this Release Agreement, the Executive will receive
consideration beyond that which the Executive was already entitled to receive before entering
into this Release Agreement;

( b )          Executive is hereby advised in writing by this Release Agreement to
consult with an attorney before signing this Release Agreement;

( c )          Executive has voluntarily chosen to enter into this Release Agreement
and has not been forced or pressured in any way to sign it;

( d )          Executive was given a copy of this Release Agreement on
[_________________, 20__] and informed that he or she had [21/ 45] days within which to
consider this Release Agreement and that if he or she wished to execute this Release
Agreement prior to expiration of such [21-day/45-day] period, he or she should execute the
Endorsement attached hereto;

( e )          Executive was informed that he or she had seven days following the
date of execution of this Release Agreement in which to revoke this Release Agreement, and
this Release Agreement will become null and void if Executive elects revocation during that
time.  Any revocation must be in writing and must be received by the Company during the
seven-day revocation period.  In the event that Executive exercises his or her right of
revocation, neither the Company nor Executive will have any obligations under this Release
Agreement; and
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( f )          Nothing in this Release Agreement prevents or precludes Executive
from challenging or seeking a determination in good faith of the validity of this waiver under
the ADEA, nor does it impose any condition precedent, penalties or costs from doing so,
unless specifically authorized by federal law.]

5 .          No Transferred Claims.   Executive warrants and represents that the
Executive has not heretofore assigned or transferred to any person not a party to this
Release Agreement any released matter or any part or portion thereof and he or she shall
defend, indemnify and hold the Company and each of its af iliates harmless from and against
any claim (including the payment of attorneys’ fees and costs actually incurred whether or
not litigation is commenced) based on or in connection with or arising out of any such
assignment or transfer made, purported or claimed.

6.          Covenants.  Executive by executing this release expressly agrees to each of the
foregoing provisions of this Section 6:

(a)          Con identiality. Executive shall not at any time directly or indirectly,
disclose or make available to any person, firm, corporation, association or other entity for any
reason or purpose whatsoever, any Con idential Information (as de ined below); provided,
however, that this Section 6(a) shall not apply when (i) disclosure is required by law or by
any court, arbitrator, mediator or administrative or legislative body (including any committee
thereof ) with apparent jurisdiction to order the Executive to disclose or make available such
information (provided, however, that the Executive shall promptly notify the Corporation in
writing upon receiving a request for such information), or (ii) with respect to any other
litigation, arbitration or mediation involving this Release Agreement, including but not limited
to enforcement of this Release Agreement.  As of the date of this Release Agreement, all
Con idential Information in the Executive’s possession that is in written, digital or other
tangible form (together with all copies or duplicates thereof, including computer iles) has
been returned to the Corporation and has not been retained by the Executive or furnished to
any third party, in any form except as provided herein; provided, however, that the Executive
shall not be obligated to treat as con idential, or return to the Corporation copies of any
Con idential Information that (x) was publicly known at the time it was disclosed to the
Executive, (y) becomes publicly known or available thereafter other than by any means in
violation of the Plan or any other duty owed to the Corporation by any person or entity, or
(z) is lawfully disclosed to the Executive by a third party.  As used in this Release Agreement,
the term “Con idential Information” means: information disclosed to the Executive or
known by the Executive as a consequence of or through the Executive’s relationship with the
Corporation, about the

Except as noted below, Section 4 will be included if the Executive is age 40 or older as of the date that the Executive’s employment by the
Company terminates or in such other circumstances (if any) as the Executive may have claims under the ADEA.  In the event Section 4 is
included, whether the Executive has 21 days, 45 days, or some other period in which to consider the Release Agreement will be determined
with reference to the requirements of the ADEA in order for such waiver to be valid in the circumstances.  The determinations referred to in
the preceding two sentences shall be made by the Company in its sole discretion.  In any event (regardless of the applicability of the ADEA in
the circumstances) the Release Agreement will include the Executive’s acknowledgements and agreements set forth in clauses 4(a),  4(b), and
4(c).
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suppliers, customers, employees, business methods, public relations methods, organization,
procedures or inances, including, without limitation, information of or relating to supplier
lists or customer lists, of the Corporation and its af iliates (collectively, the “Company
Group”). Notwithstanding anything set forth in this Release Agreement to the contrary,
Executive shall not be prohibited from reporting possible violations of federal or state law or
regulation to any governmental agency or entity or making other disclosures that are
protected under the whistleblower provisions of federal or state law or regulation, nor is
Executive required to notify the Corporation regarding any such reporting, disclosure or
cooperation with the government.

(b)          Noncompetition.  Executive acknowledges that the nature of the
Company Group’s business and the Executive’s position with the Corporation is such that if
the Executive were to become employed by, or substantially involved in, the business of a
competitor of the Company Group during the 12 months following the termination of the
Executive’s employment with the Corporation, it would not be possible, or would be very
dif icult, for the Executive not to rely on or use the Company Group’s trade secrets and
Con idential Information.  Thus, to avoid the inevitable disclosure of the Company Group’s
trade secrets and Con idential Information, and to protect such trade secrets and Con idential
Information and the Company Group’s relationships and goodwill with customers, for a
period of 12 months after the termination date (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive will
not directly or indirectly engage in (whether as an employee, consultant, agent, proprietor,
principal, partner, stockholder, corporate of icer, director or otherwise), nor have any
ownership interest in, or participate in the inancing, operation, management or control of,
any person, irm, corporation or business anywhere in the United States and Mexico (the
“Restricted Area”) that competes with any member of the Company Group in the healthcare
real estate acquisition, development, management, investment or inancing industry (a
“Competing Business”); provided, that the Executive may purchase and hold only for
investment purposes less than two percent of the shares of any corporation in competition
with the Company Group whose shares are regularly traded on a national securities
exchange.  Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, in the event Executive accepts
employment with or provides services to a business (the “Service Recipient”) that is
af iliated with another business that engages in a Competing Business or which derives a de
minimis portion of its gross revenues from Competing Businesses, the Executive’s
employment by or service to the Service Recipient shall not constitute a breach by Executive
of his or her obligations pursuant to this Section 6(b) so long as each of the following
conditions is satis ied at all times during the Restricted Period and while the Executive is
employed by or providing service to the Service Recipient: (i) no more than 10% of the gross
revenues of the Service Recipient are derived from Competing Businesses; (ii) no more than
10% of the gross revenues of the Service Recipient and those entities that (directly or
through one or more intermediaries) are controlled by, control, or are under common
control with such Service Recipient, together on a consolidated basis, are derived from
Competing Businesses; and (iii) in the course of the Executive’s services for the Service
Recipient, a material portion (no more than 10%) of the Executive’s services are not directly
involved in or responsible for any Competing Business.  The foregoing covenants in this
Section 6(b) shall continue in effect through the entire Restricted Period regardless of
whether the Executive is then entitled to receive any severance payments
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from the Corporation.  The foregoing provision shall not apply to any Executive who was
employed by the Corporation in California on the termination date.

(c)          Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the Restricted Period,
Executive shall not directly or indirectly solicit, induce, attempt to hire, recruit, encourage,
take away, or hire any employee or independent contractor of the Company Group whose
annual rate of compensation is then $50,000 or more or cause any such Company Group
employee or contractor to leave his or her employment or engagement with the Company
Group either for employment with the Executive or for any other entity or person.  The
foregoing covenants in this Section 6(c) shall continue in effect through the entire Restricted
Period regardless of whether the Executive is then entitled to receive any severance
payments from the Corporation.

(d)          Non-Solicitation of Customers. During the Restricted Period,
Executive shall not directly or indirectly in luence or attempt to in luence customers, vendors,
suppliers, licensors, lessors, joint venturers, associates, consultants, agents, or partners of the
Company Group to divert their business away from the Company Group to any Competing
Business, and each Executive agrees not to otherwise interfere with, disrupt or attempt to
disrupt the business relationships, contractual or otherwise, between any member of the
Company Group and any of its customers, suppliers, vendors, lessors, licensors, joint
venturers, associates, of icers, employees, consultants, managers, partners, members or
investors.  The foregoing covenants in this Section 6(d) shall continue in effect through the
entire Restricted Period regardless of whether the Executive is then entitled to receive any
severance payments from the Corporation.

(e)          Understanding of Covenants. Executive, by accepting participation in
the Plan represents as follows: the Executive (i) is familiar with the foregoing covenants set
forth in this Section 6; (ii) is fully aware of the Executive’s obligations hereunder; (iii) agrees
to the reasonableness of the length of time, scope and geographic coverage of the foregoing
covenants set forth in this Section 6; (iv) agrees that the Company Group currently conducts
business throughout the Restricted Area; and (v) agrees that such covenants are necessary to
protect the Company Group’s con idential and proprietary information, goodwill, stable
workforce, and customer relations.

(f)          Right to Injunctive and Equitable Relief.  Executive’s obligations not
to disclose or use Con idential Information and to refrain from the solicitations described in
this Section 6 are of a special and unique character, which gives them a peculiar value.  The
Corporation cannot be reasonably or adequately compensated in damages in an action at law
in the event the Executive breaches such obligations, and the breach of such obligations
would cause irreparable harm to the Corporation.  Therefore, the Corporation shall be
entitled to injunctive and other equitable relief without bond or other security in the event of
such breach in addition to any other rights or remedies which the Corporation may
possess.  Furthermore, the Executive’s obligations and the rights and remedies of the
Corporation under this Section 6 are cumulative and in addition to, and not in lieu of, any
obligations, rights, or remedies created by applicable law relating to misappropriation or theft
of trade secrets or confidential information.
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(g)          Cooperation. Executive shall respond to all reasonable inquiries of the
Corporation about any matters concerning the Corporation or its affairs that occurred or
arose during the Executive’s employment by the Corporation, and the Executive shall
reasonably cooperate with the Corporation in investigating, prosecuting and defending any
charges, claims, demands, liabilities, causes of action, lawsuits or other proceedings by, against
or involving the Corporation relating to the period during which the Executive was employed
by the Corporation or relating to matters of which the Executive had or should have had
knowledge or information.  Further, except as required by law, the Executive will at no time
voluntarily serve as a witness or offer written or oral testimony against the Corporation in
conjunction with any complaints, charges or lawsuits brought against the Corporation by or
on behalf of any current or former employees, or any governmental or administrative
agencies related to the Executive’s period of employment and will provide the Corporation
with notice of any subpoena or other request for such information or testimony.

7 .          Severability.   It is the desire and intent of the parties hereto that the
provisions of this Release Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permissible under the
laws and public policies applied in each jurisdiction in which enforcement is
sought.  Accordingly, if any particular provision of this Release Agreement shall be
adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable
under any present or future law, such provision, as to such jurisdiction, shall be ineffective,
without invalidating the remaining provisions of this Release Agreement or affecting the
validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction; furthermore, in lieu of
such invalid or unenforceable provision there will be added automatically as a part of this
Release Agreement, a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such invalid
or unenforceable provision as may be possible.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if such
provision could be more narrowly drawn so as not to be invalid, prohibited or unenforceable
in such jurisdiction, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be so narrowly drawn, without invalidating
the remaining provisions of this Release Agreement or affecting the validity or enforceability
of such provision in any other jurisdiction.

8 .          Counterparts.  This Release Agreement may be executed in separate
counterparts, each of which is deemed to be an original and all of which taken together
constitute one and the same agreement.

9 .          Governing Law.  THIS RELEASE AGREEMENT WILL BE GOVERNED BY AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW AND, TO THE EXTENT
NOT PREEMPTED BY UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO ANY CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICTING
PROVISION OR RULE (WHETHER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA OR ANY OTHER
JURISDICTION) THAT WOULD CAUSE THE LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION OTHER THAN
UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW AND THE LAW OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA TO BE
APPLIED.  IN FURTHERANCE OF THE FOREGOING, APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW AND, TO THE
EXTENT NOT PREEMPTED BY APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW, THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE
STATE OF CALIFORNIA, WILL CONTROL THE INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION OF
THIS RELEASE AGREEMENT, EVEN IF UNDER SUCH JURISDICTION’S
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CHOICE OF LAW OR CONFLICT OF LAW ANALYSIS, THE SUBSTANTIVE LAW OF SOME OTHER
JURISDICTION WOULD ORDINARILY APPLY.

10.          Amendment and Waiver.  The provisions of this Release Agreement may be
amended and waived only with the prior written consent of the Company and Executive, and
no course of conduct or failure or delay in enforcing the provisions of this Release Agreement
shall be construed as a waiver of such provisions or affect the validity, binding effect or
enforceability of this Release Agreement or any provision hereof.

1 1 .          Descriptive Headings.  The descriptive headings of this Release Agreement
are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Release Agreement.

1 2 .          Construction.   Where speci ic language is used to clarify by example a
general statement contained herein, such speci ic language shall not be deemed to modify,
limit or restrict in any manner the construction of the general statement to which it
relates.  The language used in this Release Agreement shall be deemed to be the language
chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall be
applied against any party.

1 3 .          Arbitration.  Any claim or controversy arising out of or relating to this
Release Agreement shall be submitted to arbitration in accordance with the arbitration
provision set forth in the Plan.

1 4 .          Nouns and Pronouns.   Whenever the context may require, any pronouns
used herein shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms, and the
singular form of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural and vice-versa.

1 5 .          Legal Counsel.   Each party recognizes that this is a legally binding contract
and acknowledges and agrees that they have had the opportunity to consult with legal
counsel of their choice.  Executive acknowledges and agrees that he has read and
understands this Release Agreement completely, is entering into it freely and voluntarily, and
has been advised to seek counsel prior to entering into this Release Agreement and he has
had ample opportunity to do so.

* * *
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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The undersigned have read and understand the consequences of this Release
Agreement and voluntarily sign it.  The undersigned declare under penalty of perjury under
the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.

 
EXECUTED this ________ day of ________ 20__, at ___________, ___________. 

Executive

 
 
Print Name:  

 

 

HCP, INC.,
a Maryland corporation
 
 
By:  
Name:  
Title:  
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ENDORSEMENT

I, _______________________, hereby acknowledge that I was given [21/45] days to consider

the foregoing Release Agreement and voluntarily chose to sign the Release Agreement prior

to the expiration of the [21-day/45-day] period.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the State of

____________________ that the foregoing is true and correct.

EXECUTED this ________ day of ________ 20__, at ___________, ___________. 

 
 
 
Print Name:  
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EXHIBIT B

SECTION 280G PROVISIONS

The provisions of this Exhibit B shall apply to each Participant in the HCP, Inc.
Executive Change in Control Severance Plan (the “Plan”).  Capitalized terms used
herein and not otherwise de ined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such
terms in the Plan.

In the event that any of the payments and other bene its provided under the
Plan or otherwise payable to Participant (i) constitute “parachute payments” within the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code and (ii) but for this Exhibit B, would be subject to the
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (“Excise Tax”), then Participant’s payments
and benefits under the Plan or otherwise shall be payable either:

 
(A) in full (with the Participant paying any excise taxes due), or

 
(B) in such lesser amount which would result in no portion of such payments or

bene its being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into
account the applicable federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax, results in the
receipt by Participant, on an after-tax basis, of the greatest amount of payments and bene its
under the Plan or otherwise, notwithstanding that all or some portion of such payments or
bene its may be taxable under Section 4999 of the Code.  Subject to Section 409A of the Code,
any reduction in the payments and bene its required by this Exhibit B will be made in the
following order: (i) reduction of cash payments; (ii) reduction of accelerated vesting of equity
awards other than stock options; (iii) reduction of accelerated vesting of stock options; and
(iv) reduction of other benefits paid or provided to Participant.

* * *
[The remainder of this page is left blank intentionally.]
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

I, Michael D. McKee, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HCP, Inc. for the period ended September  30, 2016;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

4

Date: November 1, 2016 /s/ MICHAEL D. MCKEE
 Michael D. McKee
 Chairman of the Board, President and 
 Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

I, Thomas M. Herzog, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of HCP, Inc. for the period ended September  30, 2016;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for,
the periods presented in this report;

 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report

our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors
(or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

 
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
 

4

Date: November 1, 2016 /s/ THOMAS M. HERZOG
 Thomas M. Herzog
 Executive Vice President and
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned
officer of HCP, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:

 
(i) the accompanying quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended

September 30, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition

and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: November 1, 2016 /s/ MICHAEL D. MCKEE
 Michael D. McKee
 Chairman of the Board,  President and

Chief Executive Officer
 (Principal Executive Officer)
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. Such
certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically
incorporates it by reference.
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EXHIBIT 32.2
 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned
officer of HCP, Inc., a Maryland corporation (the “Company”), hereby certifies, to his knowledge, that:

 
(i) the accompanying quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the period ended

September 30, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as
applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
(ii) the information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition

and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: November 1, 2016 /s/ THOMAS M. HERZOG
 Thomas M. Herzog
 Executive Vice President and
 Chief Financial Officer
 (Principal Financial Officer)
 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. Such
certification will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically
incorporates it by reference.
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